Public Document Pack
High Peak Borough Council

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA
Date:

Thursday, 7 April 2022

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton

You
can
view
the
agenda online by using
a smart phone camera
and scanning the code
below:

30 March 2022
PART 1
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
i)
ii)

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Other Interests

3.

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

4.

Annual Report 2020/21 (Pages 11 - 82)

5.

Performance Framework 2022/25 (Pages 83 - 122)

6.

Review of Equality Objectives (Pages 123 - 134)

7.

Revised Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy 2021-26 (Pages 135 196)

8.

To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

PART 2
9.

To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 197 - 200)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER
Membership of The Executive

Councillor A McKeown (Chair)
Councillor A Barrow
Councillor J Todd

Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair)
Councillor F Sloman

Agenda Item 3
High Peak Borough Council
THE EXECUTIVE
Meeting:

Thursday, 10 February 2022 at 6.00 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion
Gardens, Buxton

Present:

Councillor A McKeown (Chair)
Councillors A Barrow, D Greenhalgh and J Todd
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors F Sloman
Councillors T Ashton and J Collins were also in attendance.

22/44

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Agenda Item 2)
There were no declarations of interest made.

22/45

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 9 December 2021
be approved as a correct record.

22/46

THIRD QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT & PERFORMANCE
REVIEW 2021/22
(Agenda Item 4)
The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December
(“Third Quarter 2021/22”) The report was considered by the Corporate
Select Committee on 7 February 2022. The position was summarised as
follows:

Subject
Finance

Reference

Headline
The Finance headlines for the Third Quarter were:

Appendix
A

Performance against Budget


At the Third Quarter stage the General Fund outturn
was projected to be £1.8million underspent including
Section31 grants, which would need to be placed into
year-end for distribution via the Collection Fund in future

for 2021/22
£0.555m in
reserves at
years

Efficiency Programme


At Quarter Three the required savings had been achieved against
the 2021/22 revised efficiency target of £101,560 (General Fund).

Page 3

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

Housing Revenue Account


The Housing Revenue Account was predicted to be underspent
(against budget) by £435,075 at the Quarter Three stage.

Capital Programme





The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 as
revised was £9.65 million. The projected outturn was forecast
to be £4.7million underspent compared to the approved
budget.
The HRA Programme for 2021/22 as revised was £6.55 million. The
projected outturn at Quarter 3 was £6.4 million.

Treasury Management




Cash investments held at 31 December 2021 totalled £38.9 million.
Council borrowing at 31 December 2021 totalled £66.8 million.
The Council’s net interest costs were forecast to be £68,730 under
budget on the general fund and £33,000 over budget on the HRA.

Revenue Collection




Procurement

83.30% of Council Tax was collected by 31 December 2021,
compared to 83.54% for the same period last year (and 84.63% in
2019/20)
81.69% of Business Rates was collected by 31 December 2021
compared with 79.12% for the same period last year (and 82.89% in
2019/20)
At the end of Quarter Three the value of sundry debt over 60 days
old was £209,690 which compares to £236,580 at 31 December
2020.

The Procurement headlines for the Third Quarter were:
 24 procurement activities were completed

Appendix
B

 The Procurement forward plan includes 51 procurement
activities for completion/start in 2021/22 (either HPBC only or
joint)


Performance

At the 31 December 2021, 50% of procurement activity undertaken
was on the forward plan.

Appendix C
The Performance headlines for the Third Quarter were:

70% of the key performance indicators on track, with 35%
performing better than at this point in the previous year.
 The Council received 72 complaints, 331 comments and 49
compliments in the Third Quarter.

Options considered:
Detailed Analysis was contained within the appendices to the report.
RESOLVED:

Page 4

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

That the Third Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the
covering report be noted.
22/47

2022/23 BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2022/23 TO
2025/26
(Agenda Item 5)
The purpose of the report was to present the proposed Budget for 2022/23,
updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26, Capital Strategy
2022/23, proposed Fees and Charges for 2022/23 and Procurement
Forward Plan 2022/23. The report was considered by the Corporate Select
Committee on 7 February 2022. Members discussed the reduction in the
parish council payment which had been spread over three years rather than
two and resulted from changes to Government funding arrangements in
2016. It was reported that the report to Full Council would be updated
taking int account comments received regarding climate change.
Options considered:
This report recommended a Council Tax level and associated budget, Medium
Term Financial Plan, Capital Strategy (and future capital programme) and Fees &
Charges for 2022/23 designed to best deliver the Council’s corporate priorities
within a balanced budget. Other options are feasible, but any alternatives would
need to robustly identify the service and financial implications, in order to satisfy
the Council’s Section 151 Officer (under the Local Government Finance Act 1988,
section 114) of the need to deliver a balanced budget.
RESOLVED:

That the Executive proposes the following recommendations to Council:


Approves the General Fund Budget for 2022/23 as detailed in
Appendix A (section 9)



Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2022/23 to
2025/26) as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised
Capital Programme (attached at Annex A)



Approves the Capital Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Appendix
B



Approves the updated Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Business Plan Forecast as detailed in Appendix A (Annex E)
and commissions a fundamental review of the HRA Business
Plan during 2022/23



Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2022/23 as
detailed in Appendix C

Page 5

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

22/48



Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for
2022/23, providing the Authority to procure based on
procurement activity detailed in Appendix D



Approves a Band D Council Tax of £205.40 for 2022/23 (an
increase of £5.00 or 2.50% from 2021/22)



HRA charges as follows:
o All dwellings rents to increase by 1.6% increasing
the average rent from £72.64 to £73.96 per week
(average rent takes into account new tenancies
let over the previous year where the higher
formula rent was charged. This gives an
arithmetical increase of 1.81%)
o Garage rents to be increased by 5% from £7.49
to £7.86 average per week
o Other Charges including service charges to
increase by a maximum of 5%
o Fuel charges at individual blocks have been
reviewed and the 2022/23 charge is based on the
2021/22 estimated costs and 2020/21 actual fuel
usage/prices, charged on an individual scheme
basis.



Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of
reserves are adequate for the Council, based on this budget
and the circumstances in place at the time of preparing it
(Appendix A Annex C)

ACCESS
TO
SERVICES,
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES
(Agenda Item 6)

DIGITAL

AND

ORGANISATIONAL

The purpose of the report was to consider new Access to Services, Digital
and Organisational Development Strategies. The report was considered by
the Corporate Select Committee on 7 February 2022. It was reported that
an action plan and summary would be presented to the next Corporate
Select Committee. Accessibility to Buxton Town Hall was also discussed.
Options considered:
There were no options to consider at this stage
RESOLVED:

1. That the Access to Services Strategy as attached at Appendix A to the
report be approved.
2. That the Digital Strategy as attached at Appendix B to the report be
approved.
3. That the Organisational Development Strategy as attached at Appendix
C to the report be approved.
Page 6

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

4. That a combined action plan for delivery of the strategies at its April
meeting be considered.
5. That the consideration and approval of arrangements for external
expertise to support the delivery of the strategies be delegated to the
Leader and Executive Councillor for Finance & Corporate Services
following the completion of the procurement exercise as outlined in
section 12 of the report.
22/49

COUNCIL TAX - LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY PREMIUM LEVY
POLICY
(Agenda Item 7)
The purpose of the report was to update the Council Tax Levies Policy to
include a new charge on properties empty for at least ten years and to
clarify circumstances where the empty property premium levy may be
waived. The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on
7 February 2022. It was reported that the Council uses various techniques
to ascertain how long properties had been empty.
Options considered:
There was an option to do nothing and not amend the current policy on properties
empty for over ten years. However, where Government allows local authorities to
make discretionary decisions in respect of council tax due, Members need to
consider the proposals.
RESOLVED:

That the current Council Tax Reductions and Levies Policy be amended and
approved to include:

22/50



A levy of 300% of Council Tax for properties empty for at least ten
years, from 1 April 2022.



Clarification on circumstances where the levy may be waived (outlined
in paragraphs 3.5 and 3.6).

SOCIAL HOUSING WHITE PAPER
(Agenda Item 8)
The purpose of the report was to inform members of the contents of the
Government’s White Paper in relation to Social Housing and the implications
for the Council. The report also confirmed the consultation on Tenant
Satisfaction Measures currently being undertaken by the Regulator and
provided a suggested response from the Council. The report was
considered by the Community Select Committee on 26 January 2022. It
was reported that Environmental Health would be involved with some
specific issues.

Page 7

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

Options considered:
The measures contained within the White Paper were highly likely to be
introduced and following legislation it would be a regulatory obligation for the
Council to comply with them.
RESOLVED:

1. That the approach being taken in relation to the White Paper and the
implications for the Council be noted.
2. That the response to the consultation exercise in relation to Tenant
Satisfaction Measures as set out in Appendix A to the report be
supported.
22/51

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SPD ISSUES AND OPTIONS
(Agenda Item 9)
The report notified the Executive of the preparation of a Developer
Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Feedback on
issues and options and plans for consultation was also sought. The report
was considered by the Economy and Growth Select Committee on 3
February 2022.
Options considered:
There are no alternative options to consider at this stage.
RESOLVED:

That the purpose of the SPD be noted and provide feedback on the Issues
and Options identified.
22/52

TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972.
(Agenda Item 10)
RESOLVED:
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following
items because there may be disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

22/53

TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 11)
RESOLVED:
That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

Page 8

The Executive
Thursday, 10 February 2022

22/54

DELIVERY OF FACILITIES MANAGEMENT AND HOUSING REPAIRS
SERVICES
(Agenda Item 12)
The Executive approved a report that with regards to the delivery of
Facilities Management Services via a joint venture partnership for the
Council.

22/55

FAIRFIELD ROUNDABOUT UPDATE
(Agenda Item 13)
The Executive approved a report that provided an update of progress on the
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) programme which would deliver the
Fairfield roundabout and enable delivery of homes across sites within the
north of Buxton. The Executive also approved recommendations to proceed
with a number of key steps in securing progress.

The meeting concluded at 6.48 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
7 April 2022

TITLE:

Annual Report 2020/21

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive
Councillor for Corporate Services and
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER:

Vanessa Higgins - Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A - Annual Report 2020/21
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to present the Council’s Annual Report for
2020/21, this is a core document which compares High Peak’s performance
and costs with councils in the East Midlands region and nationally; and
highlights further action where needed.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Executive notes the findings of the benchmarking
exercises and the additional priority actions for the Corporate Plan suggested
for the following 12 months.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Annual Report establishes the context for the Council in planning its
performance delivery. This includes both the financial backdrop against which
the council must deliver its services, the risk profile and also the local place
context of the area and how it compares against a range of socio-demographic
measures.

3.2

The report looks back over the Council’s achievements in 2020/21 and uses
national benchmarking data (2019/20) to assess value for money.

3.3

The analysis is built around the Corporate Plan priorities and provides a small
refocus of Priority Actions for the next 12 months.

Page 11

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The Annual Report is built around the priorities contained within the Corporate
Plan and therefore links into all four main aims and the supporting objectives.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

This report is for information with no decision required of the Committee.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
None

6.4

Financial Considerations
None

6.5

Legal
None

6.6

Climate Change
None

6.7

Consultation
None

6.8

Risk Assessment
The report outlines the above tolerance principal strategic risks

ANDREW P STOKES
Chief Executive
Web Links and
Background Papers
Information Team files
Benchmarking platforms

Contact details
Vanessa Higgins
Information Business Partner
vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 12

7.

Introduction

7.1

The purpose of an Annual Report is to look back and take stock of the
progress and achievements made against the Council’s stated objectives and
to use this intelligence to understand what still needs to be done and what new
challenges lie ahead. The Annual Report does this by:






Presenting a place profile for the High Peak, such as health factors,
deprivation levels, economic indicators and access to housing
Looking at the Council’s performance against its targets
Analysing performance and costs against national and regional
comparisons
Presenting the principal risks facing the council (NEW)
Outlining the financial challenges facing the authority over the course of
its Medium Term Financial Plan.

8

Place Profile

8.1

The highlights from the place profile are as follows:







Over 30% of the area is classed as rural
Ageing population, 65+ years projected to become the largest resident
group by 2032
Higher than average levels of unqualified residents
Health outcomes – below average for female life expectancy
Indices of Multiple Deprivation – low overall but geographic and thematic
pockets
Employment – higher than average unemployment rate

9

Performance / Benchmarking

9.1

Covid-19 continues to be felt in some of the Council’s performance results,
with targets reviewed accordingly during 2020. As the benchmarking available
for the Annual Report is for 2019/20 the full effect of lockdowns on national
performance figures won’t be known until the 2020/21 statistics become
available.

9.2

Benchmarking shows that High Peak is a low cost council; at £90.95 per head,
net expenditure is ‘very low’ when compared to all district councils in England.
The benchmarking issues highlighted below provide some further detail, along
with the relevant actions that are planned or in progress:

Page 13

Aim One: Healthier and safer
Benchmarks
 Benefits
–
average
spend
/
performance for new claims. Change
of circs are slowest in the region

Action in Progress
 Review of Local Council Tax Reduction
Scheme, Universal Credit project, Access to
Services Strategy



Fly-tipping – amongst lowest
region (increase in 20/21)



Education (W.A.R campaign) / Enforcement review of enforcement policy



Temporary accommodation low



Housing projects - homelessness strategy



CCTV – high spend, crime low



CCTV project completion, priority area



Leisure
–
average
spend,
participation rates improving but
inactivity rates rising



Sports strategy, facilities improvement plan

in

Aim Two: Use of resources
Benchmarks
 Council Tax – high performing, low
spend
 Business Rates Collection – average
performance

Action in Progress
 Package of support measures for businesses
and tailored payment plans. 2020/21 national
rates are likely to be negatively affected by the
impact on the local economy from lockdown





Ombudsman Complaints – lowest
20% nationally. Reducing levels of
complaints generally

Working with Institute of Customer Services
on an Access to Services Strategy

Aim Three: Local economy
Benchmarks
 Business formation rate – increased
but below average
 Vacancy rate – better than average
(2020)

Action in Progress
 Accelerated business growth and employment
programme



Planning
processing speeds
–
performance
is
high,
spend
decreased and is now bottom 40%



Embedding new team structures with a focus
on customer services



Tourism – average spend



Cultural Strategy

Aim Four: Environment and Climate
Benchmarks
 Waste & Recycling – high performing
but high recycling cost / low waste
cost
 Public Toilets – high spend
 Parks and Open Spaces – bottom
40% nationally on spend
 Emissions – Quarry activity in the
area contributes to high emissions

Action in Progress
 Review of current arrangements in light of
national waste strategy in 2021



Local priority
Parks Development Plans

 Implementation of Part 1 of the Climate
Change Action Plan and publication of Part 2

Page 14

10

Priority Actions

10.1

The new Corporate Priority Actions arising from the 2020/21 Annual Report
are identified as:
 Deliver a successful Corporate Peer Challenge visit from the LGA in January
2022, to shape further improvement activity
 Develop a Joint Venture company with Norse to deliver housing repairs and
facilities management
 Play an active role within Vision Derbyshire, helping to secure a County Deal
with increased freedoms and improved collaboration
 Publish Part 2 of the Climate Change Action Plan and commence delivery of

the priorities contained within Parts 1 and 2.

Page 15

Page 16

Page 17

Contents Page
Chapter 1: Profile of the Borough – Life in High Peak: contextual information on housing provision,
employment and skills, health issues and levels of crime

Chapter 2: Financial Context - The financial challenges facing local government and how the Council is
addressing them

Chapter 3: Our Vision - The key priorities for the Council for 2019 to 2023
Chapter 4: Managing our Strategic Risks – The principal threats and opportunities facing the Council
Page 18

Chapter 5: Demonstrating Value for Money - Progress against our corporate priorities and how we perform
compared to other councils

Chapter 6: Our Priorities 2021-2022 - The Council’s roadmap for the next twelve months
Appendices
Appendix A: Aim 1 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix B: Aim 2 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix C: Aim 3 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix D: Aim 4 Analysis of comparative performance and costs

Chapter 1: Profile of the Borough
The Borough of High Peak covers an area of 53,915 hectares, of which 30% is classed
as rural, and serves a usual resident population of 91,662 (census data) - 50.7% of
which are female. ONS mid-year estimates for 2020 show High Peak’s population as
92,633; the 2021 census data should be available by spring 2022. There were 42,717
domestic households on the Council Tax valuation list at the end of March 2021.

Who lives in the High Peak?
•

Page 19

•

•
•

High Peak has an ageing population; the proportion of residents aged 65 plus
was estimated at 21.56% in 2020 and is projected to rise, becoming the
biggest age group in the borough by 2032 and taking over from the 45-64 year
age group
Only 4.14% of the local population is non-white, compared to 4.24% in
Derbyshire and 20.25% nationally. Mixed or multiple ethnic groups make up
the second largest proportion of the High Peak population at 1.04%
Single person households make up the largest group in the borough, followed
by couples with dependent children
40.62% of the population are educated to degree level or higher (higher than
the Derbyshire average) and 7.36% have no qualifications, which is higher
than the Derbyshire average of 5.27%.

What’s it like to live in the High Peak?
Health - Average life expectancy is 79.95 years for males and 83.14 years for females, which sits respectively in the middle 20% and lower
40% nationally. Compared to the East Midlands region, the health indicators below are now lower than the comparative average for the 20172019 period:
•
•

Infant mortality rates
Adult obesity

•
•

Adult smoking prevalence
Cancer mortality rate in the over 75’s per 100,000 population

Housing - High Peak had a housing affordability ratio of 6.85 (this ratio compares house prices to annual earnings, the lower the ratio the
more affordable the housing), this is in the bottom third nationally. The average house price in High Peak has increased by 11% to
£225,743, nationally prices rose by 8%.
• 72.05% of households in High Peak are owner occupied, which is higher than the Derbyshire and national average
• 12.7% of households live in social rented accommodation putting the area in the lowest 40% of areas nationally

Crime – Figures show that High Peak recorded 59.07 crimes per 1,000 residents in 2021 which places it 5th in Derbyshire. Chesterfield
recorded the highest rate at 81.24 and Derbyshire Dales the lowest at 42.07. Nationally High Peak sits amongst the lowest 40% of areas for
recorded crime.

Page 20

Deprivation - High Peak is ranked in the bottom half of districts nationally for its overall deprivation score but has pockets of higher than
average deprivation scores for health and disability and living environment.

Employment – High Peak’s working age population stands at 61.58% which is amongst the top 40% of councils nationally and represents the
employment base within the borough. 77.99% of High Peak’s resident working age population are in employment, which is now higher than
the Derbyshire average of 75.57%. Our economically active rates are also now higher than Derbyshire, whereas our unemployment rates are
now higher than both the Derbyshire and England rates at 7.41%. Covid-19 had a huge impact on all businesses, with the tourism sector one of
the most noticeably affected. The combined impact of less visitors and less overnight spend per visitor, meant that overall the direct
expenditure of visitors in the borough declined by 49.3%.
•

High Peak has high proportions of residents working in process, plant and machine based roles, closely followed by sales and customer
services. The lowest represented occupations include knowledge based roles and senior / director roles
• Average earnings of High Peak residents are estimated as £28,474 (2020) an increase of 3.2% on the previous year but still below the
Derbyshire median of £29,467.

The following pages provide further and supporting analysis from Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics Tool on some key contextual data that
helps the Council understand the issues facing our local population and to plan services accordingly.

Page 21

Page 22

Page 23

Page 24

Page 25

Chapter 2: Our Financial Context
The Borough has faced significant financial challenges in recent years because of austerity measures along with cost
pressures within services and greater volatility in financing streams. The shift in local authority financing is increasing the
focus on locally generated income streams and reducing the reliance on core Central Government funding. This increases
the control and influence the Council has over income generated within the Borough but has also made it vulnerable to
fluctuations within the local economy, hence increasing financial risk. The table below compares council spend per capita against all district
councils and illustrates that High Peak has very low spend nationally at £90.95 per head.

High Peak

2019/2020 (£000s)

Unit

Unit
Cost
(£)

Unit Cost
Score

Page 26

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE (RO) / Population

8,428 92,666

90.95

Very Low

TOTAL HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

(690) 92,666

(7.45)

Low

809 92,666

8.73

Low

1,433 92,666

15.46

Low

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL & REGULATORY SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

3,441 92,666

37.13

Low

TOTAL PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

1,016 92,666

10.96

Low

TOTAL CENTRAL SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

2,419 92,666

26.10

Very Low

TOTAL HOUSING SERVICES (GFRA ONLY) (RO Bal) / Population
(very low last year)(

TOTAL CULTURAL & RELATED SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population
(average last year)

Future challenges and opportunities
In addition to the challenges posed by Covid-19, which are set out in detail in the Statement of
Accounts and focus on a multi-faceted recovery programme, detailed below are some of the
more significant developments which also have a potential impact on the financial position of
the Authority.

REINSTATING
SERVICES
POSITIVE
LEGACY

ECONOMIC
RECOVERY
RECOVERY

Changes to Local Government Finance
Fair Funding Review - The Fair Funding Review was set to create a new system for distributing
resources between authorities but has been delayed twice. Civil servants have indicated that a
timescale for implementation for 2022/23 is challenging, but possible.

FINANCIAL
RECOVERY

COMMUNITY
RECOVERY

Page 27

Business Rates - As part of the current Business Rates Retention system, authorities are currently able to retain a 50% proportion of any growth in
Business Rates over and above a centrally established baseline. This is being reviewed by Government but aligned to the Fair Funding Review (see
above) it has also been delayed. Therefore, no financial assumptions based on the new system have been included with the Council’s financial plans
at this stage.
Council Tax - The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, but any increase above a threshold set by Government is subject to a local
referendum. In 2021-22, the threshold was 2% or £5.00 on a band D bill (which ever was highest). The Council set a tax increase of £5.
New Homes Bonus - this is a financial reward scheme awarded to Authorities who demonstrate an increase in housing provision on an annual basis.
In February 2021, the Government announced a consultation a variety of options for reforming the New Homes Bonus, beginning in 2022/23. The
outcome of the consultation is not yet known. The Council will receive £342,000 in 2021/22 (the figure is low
as Covid detrimentally impacted on housing growth). The current MTFP assumes that the Council will receive
funding at a base level of £450,000 per annum but acknowledges the risk this represents.
Social Housing - In July 2015 the Government announced a reduction in social housing rents by 1% per
annum from April 2016 for 4 years (2019/20 being the last year). In response, the Council undertook a full
review of the HRA during 2016/17and produced a Financial Improvement Plan. The revised HRA 30-year

Business Plan was updated in February 2021 and the current HRA Plan projects a 1.5% increase in rent in 2021/22 and 2.5% in years 2022–2025.
Impact of Brexit
At this stage it is difficult to predict the impact of the Brexit process on the Authority’s finances and financial planning. It has the potential to
influence a number of local and national economic drivers such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation of assets and liabilities (for example the
Council’s property portfolio and pension liability) and the demand for and funding of services.
To give an idea of the potential financial consequences, the table below quantifies the impact on the Authority’s 2020/21 budget had there been a
1% change in its key economic drivers.
Risk item
1 % change in inflation

Impact on MTFP
290,000

Risk Item
1 % change in interest rates

Impact on MTFP
65,000

Page 28

Brexit will also have implications on specific project funding bids which have in the past been submitted to European established bodies, it is
unclear what/if any mechanism will replace this.
The overall wider impact and any specific changes to Local Government finance will be further assessed within the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Plan.
Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme
The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by Members in February 2017 and identified a programme of £2.1 million in
savings to be made over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21. Whilst the majority of savings have been delivered, a subsequent review (in February
2019) reprofiled £0.257 million savings into 2020/21 and £0.095 million into 2021/22. It is recognised that delivering the 2021/22 savings
requirement during a Covid-19 recovery phase may prove difficult, so the Council has an earmarked reserve of £0.200 million established to
support any reprofiling requirements.

A HRA Financial Improvement Plan was approved as part of the MTFP in February 2017 which identified £1.2m in savings from several sources to
be achieved over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21. Progress against the Improvement Plan has been positive and all the £1.2m savings have now
been achieved.
HRA Improvement Plan
When setting the budget in February 2017, the HRA was predicted to be in a deficit position of £770,430 by the end of 2020/21 due to the
consequences of the four-year 1% rent reduction. Therefore, a HRA Financial Improvement Plan was approved which identified potential savings of
£1.2million from a number of sources to be achieved over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21. A full stock condition survey of the Council’s portfolio of
housing properties has been completed and is reflected in the 30 year capital programme, in terms of how much the Council is forecast to spend on
major repairs and maintenance of its housing stock. This has been included within the updated HRA Business Plan, which can be viewed on the
Council’s website.

Page 29

Chapter 3: Our Vision
High Peak’s 4-year Corporate Plan was adopted in October 2019 following cross-party member priority setting workshops in the summer. It
sets out the Council’s Vision for 2019 to 2023 – ‘Working together to protect and invest in the High Peak with the Council on your side’ – and is
underpinned by four aims:

Aim One: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Our key objectives are:

Page 30

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

An effective relationship with strategic partners
Fit for purpose housing stock that meets the need of tenants and residents
Practical support of community safety arrangements
Provision of high quality leisure facilities
Working with others to address health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness
Effective provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health

To meet these objectives, we will…
❖
❖
❖
❖
❖
❖
❖

Review the Council’s community support arrangements in order to maintain strong partnership working with community groups
Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme
Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities plan focused on improving the health and wellbeing of residents
Review the Sports & Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives
Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations
Review the Community Safety Strategy to ensure that the Council is supportive in fighting crime and anti-social behaviour
Implement the Homelessness Strategy effectively to ensure that voluntary groups and social enterprises that work to tackle the issue are
supported effectively
❖ Review the delivery of services to older persons to ensure that they are effective
❖ Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for private renters
Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around…
✓ Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care
✓ Dealing with anti-social behaviour

Aim Two: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council
Our key objectives are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money
Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided “right
first time”
Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver our plans by supporting our high performing and wellmotivated workforce
More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities
Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses
Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help improve the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction
and reduce our impact on the environment

Page 31

To meet these objectives, we will…
❖ Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of the public estate, and ensure adequate facilities
management arrangements are in place
❖ Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that services are accessible to all
❖ Refresh the council’s Communications Strategy in order to ensure there is a more effective dialogue and engagement with residents
❖ Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements to make the council as open and transparent as possible
❖ Implement the council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme
❖ Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit
❖ Continue to embed good information management practices through the ASSURED framework
❖ Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
❖ Develop a new ICT Strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services
❖ Review the council’s Diversity Policies and celebrate the traditions and diversity of our community
❖ Develop a new OD Strategy to ensure effective workforce development and use of apprenticeships
❖ Develop a new Procurement Strategy with a focus on spending money locally
❖ Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan

Aim Three: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Our key objectives are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises
Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that support the local economy
Promote tourism to maximise local benefit
High quality development and building control with an “open for business” approach
Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors
Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges
Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and business across the High Peak

Page 32

To meet these objectives, we will…
❖ Review the implementation of the Local Plan to ensure that the requirements for affordable housing and developer contributions are
being met
❖ Support the development of Glossop Halls
❖ Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme
❖ Develop a Cultural Strategy to support and celebrate the rich history and culture of the Borough
❖ Review the Council’s Growth Strategy to ensure that it is focused on the effective regeneration of our towns and rural communities
❖ Establish a developer open space contributions plan
Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around…
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Working with the private sector on regeneration schemes including: The Crescent and Torr Vale Mill
The One Public Estate programme across the Borough
Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure
Completion of the off road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington Trails
Bringing additional funding into the Borough
Enabling high speed internet across the Borough
Extending the Greater Manchester rail offer

Aim Four: To protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Our key objectives are:
▪
▪
▪

Effective recycling and waste management
Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces
Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents and business across the High Peak to
implement the climate change action plan

To meet these objectives, we will…

Page 33

❖
❖
❖
❖
❖

Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to AES in order to achieve improved performance and value for money outcomes
Develop a Parks Development Plan to support the widest community use of parks and support community / friends groups
Develop a Climate Change Strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency
Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further reduce dog fouling and littering
Review the Council’s waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to respond to the emerging new national strategy

Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around…
✓ The development of more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road users
✓ Encouraging local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint

Chapter 4: Managing our Strategic Risks
The Council’s Risk Management Strategy sets out the roles and responsibilities of officers and councillors in ensuring that the council
undertakes a deliberate and systematic identification of the key risks that might prevent, degrade, delay or enhance the achievement of its
strategic objectives. Within the Strategy, the Council’s ‘risk tolerance’ threshold has been set along the border between ‘medium’ and ‘high’
rated residual risks, marked with a bold line in the heat map below; with mitigating actions required for all risks that exceed this threshold.

The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers are
reviewed on a quarterly basis and reported into the Corporate Risk
Management Group and the Audit and Regulatory Committee on an
exception basis.

Page 34
Actions being taken to address our top risks:
➢ Delivery of the MTFP – monthly monitoring of key contributory projects via the Transformation Board; procurement and partnership
opportunities; and consideration of a new efficiency and rationalisation strategy
➢ World events – treasury management strategy; active participation in local resilience forums
➢ Cyber risk and IT security – new digital IT strategy underway; regular training; IT review undertaken; cyber health check undertaken
➢ Employees – agile working policy being drafted; mental health first aiders to be trained
➢ Environmental Regulations – air quality plan, part one of climate change action plan, TEEP assessments undertaken
➢ Contract Management – new procurement strategy; annual financial health checks; contractor checks and regular liaison meetings
➢ Investment in assets – new database up and running; building condition surveys; asset management plan
➢ Safeguarding – risks overseen by corporate group; regular training for all employees; policy reviewed annually via members

Gaining an external perspective on emerging risk areas
The council adds to the robustness of its risk management arrangements by regularly seeking an external opinion on specific areas of new or
emerging risk. In the last 12 months work has been commissioned to provide an insight into how well the risk within key projects are being
managed and also to conduct a health check of our exposure to cyber risk.
Project Risk Management – the review found a comprehensive suite of project documentation templates that align with good practice. To
improve the resilience of the processes the Council will be taking forward recommendations around version control, resource management
and project risk management training for relevant staff.
Cyber Health Check – the health check scored the Alliance as ‘fair’ overall in its assessment, with further work recommended including critical
aspects around Cyber Certification; Privileged Access Management; and End of Life Systems.

Opportunities

Page 35

Not all risks are negative and the council’s approach to risk
management is mature enough to consider opportunities as
well as threats. The heat map adjacent shows the three top
rated opportunities facing the council in 2021 and a
summary of the actions being taken to help bring these
benefits to fruition.
✓ Contractor relations: more emphasis on
commissioner role; effective contractor partnerships; new
procurement strategy
✓ Housing growth: empty homes strategy; accelerated
housing delivery; working with Homes England to access
funding
✓ Business Growth: accelerated business growth and
employment programme; working with Local Economic Partnership to access funding; new business support schemes

Chapter 5: Demonstrating value for money - our performance and how we compare
Summary
At the close of 2020/21 the Council had achieved 67% of its key performance indicator targets for the year (+3% improvement on the previous
year) and had maintained or improved performance in 61% of these measures (6% lower than last year, due in large measure to the effect on
performance from the pandemic).

2020/21 Trends

2020/21 Targets
100%
80%

Page 36

Target Met
Target Not Met

60%
40%

41%

39%

Not Available

20%

20%

0%
Better

Weaker

No Change

The service areas which fell short of target include the use of temporary accommodation, increasing our pest control contracts, FOI response
times, average re-let time for housing voids, invoice processing, planning enforcement, volunteer hours and residual waste tonnages. The
impact of lockdown due to the coronavirus pandemic can also be seen in some of these results.
The effects of Covid on the council’s operational performance were assessed early on during the first lockdown of 2020 and the Council
refocused some of its targets for 2020/21 in response. These effects have continued in some service areas and we have taken them into
account when setting future targets for 2021/22, although only for a relatively small proportion of indicators.
For those measures that fell below the target set for the year we have developed actions for improvement, where feasible, as part of our
performance reporting to senior managers and members. As well as comparing performance over time and against target, we also compare
our performance with other Councils nationally.

Aim 1: A safer, healthier and cleaner environment
Delivering on our high-quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
targets:
✓
✓
✓

Street cleanliness
Regulatory inspections of private water supplies (affected by lockdown restrictions)
High risk premises inspections
Permitted processes inspections (a number of premises due for inspection could not be accessed due to lockdown)
Food premises that are broadly compliant with Food Standards Agency standards (affected by lockdown restrictions)
Pest control contracts obtained
Community clean-up campaigns (130 compared to 82 last year)

Page 37

Fly-tipping remains an area of concern because of the environmental impact and the drain on
resources; High Peak’s rate increased in 2019/20 from 199 to 302, placing the council 29th out of
36 councils in the East Midlands region. However, we know that there has been a national
increase in incidents during lockdown and rates increased to 609 last year. We have launched a
joint comms campaign with our AES partners in response, as well as reviewing our enforcement
policy. The Council’s spend on public conveniences has increased to £291,000 and is now the 4th
highest in the regional comparator group. Food hygiene in establishments across the Borough looks
healthy with only 12 premises achieving 0-2 stars and 670 premises achieving 3 stars or above. The
council’s ability to access and carry out food hygiene inspections has been severely hampered by
the various lockdowns and the impact on regulatory resources due to the pandemic.
Contextual Measures:
❖ High Peak issued 8 fixed penalty notices for antisocial behaviour in 2020/21, which was lower than last year due to the impacts of Covid
❖ 609 fly-tipping incidents were collected by the council, which was more than double the previous year’s level
Achievements
Across the Alliance we:
✓ Investigated over 400 reports of abandoned vehicles and disposed of 7 abandoned vehicles across the Alliance
✓ Issued 15 fixed penalty notices for fly-tipping
✓ Carried out 739 food safety interventions last year

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Dealt with 1200 pollution related complaints
Carried out 1500 pest control / animal welfare interventions
Handled 550 covid queries and 200 Marshall visits to premises
Investigated 107 Health and Safety accidents
Undertook 74 water samples and risk assessments

Delivering on our housing targets:

Page 38

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Benefits processing times for new claims
Benefits processing times for changes of circumstance
Benefits processed correctly
Housing repairs performance
Households in temporary accommodation for over 6 weeks
Right to buy transactions completed in time
Homelessness applications at the prevent and relief duty stages
19% of housing register applicants in priority need have been waiting in excess of 6 months
Gas safety checks undertaken – 100% compliance for the 6th year in a row

In 2019/2020 High Peak’s performance in determining new Housing Benefit claims improved from 30th to 20th fastest in the East Midlands
region of 36 authorities (18 days from 26 days). This figure has improved still further in 2020/21 to 11 days. The cost of processing benefits has
however also increased from £287k to £437k and with it our ranking has increased from 27th highest in the region to 21st highest. The
correlation charts in Appendix A detail those councils in the region who were achieving better performance levels at a lower or comparable
cost in 2019/20. Change of Circumstance processing is now the slowest in the region at 9 days. Although we missed our target on the use of
temporary accommodation in excess of 6 weeks, benchmarking reveals it is well below the national average.
Contextual Measures:
❖
❖
❖
❖

45 affordable homes were completed, up from 23 last year
249 new dwelling completions were made in 2020/21
120 homes stood empty for more than two years, down from 177 last year
98% of overpaid benefit payments were recovered (up from 77% the previous year)

❖ It took an average of 97 days to complete disabled adaptations in council owned stock (down from 152 days last year) and an average
of 12 weeks in non-council stock
❖ At the end of March there were 27 households in temporary accommodation
❖ 144 complaints were received in relation to private sector accommodation, with 2 category 1 hazard properties and 5 category 2
hazard properties, one improvement notice was issued
❖ 212 new kitchens and bathrooms were delivered as part of the housing capital programme and 81% of council homes met the Decent
Homes standard

Page 39

Achievements
✓ Cited as good practice nationally for the approach to homelessness during the first lockdown
✓ Everyone in initiative – everyone placed in 24 hours in first phase. During 2020 (Jan-Dec) number of households provided with temporary
accommodation: HPBC – Total 108 of which 48 due to Covid/ Everybody In
✓ Made an offer of a grant of £314,523 from right to buy receipts towards the development of 8 affordable rented units at Bridgemont in
Whaley Bridge
✓ Secured planning permission for the roundabout along the A6 at Fairfield to unlock access to housing sites
✓ Fantastic progress has been made to deliver 73 affordable homes at Granby Road A
✓ 1400 windows/doors have been fitted to council housing stock; 52 homes have been re-roofed; and 11 homes in Gamesley have been
cladded
✓ 100% Compliance with gas regulations was maintained throughout all the lockdowns
✓ 8500 repairs jobs with a 95% success rate of completing the works first time

Delivering on partnership working and community safety targets:
- Delivery of the Community Safety Partnership Plan (implementation was affected by lockdown)
✓ Carelink emergency response calls and equipment installations
2019/20 benchmarking again evidences that High Peak has low crime levels, but the council’s spend on CCTV remains amongst the highest in
the East Midlands (11th highest spend and 24th lowest crime levels). Authorities with similar or lower levels of crime are all reporting
significantly lower levels of spend in this area. The new CCTV system is installed and working, and monitoring is now being done in-house.
Contextual Measures:

❖ 5474 recorded crimes across the borough last year and 4314 anti-social behaviour reports
❖ 13.1% of households in the borough are fuel poor (2019 BEIS data), up from 10.5%
❖ Local foodbanks gave out 48,444 meals in Buxton and dealt with 2210 referrals in Glossopdale

Page 40

Achievements
✓ Upgraded the CCTV monitoring station and began roll out of camera upgrade
✓ Reviewed the Council's engagement with the voluntary sector in High Peak
✓ Supported a successful bid submitted by G52 to Foundation Derbyshire for approx. £8,000 to
fund the continuation, and increase of hours, of their Resident Support Worker on Gamesley
✓ Carelink Service responded to 959 falls, made 11,800 welfare calls during the pandemic, 1079
tenancy support visits to assist with shopping, prescriptions, benefits assistance, and dealt
with 4925 emergency responses
✓ Continued to support the foodbanks and pantries across High Peak

Delivering on our leisure targets:
✓ Level of external funding awarded to support the physical activity and sport strategy (£188k)
✓ Number of priority areas where place-based work to reduce inactivity is being undertaken
2019/20 benchmarking shows that the council spent £449,000 on sports and recreational facilities, a reduction on the previous year and now
ranks within the middle 20% of councils nationally. The wider health outcomes within the High Peak also need to be considered as the Council
implements its sport and physical activity strategy. 71.1% of High Peak residents take part in 150+ minutes of exercise per week – the second
highest rate in the county – according to the latest Active Lives survey.
Contextual Measures:
❖ 21.3% of the local population (16,400) are ‘inactive’, an increase on 20% last year (Active Lives Survey – Nov 2020)
❖ 25.2% of the local population (19,400) volunteer in sports clubs, an increase of over 7% (Active Lives Survey – Nov 2020)
Achievements
✓ New Mills Leisure centre has received a new flat roof, guttering system and facias, and the car park has been resurfaced

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council
Delivering on our value for money targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓

Council tax and business rates collection
Invoices paid on time
Sundry debt reduction
General Fund income variance (expenditure variance)
HRA expenditure budget variance (income variance)
Rent collection
Efficiency savings met
Internal audit recommendations implemented on time

Page 41

Contextual Measures:
❖ Income generated equates to 78% of the net budget (2019/20)
❖ £30m was levered in external funding
2019/20 benchmarking reveals that High Peak has the 7th highest Council Tax collection rate in the region at 98.41%, up 3 places on the
previous year despite a marginal dip in our rates. Nationally, High Peak ranks 44th highest, which is up from 60th place last year. The cost of
collection has increased to £180k and is now the 4th lowest in the region. Business Rates collection decreased in 2019/20 to rank amongst the
middle 20% of councils nationally at 98.39% and has dropped from 12th to 23rd highest in the region. This is the year before the pandemic and
collection rates fell in 2020/21, which we would expect to see reflected in national comparisons when available.
Achievements
✓ Administered and delivered business grants totalling £11,658,304 to support our local businesses who have been affected by Covid
✓ Hybrid Mail project rolled out to all high volume service areas
✓ Unqualified Statement of Accounts / successful external audit process with minimal errors
✓ Produced a balanced Medium Term Financial Plan and 2021/22 budget amidst the most challenging financial backdrop any of us have
ever experienced

Delivering on our customer access and right first time targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓
-

Complaints responded to within 10 days
Social media followers
Channel shift contacts (phone, face to face and web)
Repeat complaints
FOI requests dealt with on time
Avoidable contact (affected by business grants enquiries)
Website assessment through Socitm’s Better Connected survey

The limited benchmarking material on complaints levels indicates that the number of ombudsman complaints remains within the lowest 20%
nationally at just 7 complaints in 2019/20 and we know that our level of complaints is decreasing following the introduction of a triage
approach to complaint handling.

Page 42

Contextual Measures:
❖ 1056 Twitter feeds were retweeted (up from 397 last year)
❖ 13% of FOI requests were diverted to the Council’s website / publication scheme
❖ The cost of handling FOI requests was estimated at £40,540
❖ 86 complaints were received during 2020/21: down from 149
Achievements
✓ 36,000 One Vu accounts now active as customers can report changes, raise requests, submit information and track requests through
their accounts
✓ Continued monitoring of the website for accessibility and compliance with transparency requirements
✓ Reduction in number of complaints received across all services as we triage customer feedback and service areas improve processes to
get it right first time

Delivering on our workforce targets:
✓ Sickness absence per FTE
✓ Workplace accidents
✓ reportable/lost time accidents

The move to remote working has seen a reduction in both sickness absence and workplace accidents. Work has commenced to ensure these
positive benefits can be maintained as part of the council’s planned agile working policy. Staff appraisals are due to begin shortly following
recent management restructures and will be led from the top.
Contextual Measures:
❖ We received 174 compliments last year, up from 119
❖ There are 5 apprentices across the Alliance, of which 4 are working on the higher level scheme
❖ Two apprenticeships were completed last year and one gained employment with the Alliance
❖ 79% of the apprenticeship levy was spent by the Alliance
❖ Staff turnover increased to a healthy 10.6% from 7.6%

Page 43

Achievements
✓ Disability Confident level 2 re-assessment successfully obtained
✓ A marked reduction in workplace accidents and no serious workplace accidents
✓ 11 promotions (at management and officer level) and 7 secondment opportunities
✓ 6 post entry training agreements in place
✓ Invested £63,000 in employee development

Delivering on our effective use of assets targets:
✓
✓
✓
-

Council-owned business units that are occupied
Rent loss from vacant stock
Properties with nil void loss
Average time to re-let Council homes

Contextual Measures:
❖ It took an average of 28.6 days to re-let homes (excluding ‘hard to let’ homes), up from 16.5 days the
year before
❖ 523,000 litres of oil fuelled our main office buildings and 436,000 Kwh of electricity, costing £45,586
Achievements

✓ Continued to strengthen and embed our Information Governance framework through ASSURED,
including a programme of peer challenge for all Information Asset Registers
✓ Repaired and rebuilt walls at Buxton cemetery and three closed church yards
✓ Helped to extend the special protection area for Buxton water source in partnership with the
Environment Agency

Delivering on our procurement targets:
✓ On-contract spend
✓ Procurement activity

Page 44

Contextual Measures:
❖ 32% of contracts over £5,000 were awarded to local businesses following submitted
expressions of interest
❖ 8% of council supplier spend stays within the local area

Achievements
✓
✓
✓
✓

Spent over £2.2m with local businesses across both County areas
Engaged over 900 businesses in response to over 70 delivered contract opportunities for the Alliance
Sourced supply arrangements to enable front line services to continue operations throughout the pandemic, e.g. PPE supplies
Supported Alliance contracted suppliers through the pandemic, by reviewing / amending terms, regular contract payments and
permitting extensions to existing contracts in accordance with Cabinet Office guidance
✓ Delivered strategic procurements e.g. IT Managed Services Contract, supporting Fairfield roundabout development, and Glossop Halls
project

Delivering on our technology targets:
✓ IT network and system availability
Achievements

✓ Upgraded to Microsoft 365 and the Digital platform months earlier than planned in response to lockdown and remote working
✓ Successful implementation of the Civica OpenPortal in 2020 within the project timescales and have started to automate certain revenues
processes
✓ Supported Socitm to undertake a IT health check and digital maturity review
✓ A new asset management database has been developed and implemented
✓ Successful rollout of Microsoft Teams across the Alliance
✓ Refreshed the ICT and Information Security Policy and disseminated to all staff through the online training platform

Page 45

Aim 3: To support economic development and regeneration
Delivering on our business support and start-ups objective:
Our business formation rate has increased again from 10% to 11% in 2019 and places us 18th out of 36 councils in the East
Midlands with Derbyshire Dales ranked last at 9%.
Contextual Measures:
❖ 4040 enterprises are operating within the High Peak; 75 more than last year
❖ 9618m2 of floorspace completed on 17 hectares of employment land
❖ 5694 hits on the business page of our website

Page 46

Achievements
✓ Re-wrote and launched 'guide to starting a business from home'
✓ Facilitated a wide range of business events
✓ Distributed the E-newsletter to 1000 businesses each month

Delivering on our flourishing town centres targets:
The borough had an average town centre vacancy rate of 9% (sept 2020) - Buxton 12.4%,
Glossop 6.3%, New Mills 9.1%, Chapel 6.9%, Whaley Bridge 4.7%, and Hadfield 8.3%. The
national average stands at over 10%.

(Photo credit: DDEP and DCC)

Although average vacancy rates remain low, we can see some marked increases in town locations in 2020. The occupancy survey is being
repeated this year which will give further insight into the effect of the pandemic on local business survival rates. Our plans for economic
recovery will look to address these impacts, alongside other schemes such as the Heritage Action Zone, Future High Streets project and
Glossop Halls project.
Achievements

✓ High Peak's bid to regenerate Buxton town centre was successful in gaining £6.6m in funding to transform high streets and make them
fit for the future
✓ Secured £2.0 million from Getting Building Fund for Glossop Hall’s Project
✓ Awarded £926,700 from Historic England to champion and revive the historic Buxton high
street - the programme Includes physical improvements, community and cultural
activities to regenerate and restore local historic character in the Spring Gardens area
✓ The Crescent Hotel opened to the public in October after many
years of complex project management and partnership working
✓ European Regional Development Funding from the Ministry of
Housing Communities and Local Government to assist in
preparing High streets in High Peak (£81,981) towns has been
secured. An officer has been appointed in the regeneration team to co-ordinate and deliver the required actions

Page 47

Delivering on our promoting tourism targets:
Visitors to the High Peak added £146m of spend to the local economy according to
the latest research reports for 2020 (down from £274m) and local business benefited
from over 660,000 overnight stays (down from 1.52m); tourist bed spaces fell from
8011 to 7576. The Council’s recorded spend on tourism places it in the middle 20% of
councils nationally at £53k, up from £35k.

Achievements
✓ Completed and had formally adopted the Visitor Economy Strategy for Buxton
✓ Organised upgrading of Glossop Old town audio trail
✓ New bus shelters and fingerposts signposting people to some of Whaley Bridge’s key features, including the Memorial Park, the canal
basin and shops, were installed with funding aimed at helping Whaley Bridge, and the other towns affected by the Toddbrook Reservoir
incident, recover by boosting the local economy.

Delivering on our high quality development and building control targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓
-

Planning appeals successfully defended
% of planning enforcement cases resolved within 13 weeks
Major, minor and other planning applications determined in time – 100% of majors determined on time
Planning applications with pre-app enquiries
100% of priority planning enforcement cases visited within 1 working day
Agent satisfaction with the planning service

2019/20 benchmarking data across the East Midlands region shows that High Peak performs above the mean for the processing of major and
minor planning applications. The costs of development control have decreased from £311,000 to £201,000 in 2019/20, placing the council in
the lowest 40% of councils nationally and 18th in the region.

Page 48

Contextual Measures:
❖ No costs were awarded against the Council last year for planning appeals
❖ 257 customers attended the new Planning Surgeries
Achievements
✓ Developed a supplementary planning document with external consultants to give guidance to developers, landowners and officers to
protect the quality and quantity of mineral water sources in Buxton and minimise phosphate levels in River Wye which forms part of the
Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation

Delivering on our car parking targets:
Contextual Measures:
❖ 2406 PCNs were issued in 2020/21 of which 83% were collected
❖ 56.4% of car park spaces are covered by the Park Mark scheme and over 6% of all spaces are allocated as disabled parking bays
Achievements
✓ Resurfaced 11 car parks and line marked 3 car parks and structural works have been completed to the Pavilion Gardens top deck prior
to transferring the undercroft to the Crescent Hotel
✓ 8 EV charge points have been installed on the car parks

Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment
Delivering on our effective recycling and waste management targets:
✓ % of household waste recycled (estimate)
- Kg of residual household waste (estimate)
- Missed Bins

2019/20 benchmarking ranks High Peak’s recycling rate of 50.5% as the 4th highest in the region (an improvement of 1 place) and the residual
kg of household waste improves to the 5th lowest level across the East Midlands. However, the cost of recycling is now the 2nd highest in the
region at £1.6m, whilst waste collection costs are amongst the lowest 20% of councils nationally.
Achievements

Page 49

✓ Delivery of new online bin calendar solution for High Peak residents

Delivering on our quality parks and open spaces targets:
Volunteer hours (236 down from 1019 due to the effects of the
pandemic)
✓ Green Flag award
-

Whaley Bridge Memorial Park was again successful in retaining its prestigious
Green Flag award. Council spend on parks and open spaces is amongst the
lowest 40% of districts nationally at £592,000, down from £669,000.
Achievements
✓ Successful delivery of Whitfield Play area refurbishment project

Delivering on our climate change targets:
✓ Paper consumption
- Air quality reporting requirements (due to the pandemic)
Contextual Measures:
❖ Emissions per capita are estimated at 31.9 tonnes and are the highest in the East Midlands due to Quarrying industry emissions
Achievements
✓ Supported the establishment of both the High Peak Green Network liaison Group and the HPBC Bio-diversity meetings
✓ Provided external speakers for the Climate Change Working Group on themes of Housing and Domestic Buildings and Commercial
Buildings and Industry which helps to support the development of the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan

Page 50

Since declaring a climate emergency in October 2019, the Council has started a number of activities in order to reduce its own carbon
emissions. The work undertaken so far, and the action plan of activities going forward was presented to The Executive at its July meeting and is
encapsulated in the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1).
Work done to date includes:
Housing – the council will be installing energy efficiency measures
such as cavity wall and loft insulation, and triple glazing with the
support of a £485k government grant.
Leisure Centres – assessment of options to reduce emissions has been
carried out with the results expected in July
Fleet – AES are trialling electric vehicles and the Energy Saving Trust
have been engaged to help the council plan its fleet replacement
programme with an emphasis on decarbonisation.

In addition, the new ways of working introduced in response to lockdown have resulted in a 60% reduction in business mileage; as well as
increased customer self-service and reduced paper consumption. Plans to sustain these changes began last year and the new agile working
policy is expected in the summer.
The Council’s Climate Change Working Group, which includes representatives from the High Peak Green Network, has been focusing on
Borough-wide greenhouse gas emissions; the role of key agencies, and the actions that the Council can take going forward. This work will
inform Part 2 of the Climate Change Plan which will be published by November 2021 – in time for the UN climate change conference (COP26).
The Plan will need to be a dynamic document that gets added to as new actions become viable and we learn more about emissions in the area
and the role the council can play, in partnership with others, to help reduce them.

Page 51

Chapter 6: Our Future Priorities 2021-2022
2019/20 saw the development and adoption of a new Corporate Plan by the Council for the period up to 2023. Actions yet to be implemented
have been rolled forward into 2021/22, together with any new priorities that may have emerged as outlined below.

Page 52

Corporate Plan Aim

Rolled forward Priority Actions

Aim 1: Practical support of
community safety
arrangements
Aim 1: Provision of high
quality leisure facilities
both in formal leisure
centres and swimming
pools and out in our
communities
Aim 1: Fit for purpose
housing that meets the
needs of tenants and
residents

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations

Aim 1: Work with our
partners and the community
to address health inequality,
food and fuel poverty, mental
health, and loneliness

Review the delivery of services to older persons to ensure that they are effective

Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities improvement plan focused on
improving the health and wellbeing of residents
Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and
sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives

Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme
Implement the Homelessness Strategy effectively to ensure that voluntary groups and
social enterprises that work to tackle the issue are supported effectively
Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for private renters

Implement the Covid-19 Community Recovery Plan

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes:
➢ Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care
➢ Dealing with anti-social behaviour
Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit
Aim 2: Services readily
available and provided right Review the council's Diversity Policies including working with faith and cultural groups to
celebrate the traditions and diversity of our community
first time

Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements to make the Council
as open and transparent as possible
Refresh the council's Communication Strategy in order to ensure there is a more effective
dialogue and engagement with residents

New Priority
Actions

Corporate Plan Aim
Aim 2: Ensure our future
financial resilience can be
financially sustainable whilst
offering value for money

Rolled forward Priority Actions
Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that Council services are accessible to all
Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme
Implement the Covid-19 Financial Recovery Plan

Page 53

Aim 2: More effective use of
council assets to benefit our
communities

Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of public estate,
and ensure adequate facilities management arrangements are in place

Aim 2: Invest in our staff to
ensure we have the internal
expertise to deliver our plans
by supporting our high
performing and well
motivated workforce
Aim 2: Effective procurement
with a focus on local business

Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure effective workforce
development and use of apprenticeships

Aim 2: Use innovation,
technology and partnership
with others to help improve
the efficiency of services,
improve customer satisfaction
and reduce our impact on the
environment
Aim 3: Work to create
flourishing town centres and
thriving high streets that
support the local economy

Develop a new ICT strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services

Aim 3: Encourage business
start-ups and enterprise

Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme

New Priority
Actions
Deliver a successful
Corporate Peer Challenge
visit from the LGA in Jan
2022, to shape further
improvement activity
Develop a Joint Venture
company with Norse to
deliver housing repairs and
facilities management

Develop a new procurement strategy with a focus on spending money locally

Implement the Covid-19 Positive Legacy Plan

Support the development of Glossop Halls
Review the Council's Growth strategy to ensure that it is focused on the effective
regeneration of our towns and rural communities
Implement the Covid-19 Economic Recovery Plan

Play an active role within
Vision Derbyshire, helping
to secure a County Deal
with increased freedoms
and improved
collaboration

Corporate Plan Aim

Rolled forward Priority Actions

Aim 3: High Quality
Development and Building
Control with an 'open for
business' approach

Establish a developer open space contributions plan

Aim 3: Promote tourism to
maximise local benefit

Develop a Cultural Strategy to support and celebrate the rich history and culture of the
Borough

New Priority
Actions

Review the implementation of the Local Plan to ensure that the requirements for
affordable housing and developer contributions are being met

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes:
➢ Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including Torr Vale Mill

Page 54

➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢

Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough through the One Public Estate project
Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure
Work with regional partners to extend the Greater Manchester rail offer
Completion of the off road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington trails
Bringing additional funding into the Borough
Enabling high speed internet across the Borough

Aim 4: Meeting the challenges
of climate change and
responding to the Climate
Emergency declaration SM:
Meeting the challenges of
climate change
Aim 4: Effective provision of
Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further reduce dog
quality parks and open spaces fouling and littering
Aim 4: Effective recycling and
waste management

Publish Part 2 of the Climate
Change Action Plan and
commence delivery of the
priorities contained within
Parts 1 and 2

Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to
respond to the emerging new national strategy

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes:
➢ Develop more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road users
➢ Encourage local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint

References
The benchmarking data used within this Report has been drawn from the following sources:
1. Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics online tool
2. Grant Thornton’s CFO Insights online tool
3. The LGA’s benchmarking tool – LG Inform

Page 55

Page 56

APPENDICES

Aim 1: a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents
The following chart shows the correlation between Housing Benefit costs and New Claims average speed of processing
against the East Midlands Non- Metropolitan group 2019-20, using Grant Thornton’s CFO Insight tool. In 2019-20 costs
have increased and processing times have decreased. Housing Benefit Administration RO has increased from £287k to
£437k. Average speed of processing has decreased from 26 to 18 days. Melton, South Kesteven and Hinckley & Bosworth
are examples of authorities processing claims faster at a lower cost.

Page 57

This chart shows the correlation between Housing Benefit costs and Change in Circumstances average speed of processing
against the group. High Peak costs and processing times have both increased: processing times are the highest in the
group of 36, increasing from 7 to 9 days. South Derbyshire, Boston and Hinckley & Bosworth are examples of authorities
processing changes faster and at a lower cost.

Page 58

This time series shows the change in the number of households in temporary accommodation in High Peak since 2009.
Overall, there has been an increase of 31.8% between 2009 and 2020 (2009: 22 households, 2020: 29 households).
35

29

30

25
22

Page 59

19

20
16
15

14
12

12

12

10
6

7

5

5

0
2009 -2010 2010 -2011 2011 -2012 2012 -2013 2013 -2014 2014 -2015 2015 -2016 2016 -2017 2017 -2018 2018-2019 2019-2020

Practical Support of Community Safety Arrangements
The chart below shows the cost of CCTV compared to the total recorded crime (excluding fraud) (percentile) for the High
Peak against the East Midlands group in 2019-20. Costs have decreased compared to 2018-19 at £122,000 (11th highest
out of 23 councils with spend), the total number of crimes (2020) at 5,488 is 24th lowest out of a group of 31. Harborough,
Derbyshire Dales and North Kesteven, spend less on CCTV and have fewer crimes.

Page 60

Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and swimming pools and
out in our communities
This map shows that High Peak’s spend on sports and recreation facilities (including golf) (RO) £000’s falls within the mid
quintile of districts nationally (ranked 79th out of 187 areas) with a spend of £449,000. In 2018-19, High Peak sat in the top
40% with a spend of £593,000.

Page 61

This bar chart shows the proportion of the population in High Peak who participate in 150+ minutes of exercise per week
(Active Lives Survey Nov 19-20, Sport England) compared to other districts within Derbyshire. High Peak have 71.1% of its
residents participating in 150+ minutes of exercise per week, compared to 71.2% in Nov 18-19. The Derbyshire average is
64 %.

Page 62

Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
The table shows the number of fly tipping incidents in 2019-20 compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the East
Midlands Group. Compared to the whole East Midlands group, High Peak were ranked 29th lowest (out of 36) with 302
incidents, this is an increase compared to 2018-19 when they were ranked 35th lowest with 199 incidents.

Page 63

This chart shows the cost (in £ 000’s) of Public Conveniences (RO) compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the East Midlan ds
group in 2019-20. High Peak had the 4th highest spend in the group at £291,000, an increase compared to £259,000 in 2018-19.

Page 64

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient & forward thinking council
Financial resilience and value for money
The map below shows that High Peak has an above average rate of Council Tax collection at 98.41%, sitting
within the top 40% of all English districts. The collection rate has decreased very slightly from 98.43% in
2018-19. The cost of council tax collection is low compared to the group, ranked 162nd out of 187 areas at
£180,000, an increase from £155,000 in 2018-19.

Page 65

.

This map shows the Non- Domestic Tax Collection rate across all English districts. The High Peak collection rate of 98.39%
sits within the mid quintile. This is a decrease from 99.09% in 2018-19.

Page 66

Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and
provided ‘right first time’
This map shows the total number of Ombudsman complaints received by all English districts in 2019-20. The High Peak
score of 7 is the same as in 2018-19 and sits within the lowest 20% of all districts.

Page 67

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth,
development and regeneration
Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises
This time series demonstrates changes in business formation rate from 2010-2019. The rate of new business as a
proportion of total business stock increased steadily from 2010 then fell in 2016 and 2017. 2018 showed an increase
10.19% and there has been a further increase to 11.29% in 2019.

Page 68

This bar chart shows the High Peak new business formation rate % for 2019 compared to other authorities in the area.

Page 69

Promote tourism to maximise local benefit
This map shows the total spend on tourism across all English districts. High Peak sits in the middle quintile of districts
nationally, spending £53,000 on tourism, an increase compared to £35,000 in 2018-19.

Page 70

High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach
This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and major application processing within 13
weeks compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 2019-20, High Peak processed 95% of major
applications within target times compared to 100% in 2018-19, ranking has dropped from joint 1st to 11th. Development
control costs have reduced from £311k to £201k. Bolsover, Gedling and South Derbyshire have processed more
applications to target but at a lower spend.

Page 71

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and minor application processing within 8
weeks compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 2019-20, High Peak processed 91% of minor
applications within target times compared to 92% in 2018-19, ranking has dropped from 15th to 17th. Bassetlaw, Bolsover
and Newark & Sherwood for example have processed more applications to target at a lower spend.

Page 72

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and other application processing within 8
weeks compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 2019-20, High Peak processed 93% of other
applications within target times compared to 97% in 2018-19, ranking has dropped from 8th to 21st. Bassetlaw, Bolsover
and Ashfield for example have processed more applications to target at a lower spend.

Page 73

The map below shows the spend on development control (RO, 2019-20) across all English districts. High Peak spent
£201,000 on development control, which places it in the lowest 40% of all districts nationally, in 2018-19 High Peak sat in
the mid quintile with a spend of £311,000.

Page 74

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment including responding to the
climate emergency
Effective recycling and waste management
This line chart shows the proportion of household waste that is sent for reuse, recycling or composting from 2009-2020.
Within High Peak, the recycling rate has increased to 50.5% which sits in the top 40% nationally. In 2018-19 the result was
48.7%. Recycling rates in the top quintile range from 53.12% to 64.1%

Page 75

This chart shows residual waste per household in kilograms (2019-20) for High Peak compared to other authorities in the
area.

Page 76

This map shows the unit spend on Waste Collection (R/O, £/dwelling in 2019-20), across all English districts. High Peak has
a low unit spend at £8.78 falling into the lowest 20% nationally.

Page 77

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the cost of recycling and the % of household waste sent for reuse
recycling or composting. Derbyshire Dales and South Northamptonshire have a higher recycling rate at a lower cost.

Page 78

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the cost of waste collection and the kg of residual waste per household.
There are no areas within the East Midlands producing less residual waste at a lower cost.

Page 79

Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces
This map shows open spaces spend in 2019-20 across all English districts. High Peak are ranked 127th out of 187 areas at
£592,000, which sits in the lowest 40% of all districts nationally. Ranked 119 in 2018-19, spend has decreased from £669,000.

Page 80

Meeting the challenges of climate change and working with residents and businesses across the High
Peak to implement the climate change action plan.
This map shows the Environmental Initiatives RO in 2019-20 across all English districts. This value refers to net current
expenditure for environmental education, grants related to environmental initiatives and individual environmental projects. High
Peak are ranked 52nd out of 187 areas with £40,000 and sit in the top 50%. This is an increase from £25,000 in 2018-19.

Page 81

This map shows CO2 emissions estimates per capita (2019) for All Local Authority Districts in the East Midlands. High Peak
produces 31.9 CO2 emissions per capita and is the highest in the group, which reflects the presence of Quarrying industry in the
area. The lowest was Oadby & Wigston at 3.1.

Page 82

Agenda Item 5
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
7 April 2022

TITLE:

Performance Framework 2022/25

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive
Councillor for Corporate Services and
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER:

Vanessa Higgins - Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1: Performance Framework – Targeted Measures 2022/25
Appendix 2: Performance Framework – Contextual Measures 2022/25
Appendix 3: Performance Framework – Priority Actions 2022/23
1.

Reason for the Report:

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide members with an opportunity to
scrutinise the draft Performance Framework and associated targets for
2022/25.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Executive approves the Performance Framework for 2022/25.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan articulates the aims, objectives and priority
actions, which the Council is working to achieve. Its delivery is measured
through the Performance Framework, which has at its centre the three pillars
of value for money - efficiency, economy and effectiveness.

3.2

This report seeks to provide a new Performance Framework for 2022/25 that
will enable the council to monitor, measure and report back on its progress
against the stated priorities set out in the council’s 4-year corporate plan.

3.3

The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 28 March
2022 which made the following additional recommendations:
(i)

the target for % appointments made and kept (Housing repairs) be
increased from 70% to 80%

Page 83

(ii)

a note being put on the target for %of households living in fuel poverty
to indicate that the target was set in advance of the increase in the
price cap in April 2022.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The purpose of the report is to enable the monitoring of progress against the
Council’s corporate priorities. As such this report has linkages to each of the
Council’s Corporate Plan aims.

5.

Options

5.1

Members are asked to consider the proposed targets and to suggest
amendments if they consider that they are necessary. A Performance
Framework Sub Committee took place on 14th March where it was resolved
that a new measure around housing land supply should be included.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4

Financial Considerations
Effective Performance Management contributes to the Council’s
financial objectives

6.5

Legal
None

6.6

Climate Change
The action plan to achieve a carbon neutral future has now been
integrated into the Performance Framework and Service Planning
process

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The targets proposed have been agreed in conjunction with senior
managers through the Service Planning process

6.8

Risk Assessment
A robust Performance Framework is a critical tool in controlling and
mitigating risks.

Page 84

ANDREW P STOKES
Chief Executive
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Performance Framework 2022/25
Service Plans

Available on request

V Higgins, Ext 4057
Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.
gov.uk

Page 85

7.

Background and Introduction

7.1

The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) articulates the aims,
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over
that period. The Plan was approved in October 2019 and required a new
Performance Framework that could measure its delivery and also aid effective
scrutiny through more focused and balanced reporting; celebrating success
and promoting improvement.

7.2

The 2019-2023 Corporate Plan saw a significant increase in the number of
objectives compared to the 2015-2019 Plan (+38%) and consequently the
Performance Framework also increased, but to a lesser extent (+15%), in
order to ensure the Council is monitoring and measuring the delivery of its
stated priorities.

7.3

The Performance Framework is built around the Council’s key objectives
whilst also ensuring that the three pillars of value for money (efficiency,
economy and effectiveness) remain central.

7.4

The Framework is made up monthly, quarterly and annual measures and the
Council reports by exception on all monthly and quarterly measures but has
moved away from a ‘dashboard’ approach to one which reflects the whole
Framework. The annual contextual measures are reported in the Annual
Report, which also provides an overview of the Council’s progress in delivering
its Corporate Plan and the results of value for money benchmarking.

8.

Performance Framework 2022/25

8.1

Targets covering a 3-year period are owned and managed by Heads of
Service across the authority, and are communicated to teams through service
plans and individual performance objectives via the PEP process. Managers
have been asked to review and refresh these targets for the period 2022/23 to
2024/25 based upon current performance levels and national benchmarks,
where available.

8.2

In some cases Managers have proposed the removal, addition or amendment
of performance measures. Such instances have been highlighted within the
Appendices to this report and have been considered by senior management.

8.3

The 2022/23 Framework also reflects a number of new areas of focus for the
Council, which will be reported on by exception:




a raft of new measures in response to the anticipated changes to the
regulation of Social Housing contained within the White Paper
the council’s own metrics developed to measure its progress in meeting its
climate action plans
new measures in relation to the delivery of facilities management
arrangements through the new joint venture company in partnership with
Norse.

Page 86

8.4

As well as measuring our performance against these targets, the council will
also monitor and report back to this committee on the priority actions
contained within the Corporate Plan. These are shown within Appendix 3 and
will be overseen internally by the Transformation Board.

9.

Impact of Covid on performance

9.1

The Council analysed the likely impact of Covid and subsequent lockdown
restrictions on its Performance Framework two years ago, and refocused a
relatively small proportion of targets in response. The new Performance
Framework is less affected but a small number of service area targets reflect
this ongoing uncertainty and the national roadmap to recovery.

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 89
High Peak Borough Council Performance Framework 2022-2025: Targeted

1|Page

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Measure

Reported

2020-21
2021-22 Result
Result
(YTD)
Objective: Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Page 90

Housing Benefits Processing: Time taken to
process a) new claims b) change of
circumstances

Monthly

a)11 days
b)5.04 days

a)9.35 days
b) 9.65 days
Jan 2022

a) 13 days
b) 7 days

a) 13 days
b) 7 days

a) 13 days
b) 7 days

a) 13 days
b) 7 days

% of initial homelessness applications opened at
the prevention and relief duty stages

Monthly

53% 47%

65% 35% Q3

60%:40%

60%:40%

70%:30%

70%:30%

% of prevention duty discharges resulting in a
settled accommodation outcome

Monthly

73.00%

64% Q3

74%

75%

76%

76%

% of relief duty discharges resulting in a settled
accommodation outcome.

Monthly

48%

49% Q3

72%

72%

72%

72%

Number of TA placements (including B&B made
for families) placed over 6 weeks

Monthly

21 (1 family)

21 (0 ) Q3

5

0

0

0

% of properties with a current gas safety
certificate (Housing)

Monthly

0

0 Q3

0

100%

100%

100%

Amended definition from number of gas safety checks overdue
a) Number and b) % of Right to Buy
transactions completed within statutory
timescales

Quarterly

a)50 b) 48/50
96%

a)55 b) 52/55
= 94.5% Q3

95%

95%

95%

95%

2|Page

Measure

Page 91

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

% of active housing register applicants in priority
need (classes A and B) who have been registered
in excess of 6 months
Housing Benefits Processing: % of cases
determined correctly

Annual

19.23%

N/A

30%

15%

15%

15%

Annual

99.9%

N/A

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

Average time from request to repair by priority

Monthly

P1 -0.57 days
P2 3.61 days
P3 8.58 days
P4 14.44 days

P1-0.25 days
P2-2.31 days
P3-6.41 days
P4-15.08 days
Q3

P1 24 hr
P2 10 days
P3 28 days
P4 182
days

Average Number of jobs completed per
operative per day

Monthly

4.42

4.11 Q3

4.2

NEW: % first time fix repairs

Monthly

New

75%

NEW: % P1 repairs completed within 24 hours
(Housing repairs)
Monthly
NEW: % P2 repairs completed within 5 days
(Housing repairs)
Monthly
NEW: % P3 repairs completed within 21 days
(Housing repairs)

Monthly

NEW

95%

Monthly

NEW

85%

Monthly

NEW

80%

NEW: % P4 repairs completed within 16 weeks
(Housing repairs)

Monthly

NEW

75%

NEW: % appointments made & kept (Housing
repairs)

Monthly

NEW

70%

NEW: % Repairs completed on time (Housing
repairs)

Monthly

NEW

80%

Rollover of targets until June 2022
when they will be superseded by the
measures below

3|Page

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

NEW: Tenants satisfied with the repairs service

Annual

New

95%

NEW: % Voids completed within target (Housing)

Monthly

NEW

80%

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Objective: Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and swimming pools and out in our communities
Level of external funding awarded to support
the physical activity and sport strategy (include
no of bids made & won)

Quarterly

Number of priority areas, where place- based
work to reduce inactivity, is being
undertaken.

Annual

£188,809 (49)

£50,000 (2) Q3

33%
success
rate, Min
£60k

33%
success
rate, Min
£60k

Page 92

33%
success
rate, Min
£70k

5

33%
success
rate, Min
£70k (from
£60k)
5

3

N/A

4

160*
(from 75)
10

170*

5

Objective: Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
Number of community clean-up campaigns

Annual

130

N/A

65

Number of pest control contracts

Annual

3

N/A

10

150*
(from 70 )
10

Street and environmental cleanliness inspection
results (% achieving top grades for cleanliness)

Annual

96.6%

N/A

93%

93%

93.5%*
(from 93%)

94%*

% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per
annum
% of routine permitted process premises
inspected

Quarterly

75%

60% (Q3)

75%

100%

100%

100%

Quarterly

60%

60% (Q3)

75%

100%

100%

100%

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria
(plus numbers as context)

Annual

80%

N/A

98%

98%

98%

98%

Private water supplies - % of sampling
programme completed

Annual

60%

N/A

75%

100%

100%

100%

10

4|Page

Measure

Reported

2020-21
2021-22 Result
2021-22
2022-23
2023-24
2024-25
Result
(YTD)
Target
Target
Target
Target
Objective: Work with our partners and the community to address health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness
% Carelink emergency calls responded to within
45 minutes

Monthly

99.41%

97.87% (Q3)

95%

95%

95%

96%

Carelink: % referrals installed within 15 days

Quarterly

99.7%

85% (Q3)

95%

95%

95%

95%

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

Objective: Practical support of community safety arrangements
Delivery of the Community Safety Partnership
Plan (% actions delivered on time)

Annual

79%

Page 93
5|Page

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council
Measure

2021-22
2021-22
2022-23 Target
Result
Target
(YTD)
Objective: Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money

Page 94

Reported

2020-21
Result

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Collection rates: Business rates

Monthly

98.12%

81.65% Q3

97%

98.2%

98.2%

98.2%

Collection rates: Council Tax

Monthly

97.84%

83.3% Q3

97.2%

98.2%

98.2%

98.2%

Collection rates: Rent

Monthly

98.64%

96.04% Q3

98%

98.5%

98.5%

98.5%

Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value
of SD over 60 days old)

Quarterly

£182,978

£209, 689
Q3

Match
2019/20

2% reduction

2% reduction

2% reduction

% of invoices paid in line with
contract

Monthly

95%

96%
Q3

96%

96%

96%

96%

% of internal audit
recommendations implemented
within timescale (snapshot of year
to date)
External Audit Opinion

Quarterly

96.09%

93.75% Q3

93%

94% (from 95% )

95% (from
96%)

96%

Annual

Unqualified

N/A

Unqualified

Unqualified

Unqualified

Unqualified

6|Page

Measure

% of corporate efficiency savings
met

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23 Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Annual

82%

N/A

75% of Target

100% of target

n/a (no
Efficiency
target in
MTFP)

n/a (no
Efficiency
target in
MTFP)

Objective: Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'

Page 95

Number of twitter followers

Quarterly

4816

4972 Q3

Increase by
240

Increase by 240

Increase by
240

Increase by
240

Number of Facebook followers

Quarterly

3850

4315 Q3

Increase by
480

Increase by 480

Increase by
480

Increase by
480

No/% of assisted contacts a) phones
& face to face b) web

Monthly

a) 70240 51%
b) 67316 49%

a)49307
48%
b)52994
52%
Q3

a)61%
b)39%

a)59%
b)41%

a)58%
b)42%

a)55%
b)45%

Complaint handling: % dealt with
within target

Monthly

99%

98% Q3

97%

97%

97%

97%

Complaint handling: % of repeat
issues (compares previous month
only)
Number of Onevu (customer portal)
accounts

Monthly

0%

0% Q3

5%

5%

5%

5%

Quarterly

36111

43276 Q3

33,500

40,000

TBD

TBD

Targets to be determined following changes to the software/ systems used to measure this indicator
FOI requests: % responded to within
statutory time frame and numbers
received

Quarterly

58.57%
(526/898)

66%
(457/690)
Q3

95%

95%

95%

95%

7|Page

Measure

Sitemorse Index compliance
rating (out of 10)

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23 Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Annual

6

N/A

6

7

8

8

Objective: Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver our plans by supporting our high performing and wellmotivated work force.
% of Appraisals completed across
the workforce (of those due- Joint
Alliance measure))
Number of a) workplace accidents
and b) RIDDOR reportable / Lost
Time (7days) accidents
Average days sickness absence per
FTE across the Alliance (Joint
Alliance measure)

Annual

Not available

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

a)3
b) 0

N/A

a) <20
b)0

a) <20
b)0

a) <13
b)0

a) <13
b)0

Monthly

4.61 days

6.62 days
Q3

6 days

7 days (from 6)

7 days (from
6)

7 days

Page 96

Objective: More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities
% of rent lost due to vacant stock

Monthly

0.88%

1.27% Q3

1.03%

0.86%

0.86%

0.86%

Average time taken to re-let Council
homes
% properties with nil void loss

Monthly

38.2 days

30 days

25 days

25 days

30 days

Annual

5.6%

46.3 days
Q3
N/A

0%

15%

15%

15%

% and number of council owned
business units occupied

Annual

91%

N/A

73% (19/26)

73% (19/26)

73% (19/26)

73%

Objective: Use innovation, technology and partnerships with others to help improve the efficiency of services, improve customer
satisfaction and reduce our impact on the environment
IT- % network availability

Monthly

100%

99.67% Q3

99%

99%

99%

99%

IT- % system availability

Monthly

100%

99.62% Q3

99%

99%

99%

99%

8|Page

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23 Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Re-establish
Baseline
2%
improvement
to 20/21
68%

HP: 8%

HP: Review in
22-23
2%
improvement
to 22/23
70%

HP: Review in
23-24
1%
improvement
to 23/24
70%

Objective: Effective procurement with a focus on local business
Supplier (creditor) spend within the
local area as a % of total spend
Use of Contracts register - annual
contract spend as % of gross
expenditure budget
% of procurement activity on the
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint
Alliance Measure)

Annual

7.71%

N/A

Quarterly

90.58%

92% Q3

Quarterly

62%

50% Q3

2%
improvement to
21/22
70%

Page 97
9|Page

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Measure

2021-22
2021-22
2022-23
Result
Target
Target
(YTD)
Objective: Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that support the local economy
% of empty town centre shops

2020-21
Result

Annual

Glossop 6.3%;
Buxton
12.4%; New
Mills 9.1%;
chapel 6.9%;
Whaley 4.7%;
Hadfield
8.3%;
Borough
average: 9%

Page 98

Reported

N/A

<national
average

2023-24
Target

<national
average

<national
average

2024-25
Target

<national
average

Objective: High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach
Planning processing times a) Majors b) Minors
c) Others

Monthly

a)100%
b)93%
c)96%

a)100%Q3
b)88% Q3
c)93% Q3

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

% of planning applications with pre-application
enquiries
% of major developments allowed on Appeal

Annual

10%

N/A

10%

10%

10%

10%

Monthly

0%

0% Q3

10%

10%

10%

10%

10 | P a g e

Measure

% of minor and other developments allowed
on appeal
Agent satisfaction with Planning Service
(survey)
% of planning enforcement cases resolved in 13
weeks
% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases
visited within 1 working day
Housing land supply

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Monthly

2.29%

0.78% Q3

10%

10%

10%

10%

Annual

58%

N/A

80%

80%

80%

80%

Annual

62%

N/A

80%

80%

80%

80%

Annual

100%

N/A

90%

90%

90%

90%

Annual

N/A

N/A

N/A

5+ years

5+ years

5+ years

Page 99
11 | P a g e

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Objective: Effective recycling and waste management

Page 100

Recycling rates

Quarterly

50.78%

48.05% Q3

50.5%

50%* (from
51%)

50.5%*
(from 51%)

51%*

Residual waste per household

Quarterly

460kg

338.86kg Q3

475kg

470kg*

465kg*

460kg*

Missed bins per 100,000 collections (exc.
customer error, bad weather and blocked
access)

Monthly

28.5

31.75 Q3

36

36*(from 35)

35* (from
34)

34*

Objective: Effective Provision of quality parks and open spaces
Green Flag awards maintained

Annual

1

N/A

1

1

1

1

Friends / Community Groups – no. of volunteer
hours

Annual

236

N/A

600

700

825

950

Objective: Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents and businesses across the High Peak to implement the
climate change action plan
Paper consumption across the alliance (Joint
Alliance Measure)

Monthly

755
reams

510 Q3

1700

1700

1700

1500

12 | P a g e

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Pollution measures - air quality: % compliance
against national reporting requirements in
relation to air quality
NEW : % of households living in fuel poverty
(0% by 2030)

Annual

90%

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

HP: 10.5%

N/a

HP: 10.35%

HP:10.15%

10% 2025

NEW: Mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution
across the Borough/District

Annual

NEW

NEW

NEW: Increase tree cover : % urban canopy
cover (24% by 2030)

Annual

NEW

NEW
Baseline
17-19%

Below
national
average
HP: 17-18%

Below
national
average
HP 18-19%

Below
national
average
HP: 18.520%

Deleted/Amended Performance Indicators 2022/23

Page 101

Aim 1:
Performance Indicator
Number of community clean-up campaigns

Level of external funding 2023-34
% Completed Asbestos Management checks:
Housing
Processing times for Benefit Claims

Aim 2:
Performance Indicator
% of internal audit recommendations
implemented within timescale (snapshot of
year to date)
Average days sickness absence per FTE across
the Alliance

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment
Amend: Numbers in current year had been reduced due to the anticipated impact of the pandemic. We
are seeing numbers increases again now that covid restrictions are being lifted. Targets have been
amended to reflect this.
Amend: Increased to reflect anticipated emerging projects which could secure funding
Delete: compliance measure to be monitored via Norse
Amend: target tightened from 18 days to 13 days in line with top quartile performance

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment
Amend: 94% to 95%. Amendment to allow for aspirational incremental improvement

Amend: From 6 to 7 days. Sickness rates have risen to pre-pandemic levels in the last year. Despite the
anticipated reduction due to the Norse transfer, absence due to covid/ long covid will be included in the
calculation following the lifting of restrictions (Feb 22).

13 | P a g e

Supplier (creditor) spend within the local area
as a % of total spend
Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget
HRA & GF

Review: Targets will be reviewed each year and only proposed for 22-23 as the impact of service transfers
i.e. Norse are as yet unknown in regard to any potential reductions in local supplier expenditure.
Delete: These are contrived indicators of questionable value – the variance is always caused by
unforeseen (often unforeseeable) external influences outside of our control. Unsure what they indicate
or what action the service can take to mitigate or control them.

Aim 4:
Performance Indicator

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment

Indicators marked with an * (i.e.
Waste/recycling)

*Targets should all be treated as provisional until they are discussed and agreed with our
contractors/partners

Page 102

Key to PIs
Indicators reported from the Norse Joint Venture Company- to be
measured from Q2 2022-23
Indicators reported for Climate Change and Biodiversity
Indicators in the existing framework

14 | P a g e

Page 103
High Peak Borough Council Performance Framework 2022-2025 (Contextual)

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Measure

Reported

2020-21
2021-22 Result
Result
(YTD)
Objective: Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents
Total TA placements including number of B&B
placements made for families

30 Q3

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Page 104

Monthly

27

Contextual

Housing Benefits processing: % of
overpayments recovered

Annual

98.3%

Contextual

Disabled adaptations – average end to end
time in council stock

Annual

96.67%

Contextual

Disabled adaptations – average end to end
time in non-council stock (and numbers for
each type of adaptation)

Annual

12 weeks

Contextual

The number of empty homes

Annual

881: 0-3 mths
100; 3-24 594;
24+ 120;
uninhabitable
67

Contextual

Number of affordable homes delivered

Annual

45

Contextual

Capital Programme delivery targets: Number
of new kitchens and bathrooms delivered

Annual

212

Contextual

2024-25
Target

Measure

Page 105

Reported

2020-21
Result

Revenue costs of private sector housing
function

Annual

£29,000

Contextual

Number of category 1 hazard properties
(descriptor of types)

Annual

2

Contextual

Number of category 2 hazard properties
(descriptor of types)

Annual

5

Contextual

Number of complaints received in relation to
private sector rented accommodation conditions

Annual

144

Contextual

Enforcement action undertaken: Number of
improvement notices served (prohibition,
advisory etc.)
NEW: Satisfaction that the home is well
maintained and safe to live in

Annual

1

Contextual

Annual

New

New

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Percentage of communal areas meeting
the required standard

Annual

New

New

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Complaints (relative to size of landlord):
• Number of complaints
• % resolved within agreed time
• Number relating to fairness/respect
• Number relating to communal areas
• Number relating to ASB

Annual

New

New

Establish
Baseline

Annual

New

New

Establish
Baseline

•
•
•
•

NEW: Satisfaction:
With complaint handling
That landlord listens to views & takes
notice
That landlord treats tenants fairly & with
respect
With landlords engagement (keeping
tenants informed about things that

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

% properties that meet the Decent Homes
Standard : Housing

Quarterly

81.39%

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Average cost of repairs order (Housing
repairs)

Monthly

NEW

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Repairs cost per property
(Housing repairs)

Annual

NEW

Establish
Baseline

NEW: (%/number) Tenants satisfied with
standard of the void (Housing)

Monthly

NEW

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Average EPC score (Housing)

Annual

NEW

Establish
Baseline

NEW: Average SAP rating for housing stock
(Housing)

Annual

NEW

Establish
Baseline

•
•
•
•

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

matter to them)
With landlord actions to keep communal
areas clean and safe
With landlord contribution to the
n/hood
With handling of ASB
Overall satisfaction

Page 106

Objective: Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and swimming pools and out in our communities
Levels of inactivity among local population
groups
NEW: Levels of inactivity among NS Sec 5-8
lower socio-economic groups (Active Lives
survey: Nov-Nov data set)

Annual

16,400 21.3%
Nov 19-20

Annual

NEW

Contextual

NEW

Contextual

Measure
NEW: Levels of inactivity among people with
long term health conditions (Active Lives
survey: Nov-Nov data set)

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

Annual

NEW

NEW

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Contextual

Objective: Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
Number of fly tipping incidents collected by the
Council (exc sec 46 waste)
Cost measures: Street Cleansing

Page 107

Monthly

609

Annual

£526,000

Contextual

Cost measures: Env Health Service

Annual

£253,000

Contextual

Number of premises in each of the 6- star
rating gradings (from 0 to 5)

Annual

HPBC (5 STAR)
554 (4 STAR) 91
(3 STAR) 25 (2
STAR) 6 (1 STAR)
6 (0 STAR) 0
(UNRATED
AWAITING
INSPECTION 64

Contextual

Annual

8

Contextual: annual report to be produced that will
indicate the level of activity

0

Contextual: annual report to be produced that will
indicate the level of activity

Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type
(including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment)
Number of fixed penalty notices issued (include
description)
Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type
(including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment)
Number of prosecutions (include description)

Annual

310 Q3

Contextual

Objective: Work with our partners and the community to address health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness
Number of Food bank referrals / fuel vouchers

Annual

Buxton FB 1800
people 37,800
meals
Glossopdale FB
1120 referrals

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22 Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

(2019/20)

Objective: Practical support of community safety arrangements
CCTV Monitoring

Annual

Not Available

Contextual

Levels of Crime (by type)

Annual

5474

Contextual

Levels of ASB

Annual

4314

Contextual

2024-25
Target

Page 108

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council
Measure

2021-22
2021-22
2022-23 Target
Result
Target
(YTD)
Objective: Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money

Page 109

Reported

2020-21
Result

% income generated against net
budget

Annual

70%

Contextual

External funding levered annually in
support of projects that meet
corporate plans aims

Annual

30,107,000

Contextual

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Objective: Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'
Number of twitter re-tweets

Annual

1056

Avoidable contact (number taken
from customer portal)

Annual

16%

Contextual
17%

TBD

TBD

TBD

Targets to be determined following changes to the software/ systems used to measure this indicator
Satisfaction with customer services
(Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual

Not available

TBD

TBD

TBD

TBD

We will determine the satisfaction measures after the customer satisfaction survey has taken place.

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23 Target

% of FOI requests diverted to
the website / publication
scheme
Cost of FOI requests

Annual

12.93%

Contextual

Annual

£40,540

Contextual

Complaint handling: Number
received

Annual

98

Contextual

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Objective: Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver our plans by supporting our high performing and wellmotivated work force.

Page 110

Customer Feedback: Level of
compliments
Staff Climate Survey

Annual

174

Contextual

Annual

Not available

Contextual

% Staff turnover rate (Joint Alliance
measure)
Number of apprentices by type (i.e.
higher/ trade) (Joint Alliance
Measure)

Annual

10.6%

Contextual

Annual

Contextual

Number of apprentices completing
the apprenticeship (Joint Alliance
Measure)
Number of apprentices retained by
the council (Joint Alliance Measure)
% of apprentice levy spent within
year (Joint Alliance Measure)
NEW: % of recruitment campaigns
resulting in successful recruitment .
(Joint Alliance measure)

Annual

5: 4 Higher
level;
1 standard
level
2

Annual

1

Contextual

Annual

79%

Contextual

Annual

NEW

Objective: More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities

Contextual

NEW

HP: Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23 Target

Average time taken to re-let Council
homes excluding hard to let
Annual cost of energy across key
operational assets

Annual

28.6

Contextual

Annual

Contextual

Amount of energy used across key
Corporate Buildings (Buxton Town
Hall)

Annual

Gas/Oil(L)
£17.057.92,
Electricity
£41,905.97
Gas/Oil(L)
343,484,
Electricity
378949.328
(BTH only)

Contextual

Objective: Effective procurement with a focus on local business

Page 111

% of contracts awarded to local
suppliers following submission of
expression of interest (over £5,000)

Quarterly

32%

Contextual

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Objective: Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises

Page 112

Local Plan Delivery: a) Number of completions
for homes b) sqft of employment space
delivered

Annual

Home
completions:
249. Sq ft
employment
space : 9618
m2floorspace
completed on
17.029ha (use
classes
B1/B2/B8)
during 2020-21.

Number of enterprises operating in the
area (considering business starts as well as
deaths as recorded through ONS stats)

Annual

4040

Contextual

Contextual- High figures are due to
an industrial expansion at Carpenters. The
figure for new employment land created
from other uses is 0.045ha

Objective: Promote tourism to maximise local benefit
Visitor spend in area

Annual

£145.75m
(2020)

Contextual

TIC: online hits

Annual

146

Contextual

2024-25
Target

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Total tourist bed spaces

Annual

7,576 (2020)

Contextual

Total tourist overnight stays (tourism)

Annual

659.9
(000's)
(2020)

Contextual

2024-25
Target

Objective: High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach
Planning application processing costs
Costs awarded against the council from lost
planning appeals
Numbers attending the planning surgeries

Annual

£8

Contextual

Annual

£0

Contextual

Annual

257

Contextual

Page 113

Objective: Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors
Net income per car parking space

Annual

£375.93

Contextual

Number of parking PCNs issued and %
collected

Annual

Contextual

% of car park spaces accredited with Park
Mark
Number & % of disabled bays within car
parks

Annual

2406 issued
1999 paid 83%
56.40%

Annual

109/6.6%

Contextual

Contextual

Objective: Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges
Number of businesses supported by the growth
hub (fair proportion across partnership)

Annual

Not
available

Contextual

Cost of business support activity

Annual

Not
available

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

Number of business reached through the
monthly Business Newsletter

Annual

12 issues,
1343
subscribers

Business webpage- number of hits

Quarterly

5694

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

905 Q3

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Establish
baseline

*Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

Establish
baseline

*Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

*The effects of Covid in baseline year (2021-22) will have shown a large upturn in website traffic. We may see an actual downturn as businesses are able to
operate without restrictions and should therefore use 2022-23 to establish a post-covid baseline before setting targets for future years

Objective: Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and businesses across the High Peak

Page 114

Number of hits on our website: improving your
energy performance

Quarterly

133

46 Q3

Establish
baseline

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

The effects of Covid in baseline year (2021-22) will have shown a large upturn in website traffic. We may see an actual downturn as businesses are able to
operate without restrictions and should therefore use 2022-23 to establish a post-covid baseline before setting targets for future years

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Measure

2021-22
2021-22
2022-23
2023-24
2024-25
Result
Target
Target
Target
Target
(YTD)
Objective: Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents and businesses across the High Peak to implement the
climate change action plan

Page 115

Reported

2020-21
Result

Emissions per capita

Annual

31.9%

NEW: Reduce emissions from Residential
Buildings (net zero by 2030)

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Reduce emissions from Non- Residential
Buildings

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: % of EV’s

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Reduce vehicle related emissions

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Proportion of properties with an EPC

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Proportion of properties with an EPC
rating of D to G

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
Baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Increase commuter journeys by public
transport, cycling or walking (40% by 2030

Annual

NEW

NEW
Baseline

Establish
Baseline

TBA

37.5%

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target
2011 -27%
not driving
car/van
NEW

2022-23
Target

Page 116

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Reduce emissions from Council buildings
(net zero by 2030)

Annual

NEW

NEW: Reduce CO2 emissions from Councillor
business miles

Annual

NEW

NEW: Reduce total number of miles from
Councillor business miles

Annual

NEW

NEW: Reduce total CO2 emissions from fleet
vehicles

Annual

NEW

Baseline:
HP: 1.69
tonnes CO2
prepandemic
(average of
2018 & 19
calendar
years)
Baseline:
HP: 6,131
p.a. prepandemic
(average of
2018 & 19
calendar
years)
NEW

NEW: Reduce total miles from fleet vehicles

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Reduce emissions from leisure centres

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW: Reduce emissions from the waste &
Recycling service (net zero by 2030)

Annual

NEW

NEW

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

Measure

Reported

2020-21
Result

2021-22
Result
(YTD)

2021-22
Target

NEW: Procurement emissions- TBD

Annual

NEW

NEW

NEW: Reduce COS emissions from Officer
business miles

Annual

NEW

NEW: Reduce total number of miles from
Officer business miles

Annual

NEW

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

2024-25
Target

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

NEW

Establish
baseline

TBA

TBA

Page 117

Key to PI’s
Indicators reported for the Social Housing White Paper
Indicators reported from the Norse Joint Venture Company- to
be measured from Q2 2022-23
Indicators reported for Climate Change and Biodiversity
Indicators in the existing framework

Deleted/New/Amended Performance Indicators 2022/23
Aim 1:
Performance Indicator
Number of volunteers in local sports clubs
Levels of Inactivity in people living with long
term health conditions and from lower socioeconomic groups
Costs of leisure centre provision per household
Health indicators in Annual Report
Landlord Accreditation Scheme - Numbers
signed up to scheme

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment
Delete: see below
New: New contextual measures included for physical activity and sport strategy. Reflects changes in the
refresh of our strategies to focus on inactivity levels.
Delete: Included in Annual Report
Delete: Included in Annual Report
Delete: Scheme no longer running

Aim 2:
Performance Indicator
Number of local business training/ supplier
engagement events facilitated
Unit cost per service
Capital receipt from minor asset disposals

Aim 3:
Performance Indicator

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment
Delete: No direct training provided
Delete: Proved meaningless to calculate following changes to service structure
Delete : Reported vis financial reports

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment

Page 118

Number of newsletters x subscriber numbers
featuring funding for green growth
Amount of B1/B2 floor space delivered

Delete: This is the same as the business newsletter indicator

Number of businesses supported by the growth
hub (fair proportion across partnership)/Cost of
business support activity

Review: A meeting is being held with the Growth Hub in the coming weeks to agree a business support
programme and discuss the performance indicators

Delete: This is a repetition of the employment space indicator

Aim 4:
Performance Indicator

Reason for proposed deletion/new/amendment

Cost of parks and open spaces per capita

Delete: Included in Annual Report

Cost per household of waste and recycling
service

Delete: Included in Annual Report

Page 119
High Peak Borough Council Priority Actions 2022-2023

The remaining Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2022/2023:
Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak

Page 120

•
•
•
•
•
•

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations
Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities improvement plan
Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme
Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy
Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
Implement the Covid 19 Community Recovery Plan

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
• Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care
Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit
Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan
Develop a Joint Venture company with Norse to deliver housing repairs and facilities management
Develop an Access to Services Strategy
Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme
Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy
Develop a new Procurement Strategy

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Develop a new ICT Strategy
Refresh the council's Communication Strategy
Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements
Review the council's Diversity Policies
Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
Implement the Covid 19 : Reinstating Service Plan; Financial Recovery Plan; Positive Legacy Plan
Play an active role within Vision Derbyshire, helping to secure a County Deal with increased freedoms and improved
collaboration

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration

Page 121

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Review the implementation of the Local Plan
Support the development of Glossop Halls
Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme
Develop a Cultural Strategy
Review the Council's Growth strategy
Establish a developer open space contributions plan
Implement the Covid 19 Economic Recovery Plan

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
•
•
•
•

Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including The Crescent and Torr Vale Mill
Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough by working via the One Public Estate project
Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure
Completion of the off- road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington trails

• Bringing additional funding into the Borough
• Enabling high- speed internet across the Borough
• Work with regional partners to extend the Greater Manchester rail offer
Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency

Page 122

• Develop a Parks Development Plan
• Publish part 2 of the Climate Change action plan and commence delivery of the priorities contained within Parts 1
and 2
• Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy
• Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements
We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
• Develop more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road
users
• Encourage local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint

Agenda Item 6
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
7 April 2022

TITLE:

Review of Equality Objectives

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Alan Barrow – Executive
Councillor for Corporate Services and
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER:

Linden Vernon – Head of Democratic
Services

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached: Appendix A - Equality Objectives 2018
Appendix B - Proposed Equality Objectives 2022
Appendix C - IHRA Definition of Antisemitism

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to propose revised Equality Objectives for the
Council and the
adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance
Alliance’s (“IHRA”) definition of antisemitism.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

The following recommendations are made to the Executive:


That the revised Equality Objectives be adopted.



That the IHRA definition of antisemitism, together with its illustrative
examples, be adopted incorporating it as an appendix to the Council’s
Equality and Diversity Policy.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Equality Act 2010 introduced the The Public Sector Equality Duty which
applies to public bodies such as the Council. It supports good decision-making
by ensuring public bodies consider how different people will be affected by
their activities, helping them to deliver policies and services which are efficient
and effective, accessible to all and which meet different people’s needs.

Page 123

Organisations are expected to use this understanding to demonstrate ‘due
regard' to the Public Sector Equality Duty.
3.2

The Equality Duty is supported by specific duties that require public bodies to
publish relevant, proportionate information demonstrating their compliance
with the Equality Duty and to set themselves specific, measurable equality
objectives. The Council’s current Equality Objectives (Appendix A) have to be
reviewed at least every four years.

3.3

In order to undertake this review the Council has used the Local Government
Association’s (LGA) Equality Framework. This sets out four modules for
improvement, underpinned by a range of criteria and practical guidance that
can help a council plan, implement and deliver real equality outcomes for
employees and the community.

3.4

The suggested revised Objectives are detailed in Appendix B to the report and
will be incorporated into service plans to form part of the Council’s overall
performance framework. It is proposed that an annual update on the Council’s
work with regards to equality and diversity be included within the Council’s
Annual Report.

3.5

The report also proposes that the International Holocaust Remembrance
Alliance (IHRA) definition of antisemitism be adopted, together with its
illustrative examples. Adoption of the IHRA definition would bring the Council
into conformity with central government and many other public bodies.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report relates to Corporate Aim 1 - Supporting our communities to create
a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

That the recommendations contained in section 2 of the report be approved
(recommended).
That the recommendations contained in section 2 of the report are not
approved (not recommended).

5.2

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
Complying with the Equality Act 2010 will contribute to achieving increased
safety for the most vulnerable within our communities.

6.2

Workforce

Page 124

The Equality Objectives will supports and enhance the Council’s approach to
providing a modern and diverse workforce.
6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
Undertaking the actions associated with the proposed Equality Objectives will
enable the Council to meet their Equality Duties.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are no direct financial implications outside of current budgets from the
proposals detailed in the report.

6.5

Legal
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the Council to publish Equality
Objectives and report on their achievement.

6.6

Climate Change
The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan includes a commitment to give
priority in responding to climate change to the needs of vulnerable groups who
are most at risk to the adverse effects of climate change, including food and
fuel poverty and lack of access to green space.

6.7

Consultation
The proposed Corporate Equality Objectives provide for consultation with
‘protected groups’.

6.8

Risk Assessment
An effective policy and implemented plan of action will reduce the risk of poor
decision making and legal challenge.
MARK TRILLO
Executive Director (Governance and Commissioning)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Contained in the attached appendices.

Linden Vernon
Head of Democratic Services
Linden.vernon@highpeak.gov. uk
01538 395613

Page 125

7.

Detail

7.1

The Equality Act 2010 replaced previous anti-discrimination laws with a single
Act. It simplified the law, removing inconsistencies and made it easier for
people to understand and comply with. It also strengthened the law in
important ways, to help tackle discrimination and inequality.

7.2

The Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Act) came into force on 5
April 2011. The Equality Duty applies to public bodies such as the Council and
others carrying out public functions. It supports good decision-making by
ensuring public bodies consider how different people will be affected by their
activities, helping them to deliver policies and services which are efficient and
effective, accessible to all and which meet different people’s needs.

7.3

The Equality Duty is supported by specific duties that require public bodies to
publish relevant, proportionate information demonstrating their compliance
with the Equality Duty; and to set themselves specific, measurable equality
objectives.

7.4

This legislation challenges organisations to know how age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion/belief, sex, and sexual orientation describe the experiences of local
communities, both individually and collectively. Thinking about the relationship
between these ‘protected characteristics' explains the difficulties and
opportunities arising from the diversity of local areas.

7.5

Organisations are expected to use this understanding to demonstrate ‘due
regard' to the Public Sector Equality Duty to:




7.6

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the act
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not
Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.

The Council adopted its current Equality and Diversity Policy in 2018. Whilst
this remains up to date it is necessary to review the Council’s Equality
Objectives which were also last agreed in 2018 and have to be reviewed at
least every four years (Appendix A). These included the following actions:





Updating the Council’s Community Profile (a resource which describes the
makeup of our communities by protected characteristics) and promote its
use to services for the purposes of policy development and service
delivery.
Incorporating consideration of equality impacts as part of the introduction of
the report management element of the Council’s committee management
system.
Improving the information held with regards to the profile of the Council’s
workforce (collecting information in relation to protected characteristics).

Page 126

7.7

The specific duties require public bodies to prepare and publish one or more
specific and measurable equality objectives which will help them to further the
three aims of the Equality Duty. In order to undertake this review the Council
has used the Local Government Association’s (LGA) Equality Framework
which was itself reviewed in November 2021. The Framework is intended to
help councils:





7.8

Deliver accessible, inclusive and responsive services to customers and
residents in their communities including those from under- represented
groups.
Employ a workforce that reflects the diversity of the area they are serving.
Provide equality of opportunity for all staff.
Meet the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty and support any
aspirations to exceed these.

The framework sets out four modules for improvement, underpinned by a
range of criteria and practical guidance that can help a council plan, implement
and deliver real equality outcomes for employees and the community. The
four modules are:





Understanding and Working with your Communities
Leadership and Organisational Commitment
Responsive Services and Customer Care
Diverse and Engaged Workforce

7.9

In addition there are three levels of achievement for each module, these being
developing, achieving and excellent.

7.10

Key service areas including Democratic Services, OD and Transformation,
Communities and Climate Change, Service Commissioning and Customer
Services have recently completed a self assessment against the above
modules to establish the Council’s current performance against the LGA
Framework and used this review and identify new equality objectives.

7.11

The suggested revised Objectives are detailed in Appendix B to the report and
will be incorporated into service plans to form part of the Council’s overall
performance framework. An officer group will also be formed that will include
key service areas to drive forward the Council’s work in this field which will be
led by the Executive Director (Governance and Commissioning).

7.12

It is proposed that an annual update on the Council’s work with regards to
equality and diversity be included within the Council’s Annual Report.

7.13

On 12 December 2016, the UK Government formally adopted the International
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance’s (IHRA) working definition of antisemitism
(together with the IHRA ‘illustrative examples’ of antisemitism). Following its
adoption of the definition the UK Government wrote to all local authorities
inviting them to adopt the definition and many have done so.

7.14

Adoption of the definition would signal the Council’s support for the elimination
of antisemitism and its support for individuals who have suffered from it.

Page 127

Through our Community Safety Partnership the Council links to the Police in
relation to hate crime and our current policies cover our equality duties and
Codes of Conduct for staff and councillors.
7.15

There is no specific offence or definition of ‘antisemitism’ in the law of England
and Wales. Instead, offences involving antisemitic hostility are prosecuted
within the framework of the legislation dealing with racially or religiously
aggravated hate crime. Case law has decided that Jews are members of a
racial group and a religious group. The legal framework for hate crime is
contained primarily in the Crime and Disorder Act (CDA) 1998 and the
Criminal Justice Act (CJA) 2003.

7.16

Adoption of the definition, and more specifically the adoption of the IHRA
illustrative examples of antisemitism, has become highly politicised. A number
of organisations and individuals have voiced their concern about a risk that
legitimate criticism of the actions of the Israeli state in the Palestinian
territories could be construed as being antisemitic. Consequently while
accepting the definition some organisations have not adopted the illustrative
examples or have developed their own illustrative examples. There have been
accusations that organisations were being antisemitic by not adopting the
IHRA definition and the associated examples in full.

7.17

Adoption of the IHRA definition would bring the Council into conformity with
central government and many other public bodies.

7.18

It is proposed that the Council should adopt the IHRA definition of
antisemitism, together with its illustrative examples, incorporating it as an
appendix to the Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy. The definition and
examples can then be used as a resource when training staff and councillors.

Page 128

Appendix A
Corporate Equality Objectives 2018/19
High Peak Borough Council & Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Equality & Diversity Scheme: Action Plan 2018/19
Equality Objectives
Action
Knowing our communities
To understand who lives in our
 Update the Community Profile (a
communities and their needs.
resource which describes the makeup
of our borough/district by protected
characteristics) and promote its use to
service managers.
 See also consultation (below)
Place shaping, leadership and commitment
To clearly state our equality priorities and  Ensure that measures are included in
ensure that we have systems in place to
service plans as they are revised and
achieve them.
brought together as an overall plan.
Community engagement and satisfaction
To ensure that we include those with
 Update the consultation forward plans.
‘protected characteristics’ in our
consultation and engagement processes.
Responsive services and Customer care
To ensure that equality performance
 Incorporate consideration of equality
actions are included in service plans and
impacts as part of the Modern Gov.
monitored.
committee management process.
 Train managers to understand the
equality impact assessment process.
A modern and diverse workforce
To ensure that our workforce reflects as
 Pilot the use of a staff profile
far as possible the makeup of the
questionnaire (collecting information in
community we serve and has the
relation to protected characteristics)
necessary skills
and promote to staff.
 Provide equality training for staff.

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Equality Objectives 2022
High Peak Borough Council & Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Equality Objectives

Actions

Understanding and Working with our Communities



Work with partners to update and share
the profile of our communities and use to
inform decision making.
Identify the level of participation in public
life by different communities/protected
characteristics.




Use and analyse data from the Census
2021 to update the current profile.
Work with internal service areas and
partners to ensure efficient collection of
data that avoids duplication.

Leadership and Organisational Commitment



Ensure that the use of Equality Impact
Assessments leads to improved decision
making.
Review partnership working
arrangements with the voluntary and
community sector and the wider
community to ensure that local equality
priorities are addressed.




Review the effectiveness of assessments
used in key decisions and embed specific
actions within service plans.
Corporate and partnership documents
capture the commitment of the organisation
and partners to equality.

Responsive Services and Customer Care



Ensure that systems used to collect,
analyse and measure satisfaction levels
include all sections of the community.
The organisation ensures that
procurement and commissioning
processes and practices take account of
the diverse needs of clients, and that
providers understand the requirements of
the public sector Equality Duty.





Review customer care policies to highlight
the needs of protected groups and review
systems used to measure customer
satisfaction levels.
Guidance is available for suppliers on the
equality requirements for the procurement
and commissioning process.

Diverse and Engaged Workforce




Organise regular assessments of the

training, learning and development needs
of members and officers in order that they 
understand their equality duties and take
action to deliver equality outcomes.
Take steps to consider how equality,
diversity and inclusion issues are linked to
employee health and wellbeing.

Delivery of appropriate training to members
and officers.
The organisation uses workforce data and
other information from staff to determine
what its health and wellbeing priorities are.

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C: IHRA and definition of ant-Semitism
Background:
The IHRA is an intergovernmental body established in Stockholm in 1998. It
comprises 31 member nations whose purpose is to place political and social leaders’
support behind the need for Holocaust education, remembrance and research, both
nationally and internationally. In the spirit of the Stockholm Declaration that states:
“With humanity still scarred by …antisemitism and xenophobia the international
community shares a solemn responsibility to fight those evils” the committee on
Antisemitism and Holocaust Denial called the IHRA Plenary in Budapest 2015 to
adopt the following working definition of antisemitism.
IHRA definition:
“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish
community institutions and religious facilities.”
To guide IHRA in its work, the following examples may serve as illustrations:
Manifestations might include the targeting of the state of Israel, conceived as a
Jewish collectivity. However, criticism of Israel similar to that levelled against any
other country cannot be regarded as antisemitic. Antisemitism frequently charges
Jews with conspiring to harm humanity, and it is often used to blame Jews for “why
things go wrong.” It is expressed in speech, writing, visual forms and action, and
employs sinister stereotypes and negative character traits.
Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, schools, the
workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the overall context,
include, but are not limited to:


Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name of a
radical ideology or an extremist view of religion.



Making mendacious, dehumanizing, demonizing, or stereotypical allegations
about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective — such as, especially
but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish conspiracy or of Jews
controlling the media, economy, government or other societal institutions.



Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for acts
committed by non-Jews.



Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or intentionality of
the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of National Socialist Germany
and its supporters and accomplices during World War II (the Holocaust).

Page 133



Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or
exaggerating the Holocaust.



Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged
priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations.



Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by claiming
that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavour.



Applying double standards by requiring of it a behaviour not expected or
demanded of any other democratic nation.



Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism (e.g.,
claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterize Israel or Israelis.



Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis.



Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel.

https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-antisemitism

Page 134

Agenda Item 7

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive
7 April 2022
TITLE:

Revised Private Sector Housing Renewal
Assistance Policy 2021-26

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Sloman – Executive Councillor for
Housing and Licensing

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mike Towers, Senior Housing Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

All Wards

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1 – High Peak Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy
2021-26

1.

Reason for the Report: To present to the Executive the draft revised
Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy for High Peak Borough
Council following public consultation.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

To recommend that the Executive approves the revised High Peak Private
Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy for 2021-26.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

High Peak Borough Council is required to publish a policy that outlines how
the local housing authority will comply with their obligations under the Housing
Regulatory Reform Orders and the Housing Act 2004 to provide housing
renewal interventions for the maintenance of the private sector housing stock
and enforcement of their legal obligations.
3.1.1 The Housing Regulatory Reform Order 1994 requires that local
authorities publish a policy on their interventions in the private housing

Page 135

sector in order to maintain and improve as necessary the housing stock
in their area.
3.1.2 The Housing Act 2004 requires local authorities to also publish their
enforcement policy for the application of their legal powers and duties.
3.2

Local Authorities are required to review their Private Sector Housing Policies
from time to time to ensure that they reflect current housing regulation and
guidance and current trends in housing renewal. The Policy was last reviewed
in 2016, and the current revised Policy is intended, on implementation, to
determine the Council’s regulatory and discretionary interventions in respect of
the private sector housing stock for the next 5 years.

3.3

The draft Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy was circulated to
High Peak members in December 2021 as an Information Digest as a
precursor to the launch of the public consultation. The public consultation was
subsequently launched on 7th January 2022 and ran to 4 th March 2022, and at
the same time the draft policy was sent directly to a number of external
stakeholders, as detailed in Section 4 of the Policy. The public consultation
was supplemented by a press release and promotion on the Council’s Social
Media platforms.

3.4

On conclusion of the consultation period, the Council had received one formal
response from High Peak Access, which welcomed the additional assistance
for people living with disability in the High Peak area and offered a forum in
which our organisations could work together to expand the adaptation offer.
No changes were proposed to the draft Policy itself.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

Aim 1 High Peak - Supporting our communities to create a healthier,
safer, cleaner High Peak.

4.2

Aim 4 High Peak– To protect and improve the environment including
responding to the climate emergency.

5.

Implications
5.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
There is an established link between poor housing conditions and
the prevalence of neighbourhood anti-social behaviour (ASB).
Improvement of housing conditions in the private rental sector in
particular should therefore contribute to reduced casual
neighbourhood ASB.

5.2

Workforce

Page 136

The implementation of the Policy will fall to the existing Housing
Standards Enforcement Team in Environmental Health, in
partnership with other services and external agencies.
5.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.
In particular, the Policy is designed to focus on vulnerable tenants
in private sector accommodation, and people living with disability in
our community.

5.4

Financial Considerations
Elements of the Policy are dependent on the availability of grant
funding, internally from the Council’s resources and externally
through funding streams such as the Better Care Fund. Variations
in the availability or value of the funding streams may affect the
ability to deliver non-mandatory schemes.

5.5

Legal
It is a duty that local authorities publish a policy on their
interventions in the private housing sector in order to maintain and
improve as necessary the housing stock in their area, and also that
the local authority publish their enforcement policy for the
application of their legal powers and duties.

5.6

Climate Change
The provisions of the Policy are intended to deal with the issues
relating to poor housing in the Borough over the next 5 years, with
a particular focus on long-term improvements in property condition
and energy efficiency, along with improvements allowing people
living with disability to remain living independently in their own
homes.

5.7

Consultation
The Policy has been widely consulted on, both internally and
externally, during the consultation period in order to meet our legal
obligations.

5.8

Risk Assessment
The Policy is a requirement set out in legislation, but wherever
appropriate the content has been reviewed to ensure compliance
with relevant health and safety requirements.

Page 137

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) and Monitoring Officer
Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Draft Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1411/Consultations

Contact details

Mike Towers
Senior Housing Officer

Revised Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy 2021-26
Appendix 1
6.

Detail

6.1

The Regulatory Reform Order 1994 re-defined the landscape in which local
authorities intervene in the private housing sector. The Order was instrumental
in dismantling the previous grant-heavy private sector renewal programmes
following the withdrawal of the majority of government funding for large scale
renewal and private property renovation. The Order stated that local
authorities were no longer required to make grant funding available, but
instead were to produce Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policies
outlining their approach to renewal, the interventions they would make and the
priorities for doing so.
6.1.1 Since the Order took effect, High Peak has produced three Renewal
Policies, the last one being in 2016.
6.1.2 Since the formation of the Alliance and the closer working relationships
between housing services serving the High Peak and Staffordshire
Moorlands, and further to the closer alignment of the two Council’s
Corporate Priorities, the current revisions include reference to crosscouncil initiatives and have regularised the intervention and
enforcement processes across the Housing Services.

6.2

The Housing Act 2004 brought in a requirement that local authorities must also
publish their Housing Enforcement Policy, so that their use of the range of
legal powers introduced by the Act was clear, open and transparent. The
current revised Policy includes the Housing Enforcement Policy as an
appendix to the main document.

6.3

The majority of the content of the revised Policy has been reviewed and
updated where appropriate, and the opportunity has been taken to revise the
format of the Policy so that the focus is on the aims, objectives and priorities of
the interventions, and the detail of the specific methods of intervention have
been included as appendices. This has made the documents more logical and
makes reference to specific interventions much easier.

6.4

There have been some changes to the Policy to align across the Alliance
Councils where possible and address any inconsistencies around assistance
and enforcement. Some of the main changes are highlighted below:

Page 138

6.4.1 The section relating to Landlord Accreditation has been revised to
reflect the fact that neither local authority now operate a local
accreditation scheme, and where there is alternative provision,
landlords are advised of other schemes available.
6.4.2 The section relating to Disabled Facilities Grants has been re-written to
reflect the current arrangements at each Council and to bring the
arrangements for registering local land charges and recovering grant
funding into line with the wider policies across Derbyshire and
Staffordshire. This section has also been revised to include a suite of
discretionary adaptation grants, designed to address some of the
shortcomings in the mandatory regulated scheme, particularly with
regard to means testing and top-up funding but also including
assistance to move house where adaptations are unfeasible and to
apply a holistic approach to home improvements for persons living with
disability.
6.4.3 In relation to the mandatory and discretionary Adaptation Grants
outlined in Appendix A of the Policy, changes to some of the grant
values are proposed to reflect current intelligence regarding increasing
costs of materials (at present, timber and glass are escalating quite
significantly and there is evidence to suggest that other building
materials are becoming more scarce and costly) and overall quotes for
larger scale complex adaptations involving property extension. It is
proposed that the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant limit is increased
from £35,000 to £45,000 and that the discretionary Adaptation Grant is
set at a level of £20,000, with an option for the Head of Environmental
Health to consider an application for a greater sum in severe hardship
cases based on the individual circumstances of the client. The level of
funding for the Safe and Secure Adaptation Grant is proposed to be set
at a maximum of £10,000.
6.4.4 The provision for other grant funding programmes has been rationalised
to reflect the current realities of the resources available to the Council,
so reference to Decent Homes grant funding has been removed from
the current Policy. The Home Repairs Assistance Grant has been
retained as it is planned to provide some limited funding for assisting
vulnerable residents to heat and insulate their homes, and for helping
the owners of empty properties to bring the properties back into use.
6.5

The section on Home Energy Efficiency and Affordable Warmth under
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ASSISTANCE AND INITIATIVES in Section 7
of the revised Policy has been re-written to reflect the current moves towards
enforcing minimum standards of energy efficiency in the private rented sector
and how the housing service can contribute to the overall climate change
agenda.

6.6

A copy of the revised Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy is
appended for consideration. The Executive is recommended to approve the

Page 139

revised Assistance Policy so that it can be implemented for the new financial
year commencing 1st April 2022.

Page 140

Rev 4: Issued 2022

Private Sector Housing Renewal
Assistance Policy

2021 - 2026

Page 141

CONTENTS
PAGE

1.0

Introduction

1

2.0

Links to National, Regional and Corporate Objectives and
Strategies

4

3.0

Working in Partnership

8

4.0

Consultation

9

5.0

Principles and Priorities of the Policy

10

6.0

Reviewing the Policy

17

7.0

Housing Interventions and Initiatives

18

8.0

Enforcement

27

9.0

Advice

28

10.0

Comments and Complaints about the Policy

29

11.0

Appeals

30

Appendix A : Disabled Facilities Grants

31

Appendix C : Home Repair Assistance

43

Appendix C : Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

45

Page 142

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

1.0

INTRODUCTION



The Council delivers its private sector housing responsibilities principally through the
Environmental Health Service, with input across a range of other Council Services
including Regeneration, Community Safety, Licensing, Planning and Development
Control Services. The private sector housing function is delivered in accordance with
the Council’s Corporate Plan, and one of the Council’s corporate aims is ‘To help
create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work’ with the
key underlying objective of developing a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve
conditions for homeowners and private tenants. The Council also aims ‘To protect and
improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency’ and as part of that
aim this Policy is intended to link in with the development of a Climate Change Strategy
and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency.



Private Sector Housing comprises the following areas:












Stock Condition
Disabled Facilities Grants and other related corporate capital programmes
Empty Properties
Private Rented Sector Enforcement
Area Renewal
Housing and Health
Houses in multiple occupation
Decent Homes
Affordable Housing
Energy Efficiency
Anti-social Behaviour in the private sector



These areas of service are enacted under a range of legislation, including the
Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, which set
a new policy framework for enforcing housing standards and for providing housing
financial assistance to repair, improve or adapt private sector housing.



Enforcement action is also pursued under a variety of housing and environmental
health legislation, enabling the Service to take measures to deal with disrepair by
serving notices, and undertaking works in default where necessary.



The links between private sector housing and the Council’s corporate priorities are
quite clear and there are also links to other corporate Strategies and Policies, including



Affordable Housing and Homelessness



Affordable Housing and Viability Assessment



Gypsy and traveller accommodation assessment



High Peak Local Plan Viability Study



High Peak Local Plan Viability Study



Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)



Strategic Housing Market Assessment

Page
1 143

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


Strategic Housing Needs Survey



Home Energy Conservation Act 1995



Empty Property Strategy 2017 [490KB]



Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018-2022 [453KB]



High Peak Supplementary Planning Document - Housing need in High Peak 2007
[480KB]



The Council’s private sector housing service operates within a rapidly changing
national legislative and budgetary environment. This means that the nature, shape and
focus of the service is likely to continue to shift over the coming years.



The Council’s Housing Renewal Policy outlines the principles by which High Peak
Borough Council will assist owner-occupiers, and tenants and landlords in the private
sector, with housing renewal in compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Housing
Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, which came into force on 18 July 2002
and the changes introduced by the Housing Act 2004 in April 2006. High Peak Borough
Council retains it’s own Housing Stock and as such property interventions in council
properties are carried out through other mechanisms within the local authority.



The Regulatory Reform Order repealed much of the previous prescriptive range of
home improvement grants, together with the associated detailed rules, procedures and
conditions. The exception to this is the system of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants
(DFGs).



DFGs are mandatory grants and when an eligible person applies the authority has a
statutory duty to award a DFG where the qualifying criteria are met. The legislative
changes identified in the National Strategy for Housing in an Ageing Society and
subsequent government publications have allowed the Council a degree of policy
flexibility in relation to the provision of disabled facilities.



Instead of the previous prescriptive grant system, the Council has a general power to
provide grants, loans, advice, and materials or to directly carry out works, for the
purpose of repairing, improving, extending, converting or adapting housing
accommodation. The Council has discretion to decide on the availability and rates of
grant, grant conditions and all other such issues.



The Housing Act 2004 introduced new methods of assessing housing standards
through the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS), a single housing
standards enforcement framework and the mandatory licensing of certain types of
houses in multiple occupation.



This represented a fundamental change in the nature of the Council’s involvement with
private sector housing renewal. It is set within a wider context, including




The Council’s overarching housing strategies
The Council’s Corporate Plan
The aspiration for decent housing

Page 144
2

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


The modernisation agenda and organisational change, for example, Home
Improvement Agencies delivering a one-stop holistic advice and assistance service
to vulnerable and elderly residents

Page
3 145

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

2.0

LINKS TO NATIONAL, REGIONAL AND CORPORATE OBJECTIVES
AND STRATEGIES



In line with Government guidance the Council has aligned its Housing Renewal Policy
with wider strategic objectives; working with local partners; evidence based strategies
and policies. In addition, the Council has determined appropriate priorities, for
example, client based and area based approaches.



This Housing Renewal Policy forms an integral part of the Council’s wider housing
strategy and through it, links with corporate objectives.

2.1.

The Corporate Plan

The Corporate Plan sets out the vision for the High Peak and all its citizens.
The plans aims and priorities lie at the heart of all the Council’s work and are a constant
theme running through the development and implementation of the Housing Renewal
Assistance Policy. The principal aims relating to the Renewal Assistance Policy include
the provision of quality services in partnership with communities and to protect and
improve the environment.
2.2

Housing Strategy

The overarching housing strategy principles set out to address the key priorities for
housing in High Peak:
The Council will endeavour to work with stakeholder partners to deliver the following
objectives:


New housing that meets the needs of local people, that is both affordable and of
an appropriate design to secure the long term flexibility of the housing stock



Provide in association with specialist providers, supported housing schemes that
reflect the expressed need of the local population



Good quality and variety of accommodation across all tenures of the housing
stock



Provide assistance, advice and other services for individuals and families to
access housing appropriate to their needs, circumstances and aspirations



Ensure that older and vulnerable people receive targeted assistance to ensure
that they benefit from the above and in particular can access services linked to
their particular needs.

Page 146
4

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

2.3 Other local strategic initiatives
Within the Borough, the Housing Renewal Assistance Policy has been developed within
the context of:
•
•
•
•

The Community Strategy
The Corporate Plan.
Other related Housing Strategies and Plans.
The Local Development Framework

2.4 Regional Strategic context
Within the regional context the Housing Renewal Assistance Policy has been specifically
informed by the Regional Housing Strategy and the East Midlands Regional Planning
Guidance, both of which place emphasis on urban and rural renaissance and identify the
key policy issues for housing as being:
•
•
•
•
•

Housing Market Renewal
Economic development
House conditions
Housing choice
Local housing need

2.5 National Strategic context
The Housing Green Paper “Quality and Choice - A Decent Home for All” was published in
April 2000. This formed the basis of the subsequent consultation paper on the reform of
housing renewal legislation, and outlined several priorities including:




Making it work locally - the importance of local delivery of housing policies
tailored to local circumstances.
Encouraging sustainable home ownership - developing a framework where
owners can afford the commitments of ownership in the long term.
Promoting a healthy private rented sector - encouraging new investment and
tackling problems at the bottom end of the sector.

The consultation resulted in the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and
Wales) Order 2002, which introduced a new general power enabling local authorities to
provide assistance for housing renewal, and required a published policy to be in place in
order to provide assistance after 18 th July 2003.
The Order introduced a wide discretionary power to allow local authorities to provide a
range of financial and other assistance for repairs, improvements and adaptations. The
new powers also allow assistance to be given to enable homeowners to move to more
suitable accommodation if it is not cost-effective to renovate the existing property. The
intention was to allow greater flexibility and discretion in delivering housing renewal to
address local needs.

Page
5 147

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
The Government’s view is that the responsibility for maintaining privately owned property
should rest primarily with the homeowner. In some circumstances however, help in the
form of grants or loans may be needed to assist in carrying out essential repairs or
improvements. The new legislation allows local authorities to target help to those who
need it most, and to encourage more effective use of resources.

The Housing Act 2004 came into force in April 2006, and the Housing Renewals
Assistance Policy takes account of the Council’s powers and duties under the Act. These
include:





A Housing Health and Safety Rating System to replace the housing fitness
standard, which involves a assessment of the risk and severity of a range of
hazards, taking into account vulnerable occupants.
Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) with mandatory licensing for
larger, higher-risk HMOs and discretionary powers to license smaller, multipleoccupied properties.
Powers to selectively license private landlords to tackle low housing demand
and the difficulties of anti-social behaviour.
Powers to apply for an Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order where a
dwelling has been vacant long-term, which can be considered as part of the
Councils Empty Property Strategy.

More recently, the government has introduced new legislation to address specific electrical
and energy efficiency issues within the PRS.
The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020


These Regulations impose duties on private landlords of residential premises in
England in respect of electrical safety standards. The duties do not apply to
landlords of social housing. The Regulations require local housing authorities to
enforce the duties, and include a power to arrange remedial action. the main aim is
to ensure that electrical systems are maintained in a safe and efficient condition for
the benefit of tenants.

The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015


came into force on 1st October 2016, and applies to domestic private rented
property, and to non-domestic private rented property (that is property which is let
under a tenancy and is not a dwelling). It prescribes a minimum level of energy
efficiency for private rented properties: that is, an energy performance indicator
(evidenced on the energy performance certificate for the property) of band E. The
main aim is to improve the standard of energy efficiency and performance in the
PRS.

Additional key national issues underpinning and influencing the policy are:





Housing Market Renewal
The Supporting People Initiative
Planning Policy Guidance for Housing
The UK Fuel Poverty Strategy.

Page 148
6

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

Page
7 149

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

3.0

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP



Since April 2003, local authority housing services and social services have been
required to work in partnership with other stakeholders to address the needs of
vulnerable people.



Through the Council’s Home Improvement Agency service provider and in
partnership with Derbyshire County Council, a wide range of advice, support and
assistance is provided to elderly, disabled and vulnerable people who privately rent
or who own their property, enabling them to remain living independently in their
homes.



Working in partnership with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service to ensure good
and safe standards in privately rented accommodation within the private rented
sector (PRS).



Working in partnership with the University of Derby and Leek College to promote
good and safe standards in privately rented student accommodation.



Disabled Facilities Grants are, in the main, a mandatory entitlement and their
administration requires a joint approach between the Council and Derbyshire
County Council’s Adult Care and Children’s Services and the Disability and Design
Team.

Page 150
8

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

4.0

CONSULTATION

The first Renewal Policy was originally produced in discussion with the neighbouring local
authorities. This was to take into account the common characteristics and problems of the
sub-region. It also enabled the sharing of costs and expertise in developing new policy
tools. However, for ease of approval and adoption, each local authority area has adopted
its own policy, albeit offering similar and complementary forms of assistance.
As well as neighbouring local authorities, the policy has been developed in consultation
with local Home Improvement Agencies, has gone through the consultation process with
the Local Strategic Partnership, and has been approved by the political process.
This process will be ongoing and will therefore allow the policy to be reviewed and
updated periodically to take account of changing circumstances, and new forms of
assistance to be incorporated.
Consultation has also been carried out with the following specific stakeholders prior to
seeking the approval of the Executive for the adoption of this revised policy:








Members of the Alliance Management Team
Heads of Service
Community Safety and Climate Change Manager
Executive Member for Housing
Derbyshire County Council
Clinical Commissioning Group
Derbyshire District and Borough Councils

Consultation was also carried out with other external stakeholders, including Foundations
and Care and Repair England.
A draft of this revised policy was also placed on the Council’s website for public
consultation.

Page
9 151

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

5.0

PRINCIPLES AND PRIORITIES OF THE POLICY



The Government has made it clear that responsibility to maintain private property rests
firmly with the owner. Therefore it is not desirable for the Council to seek to offer
assistance for all private sector housing problems. In addition the current public
expenditure on private sector housing renewal does not in itself address the problem of
disrepair. Owners need to take more responsibility for maintaining their homes.



The Council does recognise that the private sector housing stock is a major local asset.
For this reason the Council will seek to offer assistance as a form of investment for
long-term public benefit as well as to directly assist vulnerable groups to remain in their
own homes.



The current legislation gives the Council the opportunity to develop a framework for
providing housing assistance for homeowners to improve or repair living
accommodation.



The total amount of assistance that can be offered is directly related to the levels of
funding that are available. The Council will work to ensure that it levers in the
maximum amount of finance from all sectors to make the best improvement in private
sector housing conditions that it can. To this end the Housing Renewal Policy will be
reviewed regularly to report on and reflect the kind of funding that is available.



Within the High Peak, there are no large-scale areas of housing disrepair. Properties
in poor repair tend to be scattered around the district, either individually or in small
pockets. The Government’s current criteria for identifying renewal areas are
prohibitive in terms of the Council being able to target grant aid through ‘group repairs’
and other improvement approaches. A Policy that is based on large-scale area
renewal approach is therefore inappropriate.



The Council is committed to the collection of housing data through the commissioning
of local house condition surveys from time-to-time. The most recent inspection-based
survey was completed in 2009, and highlighted the following principle issues that
provided a background for the policy:


A significant number of vacant properties.



A significant number of residents requiring adaptations to their homes.



There are no areas of concentration of non-decent housing in the borough.

A recent partnership between the Derbyshire Local Authorities and Derby City Council
resulted in a desktop Stock Condition Survey for High Peak which reported in 2019. The
principal findings are shown in the following tables;

Page 10
152

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

Page
11 153

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

To complement and inform the local housing data, information from the English Housing
Surveys covering the national housing picture is also taken into account to provide
context.
The most recent English Housing Survey was conducted in 2019-20 and the headline
report shows the following trends in private and social sector housing;









While owner occupation rates did not increase between 2018-19 and 2019-20,
rates are up from 2016-17.
The proportion of households in the private rented sector has decreased since
2016-17 but did not change between 2018-19 and 2019-20. In 2019-20, the private
rented sector accounted for 4.4 million or 19% of households in England,
unchanged from 2018-19, but lower than in 2016-17 (20%). This is largely
explained by a decrease in the proportion of households in the private rented sector
from its peak of 19% in 2016-17 to 17% in 2019-20.
The proportion of households in the social rented sector has not changed for
more than a decade.
Overcrowding remains at the highest rate seen in the social rented sector and
has reached its highest level in the private rented sector. In 2019-20, 9% of social
renters and 7% of private renters lived in overcrowded accommodation.
Overcrowding is less prevalent among owner occupiers, 1% of whom live in
overcrowded accommodation.
Over the last 20 years, under-occupation – i.e. having two or more spare
bedrooms – increased for owner occupiers and declined for renters. However,
under-occupation has increased in the social rented sector in recent years.
In general, social renters have lower levels of well-being and are more likely to
be lonely than home owners and private renters.

Page 12
154

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25






On average, owner occupied homes are larger and are more likely to have
outside space than rented homes.
There remains a lower proportion of non-decent homes in the social sector
than in the private rented and owner occupied sectors.
Over the last decade, the proportion of homes with HHSRS Category 1 hazards
has declined across all tenures. In 2019, 10% of the housing stock had a HHSRS
Category 1 hazard, down from 21% in 2009. Such hazards are more prevalent in
the private rented sector (13%) than the owner occupied (10%) or social rented
sectors (5%).
The energy efficiency of the English housing stock has continued to improve. In
2019, the average SAP rating of English dwellings was 65 points, up from 63 points
in 2009. This was evident in all tenures apart from local authority dwellings, where
there was no significant increase.

On this basis our current priorities for the deployment of assistance have been devised as
follows:
5.1

Property-based priorities

There will be some particular property types where specific assistance may need to be
directed because of their particular characteristics. Examples of these are (but not
exclusively) the properties set out below:




Certain system-built properties;
Privately owned properties situated within social housing estates;
Empty residential or commercial properties;
Accommodation above shops where conversion would provide
accommodation.

residential

5.2 Tenure-based priorities
Within the overarching area-based priority system, the priority tenure for any financial
assistance will in the main be the owner-occupier. This is because other tenures have
other sources of funding, and private landlords would generally be expected to invest in
their properties from their own resources. Exceptions to this, subject to resources, would
be properties in areas defined in need of significant help through refurbishment where
the priority would be to improve whole blocks of properties, irrespective of tenure.
Additionally, subject to resources, as part of a programme to enforce good standards of
landlord practice, assistance may be available in certain circumstances to encourage
landlords to carry out improvements to upgrade the heating, security and fire safety of
their properties. Also specific assistance may be directed toward improving the quality of
privately rented accommodation by encouraging the conversion of bed-sit
accommodation into self-contained flats.
5.3 Needs-based priorities
Irrespective of area-based priorities, there will always be a need to ensure that the most
vulnerable households are living in safe accommodation. The Policy therefore includes
for the potential provision of limited repairs for those who are unable to carry out

Page
13 155

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
essential work to their homes, assistance for those in need of disabled facilities, work to
facilitate hospital discharge and provision of additional thermal comfort.
Disabled Facilities Grants will continue to be provided to adapt the homes of disabled
people so that their needs are met. Typical works include the installation of stair lifts and
bathroom adaptations. The Council works closely with our partner agencies in the public
and private sector in order to ensure that the best possible service is offered. Full details
are provided in Appendix A.
The priorities for assistance set out in this Policy have been informed by previous
renewal approaches. It must be noted that there is no obligation on the Council to
provide any capital funding for assistance outside of the mandatory DFG process, and
so all references to financial assistance are dependent on the availability of resources
and any assistance is at the discretion of the local authority.
In addition to the priorities relating to capital assistance, the Council has also set several
enforcement priorities in order to balance private sector growth with decent standards of
accommodation for tenants and other householders.
5.4 Addressing Category 1 Hazards
The Housing Act 2004 changed the way in which local authorities enforce housing
standards. The long-established fitness standard was replaced by a system called the
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). Under this system any housing
defects have to be considered in relation to 29 separate hazards and a process
undertaken to determine how likely the hazards are to result in harm. A score is allocated
and action may be taken depending upon which category the hazard falls into. Some
form of enforcement action must be taken for category 1 hazards, whereas enforcement
action is discretionary for category 2 hazards.
High Peak Borough Council will use the full range of enforcement tools to ensure that
hazards are remedied in the most appropriate manner, in line with the specific private
sector housing enforcement policy set out in Appendix C.
5.5

Empty Properties

Empty properties often attract vandalism, crime, and rubbish dumping and can easily
become detrimental to the amenity of an area. They are also a waste of valuable housing
accommodation. Within the District there are approximately 300 long-term empty
properties going to waste every year (long-term is defined as empty for more than 6
consecutive months). Their re-use can reduce pressure for development on Greenfield
sites and contribute towards sustainable development. In order to deal with these issues
as effectively as possible, the Council will assess all reported empty properties to
determine the type of intervention that would be appropriate, and where enforcement
action is required will use the full range of enforcement tools to try and secure the re-use
of empty property, including the provision of advice, the use of Empty Dwelling
Management Orders and, where appropriate, the use of compulsory purchase powers. All
activities will be informed by the Council’s Empty Property Strategy 2017.

Page 14
156

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
5.6 Dealing with local Housing issues such as Radon
Radon in housing is a particular problem in the High Peak with much of the southern part
of the District being declared a radon affected area, meaning that 20% or more of
properties can be expected to have radon levels above the action level of 200Bq/m3. In
some of these areas more than 40% of properties are affected in this way. New radon
maps have also highlighted potential radon issues scattered throughout the High Peak.
Whilst a large number of properties have been tested for radon it has proved difficult to
persuade householders to carry out remedial works to proof their properties against the
gas. The Council will use a combination of advice and enforcement powers in order to
encourage householders to undertake these works where there is an identifiable health
risk to occupants, particularly those living in long term rented accommodation.
5.7 Enabling Decent Homes for Vulnerable Households
The Decent Homes Standard was and aspirational standard originally introduced to assist
local authorities and registered social landlords in targeting resources in respect of their
own stocks. A target was set to ensure that all social housing met the Standard by 2010.
This target was extended in 2002 to include the aim of increasing the proportion of private
housing in decent condition occupied by vulnerable groups. In this case a vulnerable
household is defined as one that is in receipt of one or more of the principal means-tested
or disability related benefits.
In 2009, the Council’s Stock Condition Survey found that over 80% of private homes in the
borough met the decent homes target, and the Decent Homes Grant scheme had made a
significant contribution based on the previous Stock Condition Survey findings in 2003 that
only 63% of private homes in the High Peak met the standard. As a result of using
government grant funding to target non-decent vulnerable housing between 2009 - 2010
the Government’s target that 70% of vulnerable households in the private sector should
live in decent housing by 2010 was met.
The English Housing Survey 2019-20 shows that in 2019, 17% or 4.1 million homes failed
to meet the Decent Homes Standard, down from 30% or 6.7 million homes in 2009.Private
rented dwellings had the highest proportion of non-decent homes (23%) while the social
rented sector had the lowest (12%). Among owner occupied homes, 16% failed to meet
the Decent Homes Standard in 2019.
The High Peak Stock Condition Survey 2019 showed that in High Peak the number of
private sector homes not meeting the Decent Homes Standard is estimated to be
approximately 11,070 (29.3% of all private sector homes). This is greater than the national
figure but suggests that, on average, High Peak homes still achieve an overall level of
decency in over 70% of the private sector stock. However, this means that levels of nondecency in the High Peak have increased in the last decade and that around 30% of
households still live in non-decent housing, and this will include a significant number of
vulnerable households in both privately owned and privately rented accommodation.
The distribution of non-decent homes throughout the borough, as might be expected is not
uniform, instead being more concentrated in the wards of Limestone Peak (43.1%), Sett
(39.6%), St John’s (39.4%) and Buxton Central (38.8%). These are also the wards with the
greatest proportion of older homes built before 1918, and this is in large part the reason for
the increase in non-decency – older, harder to heat homes with increasing elements of
disrepair over time.
Page
15 157

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
In order to meet the Decent Homes Standard a property must:





Be free of Category 1 Hazards under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System
Be in a reasonable state of repair;
Have reasonably modern facilities and services;
Provide a reasonable degree of thermal comfort.

A mixture of tools will be used to meet this priority. Enforcement action will be used in
accordance with the Housing Enforcement Policy to remedy any category 1 hazards found
under the HHSRS. Enforcement action will also be considered where category 2 hazards
are found, depending on the individual circumstances of the case.
The Council will also use any available housing assistance resources to remedy the
private sector homes of vulnerable households that do not meet the Decent Homes
Standard. In the main it is expected that this will be by remedying items of disrepair,
although financial assistance may also be made available to help householders whose
homes contain category 1 hazards under the HHSRS. It must be noted that there is no
obligation on the Council to provide any capital funding for home repair assistance and so
all references to financial assistance are dependent on the availability of resources and
any assistance is at the discretion of the local authority.

This Policy sets out the mechanisms by which the Council will achieve these priorities and
outlines the general procedures to be followed. The detailed procedures and conditions
are contained in the appendices to this Policy. In this way it will be easier to add, amend
and remove mechanisms as they are developed or taken out of use.
In addition the Council will respond to other local housing problems as appropri ate and
amend this Policy to ensure that its actions are effective in tackling them as they emerge.

Page 16
158

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

6.0


REVIEWING THE POLICY

This Policy will be reviewed formally every five years to ensure that it remains
responsive to local needs and makes best use of any funding that might become
available. However, the Policy is a ‘live’ document and it is intended that the
mechanisms by which the Council offers assistance will be under development
throughout the life of the Policy. The modular nature of the appendices will enable the
removal and addition of ways of offering assistance as new mechanisms become
available and are tested and as such revisions may be made at any time, subject to
consultation and publication.

Page
17 159

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

7.0

HOUSING INTERVENTIONS AND INITIATIVES

GRANT ASSISTANCE
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT


Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are available to assist with the cost of adaptations
for disabled people residing in private sector housing and those resident within
Housing Association/Registered Social Landlord property. In the main, the grants are
a mandatory entitlement and their administration requires a joint approach between the
Council, Derbyshire County Council’s Adult Care and Children’s Services and Disability
and Design Team. Full details are given in Appendix A.



High Peak Borough Council maintains its own Housing Stock, and so adaptations for
tenants of council-owned properties are funded from a different local authority capital
programme. Government regulation of the mandatory disabled facilities grant fund
does not permit local authorities to use the government’s mandatory funding to adapt
their own properties.



The level of grant aid provided and the scale of adaptation works undertaken vary
widely from case to case. Typically, grant aid can range from as little as £1000 for
works such as the provision of ramped access to external entrances to a maximum of
£35,000 for building extensions or making major changes to bathrooms and bedrooms.
Current Position





The Council has benefited from a growth in the allocation of funding from the Better
Care Fund for DFGs over recent years. In the last 5 years, the High Peak funding
allocation has almost doubled.
.
The steady increase in the funding available has meant that the Council has been able
to respond very quickly once Social Services’ assessments are in place, and
customers have expressed a high degree of satisfaction with all aspects of the service
received. This has also been confirmed by our service provider’s Best Value Surveys
of customers receiving adaptations to their homes. Within High Peak the private sector
adaptations programme is managed such that there is currently no waiting list for adult
applicants once a full application is submitted to the Council for approval. Children’s
cases, however, are often significantly more complex and the County Council are
experiencing a backlog of cases as a result.



In 2020/21, we helped 39 people to remain living independently in their own homes
through the provision of DFGs.



In early 2022, the Council will introduce a suite of discretionary adaptation grant
options to complement its work in providing mandatory DFG’s. In partnership with its
supporting agencies the Council will pursue the extension of adaptation funding to a
much wider section of the disabled community, including community-run premises that
work to assist and support those living with disability. Details of the discretionary grant
options are given in Appendix A.

Page 18
160

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
DECENT HOMES
Decent Homes Grants were originally introduced in 2006 with central government funding,
and were intended to assist specified groups of vulnerable householders in the private
sector to maintain their homes in line with the Decent Homes Standard. They were used
to ensure that homes do not contain category 1 hazards, are in a reasonable state of
repair and contain reasonably modern facilities and services.
In 2009, the Council’s Stock Condition Survey found that just under 80% of private homes
in the borough met the decent homes target, and the Decent Homes Grant scheme had
made a significant contribution based on the previous Stock Condition Survey findings in
2003 that only 63% of private homes in the High Peak met the standard. The Government
concluded the Decent Homes programme in 2010, and as a consequence the High Peak
Scheme was closed.
The Council continues to take an interest in the condition of it’s private sector stock, and
the Decent Homes Standard is still an aspirational standard. It is unlikely that the
government will introduce further funding for grants aimed at improving properties given
that no funding has been made available for the last 10 years, and so the Decent Homes
Grant option has been removed from this version of the Housing Renewal Policy.
HOME REPAIRS ASSISTANCE GRANT
The aim of this type of assistance is to ensure that the most vulnerable householders living
in the worst conditions receive help to ensure that their homes are safe to live in.
Examples of qualifying works are as follows:





General items of essential repair;
Replacement of lead water pipes;
Radon remedial works;
Energy efficiency works (see below).

Grants are offered subject to the availability of funding and resources, and at the discretion
of the Council. Full details of the grant, eligibility and conditions are given at Appendix B

HOUSING RENEWAL
SLUM CLEARANCE (INCLUDING DEMOLITION AND CLOSING ORDERS)


In exceptional circumstances it may be necessary to take enforcement action. In such
circumstances the Council must have regard to the provisions of the Housing Act 1985
and the Housing Act 2004 in deciding whether the most satisfactory course of action in
respect of premises that have been identified as unsuitable for human habitation is:



Closure – making of a Prohibition order in accordance with section 20 of the Housing
Act 2004: or



Demolition – making of a demolition order in accordance with subsection (1) or (2) of
Section 265 of the Housing Act 1985 as amended by the Housing Act 2004

Page
19 161

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


Clearance – the declaration of the area in which the premises are situated to be a
clearance area in accordance with Section 289 of the Housing Act 1985 as amended
by the Housing Act 2004

RENEWAL AREAS


The Government’s current criteria for declaring renewal areas have been prohibitive in
terms of the Council being able to target grant aid through group repair and other area
improvement approaches.



The High Peak does not suffer from well-defined, large-scale areas of housing
disrepair. Properties in poor repair tend to be scattered around the district, either
individually or in small pockets. For this reason it is difficult to adopt a Policy that is
based on a large-scale area renewal approach (which is not to say that small ‘group
repair’ schemes would not be appropriate in certain circumstances). The Council is
committed to the collection of housing data through the commissioning of local house
condition surveys from time-to-time. The last local inspection-based survey was
completed in 2009 and the most up to date Housing data is provided by the desktop
Stock Condition Survey for High Peak in 2019 and the English Housing Survey last
completed in 2019-20 This Policy has been reviewed in light of the findings of all such
surveys, particularly in relation to the absence of an area-based approach.



Within the private rented sector, where the co-operation of landlords is not forthcoming,
it may be necessary to take appropriate enforcement action under Part 1 of the
Housing Act 2004, in accordance with the provisions of the HHSRS and the
Enforcement Policy set out in Appendix C of this document.

Page 20
162

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ASSISTANCE AND INITIATIVES
1.

Home Improvement Agency Service

The Council works with Derbyshire County Council and Metropolitan Care and Repair to
provide a comprehensive advice and assistance service to low income families, elderly
and disabled people who wish to undertake improvements to their homes or who require
adaptations to their homes to maintain their independence.
As part of the Service, staff can:


Visit people in their own homes.



Listen to the problems they have concerning their homes.



Advise on options to address those problems.



Check people’s entitlement to social security benefits.



Seek out any available finance to pay for any building works.



Help find reliable, tried and tested builders.



Oversee the building work from start to finish to ensure that it is of a good standard.



Provide practical and moral support to the householder throughout the process.



Liaise with other professionals, e.g. occupational therapists, building control
officers, health and social workers.

The partnership helps to maintain people’s qualify of life, and through enabling people to
remain living in their own home for longer, it also helps reduce costs and pressures on the
National Health Service and Social Services Departments.
High Peak Borough Council will continue to explore new and better ways of working as
opportunities present themselves during the operational period of this Policy.
2.

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)



There are estimated to be around 4,500 households living in the private rented sector
in High Peak and approximately 290 properties classed as Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMOs). Since the mandatory HMO Licensing requirements came into
force in 2006, the Council has licensed a total of 65 HMO’s under the provisions of the
Housing Act 2004.



Through its Environmental Health Service, High Peak Borough Council operates a
statutory licensing scheme for houses in multiple occupation (HMOs), in accordance
with Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004. At present only those HMOs that require
mandatory licensing are covered by the scheme, for which a fee is payable.

The categories of HMO covered by mandatory licensing are those:

Page
21 163

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
o Occupied by 5 or more persons forming more than one household AND
o With shared facilities such as bathrooms, WCs or kitchens.


Details of all known HMOs are held on a Council database and scored on the basis of
actual and perceived risks to tenants. The latter determines the frequency of
inspection. All active HMOs are subject to regular systematic checks on a rolling
programme. One-off inspections are also undertaken pursuant to the receipt of
representations from landlords, tenants or neighbours.



The Housing Act 2004 also introduced two other forms of licensing for private sector
rented accommodation;
o Additional Licensing – the introduction of licensing for all HMO’s within the
Borough that fall outside the criteria for mandatory licensing, and
o Selective Licensing – the introduction of licensing for all types of private rented
accommodation in the Borough, or in a specified area of the Borough, based on
criteria around low housing demand or anti-social behaviour.

The Council has identified and inspected most HMO’s in the District, and is satisfied that
sufficient existing controls are available to monitor these types of property without the
need for additional licensing.
In terms of Selective Licensing, the Council will work with it’s internal and external partners
to identify any areas within the District that might be blighted by low housing demand or
anti-social behaviour, and to put forward for consideration by Councillors any targeted
scheme of Selective Licensing that will address the issues identified. As part of it’s
statutory obligations, any proposed scheme of Selective Licensing will be published locally
and all potentially affected parties will be consulted.
3.


4.

Student Accommodation
The University of Derby and Leek College Campus operate their own voluntary Student
Landlord Accreditation Scheme. Landlords letting to students sign up to a set of
standards that provide good quality, safe and secure accommodation for the residential
student population.
Landlord Accreditation



The Council until recently operated a free-to-join self-assessment Landlord
Accreditation Scheme (whereby landlords assess their properties against a range of
conditions and management criteria). The trigger for this was the sudden increase in
HMO provision for students, and the Scheme was initially developed in partnership with
the University of Derby and then subsequently rolled out to all private landlords. In
2018, the University of Derby developed their own Accreditation Scheme in association
with Derby City Council, and as a result all of the student landlords operating HMO’s
decanted to the University Scheme.



Despite significant publicity and the establishment of a dedicated grant to help
landlords improve their properties, the Scheme thereafter attracted little interest from
other private landlords and all but 6 of the remaining accredited landlords dropped out
of the local Scheme, which made the on-going maintenance of the Scheme untenable.
Page 22
164

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
The decision was taken at Community Select Committee in September 2019 to
discontinue the local Scheme and the funding was withdrawn. High Peak landlords are
now directed to the East Midlands Landlord Accreditation Scheme

5.

Landlords Forum



In order to overcome potential problems, it is desirable that all interested parties –
Council officers (Environmental Health, Housing, Benefits, Planning, Conservation,
Building Control), the Fire Service and Police, as well as landlords and private sector
tenant groups – meet regularly as a Landlords Forum.



Initially, there might be some benefit in operating the Forum in partnership with
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. Such a move makes sense in terms of
exploring initial levels of interest amongst landlords, and from a perspective of interauthority working. It is also more cost-effective. There has been some success in
running an occasional joint Housing Benefit forum across the two Councils, and it may
be that Housing Benefits and Environmental Health can together offer an interesting
programme that might attract local landlords. The use of virtual technology has shown
to make a positive contribution to landlord access to local authority meetings, and we
will continue to use this technology to expand the means of access to Council services.



It is also essential that every effort be made to engage rural landlords in any Forum,
i.e. farmers and country landowners. In this regard, the Council intends to work closely
with any Rural Housing Enabler operating in Derbyshire.

6.

Empty Properties



The problem of empty properties is not unique to High Peak. It is a national problem.
In areas of high housing demand they are a waste, they deny people a home and
increase development pressure on edge of town and greenfield sites. In areas of low
demand, they create areas of dereliction and decay, attracting crime and anti-social
behaviour and devaluing surrounding properties.



The Government no longer require Councils to report on empty properties brought
back into use, and the Council does not employ a dedicated Empty Property Officer,
but to support its work in this area, the Council undertakes to:


Assess the impact of reported empty properties on the local community, and take
commensurate action to monitor the condition, require improvements or bring the
property back into use.



Link activity to the Council’s Empty Property Strategy 2017 [490KB] and the work
of the Empty Property Steering Group.



Enable and encourage Registered Social Landlords to acquire and repair empty
properties for letting at affordable rents. The Council also works with enablers such
as Epic Housing Association to develop purchase and repair schemes to acquire,
improve and subsequently rent or sell empty properties.

Page
23 165

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


Work with Parish Councils and the Rural Housing Enabler to identify empty
properties in rural towns and villages. This is intended to counter the impact that
just one or two empty properties can have on the look and feel of a small, rural
village.



To provide assistance when available to homeowners, private developers and
landlords, in line with this policy.



To add value to conservation-led initiatives.

HOME ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND AFFORDABLE WARMTH


It was estimated in the 2009 Stock Condition Survey that only 9% of High Peak
residents were living in fuel poverty. Fuel Poverty is where a household spends more
than 10% of its income on fuel. The 2019 Survey indicated that this number had fallen
slightly, to 8.5%
 High Peak dwellings have an average SAP rating of 54. SAP (Standard Assessment
Procedure) is a calculation based on the analysis of various energy parameters to give
a rating on the energy efficiency of a dwelling. This performs well against the national
average SAP rating of 65 as given in the English Housing Survey 2019.
 30.4% of all homes in High Peak have an EPC (Energy Performance Certificate) rating
of E, F or G. This compares to 20.4% of all homes in England who have an EPC below
band E (but note that this national figure does not include Band E premises, so
comparative analysis is difficult). In 2017 34.1% of all fuel poor families nationally were
living in a home with an EPC band of E, F or G.
 The energy efficiency of the English housing stock overall continues to improve. The
English Housing Survey 2019-20 shows that In 2019, the average SAP rating of
English dwellings was 65 points, up from 45 points in 1996. This longer term upward
trend was evident in all tenures. The average SAP rating of English dwellings
increased from 63 in 2018 to 65 in 2019. This was evident in all tenures apart from
local authority dwellings where there was no significant increase.
 The proportion of dwellings in the highest SAP energy efficiency rating (EER) bands A
to C increased considerably between 2009 and 2019, from 12% to 40%. Over the
same period, the proportion of dwellings in the lowest F and G bands fell from 12% to
3%. In 2019, the majority of dwellings (85%) were in EER bands C or D, compared
with 56% in 2009.
An Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating is a review of a dwelling’s energy
efficiency, rated from A to G with A representing the best performance. To ensure that
homes provide a reasonable level of energy efficiency and thermal comfort for tenants the
Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015
came into force on 1st October 2016, and apply to domestic private rented property, and
to non-domestic private rented property (that is property which is let under a tenancy and
is not a dwelling). They prescribe a minimum level of energy efficiency for private rented
properties, that is, an energy performance indicator (evidenced on the energy performance
certificate for the property) of band E. The main aim is to improve the standard of energy
efficiency and performance in the PRS. The requirement has applied since April 2018 to
new tenancies and since April 2020 has applied to all privately rented properties (including
existing tenancies where there has been no change in tenancy arrangements).
Landlords of F & G rated homes are required to invest in improving energy performance to
EPC Band E, with investment requirement capped at up to £3500 incl. VAT. A limited

Page 24
166

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
number of temporary exemptions for properties with EPC ratings of F or G exist to protect
landlords, where it is not technically advisable or financially feasible to bring a property to
EPC Band E. Exemptions must be registered on a self-certification basis on the PRS
Exemptions Register and may be valid for a period of up to 5 years.
The PRS accounts for a disproportionate number of fuel poor households (18% of PRS
households are in fuel poverty, compared to 8% of owner-occupied households and 9% of
social housing households). The government introduced the Fuel Poverty (England)
Regulations 2014 target requiring as many fuel poor homes as reasonably practicable to
achieve a minimum energy efficiency rating of Band C by the end of 2030. The 2015 Fuel
Poverty Strategy also set out interim targets of raising as many fuel poor homes as
reasonably practicable to Band E by 2020, and as many fuel poor homes as is reasonably
practicable to Band D by 2025.
Improving energy performance measures in the PRS, such as insulation and low carbon
heating, deliver a wide range of benefits. As well as reducing emissions from homes,
energy performance is an investment in health and well-being. By contrast uninsulated
homes, with excess cold, damp and mould have higher direct costs in relation to
emissions, energy bills, health and NHS treatments. In order to contribute to the Council’s
Climate Change agenda, targeted advice and enforcement action based on information
resources such as the Landmark Register of EPCs will be carried out in order to seek out
low performance homes and encourage or require improvements. Energy efficiency
measures will also be a feature of all private sector housing inspection and enforcement
visits.
Recent Department for Business, Energy and Industry (BEIS) consultation sets out
several policy proposals to improve the energy performance of private rented homes. Key
elements are:
 Raise the minimum energy efficiency standard to EPC Band C for
new tenancies from 2025 and all tenancies from 2028; relevant
spend counted from 2023
 Raise the maximum spend cap to £10,000 (or to £15,000 in a more
stretching low cost + low carbon option)




Encouraging compliance: only advertise and let compliant
properties; raising fines for offences; introducing a property
compliance and exemptions database
Assisting enforcement: enabling authorities to inspect properties;
increasing the maximum penalty per property, and per breach, to
£30,000; giving tenants more powers.

Both Alliance Councils have declared climate emergencies and in their Corporate Plans
have pledged to work to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030. The Council’s Climate Change
working group has developed work programmes, and a Climate Change Strategy and
Action Plan has been formulated.
The Council has appointed a specialist Officer dedicated to the climate change and
sustainability agenda. Partnership work and Government supported initiatives can also
offer assistance with specific projects, access to technical expertise and cost savings.
HPBC are part of the Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire wide ‘Local Authorities Energy
Partnership’ (LAEP).

Page
25 167

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
The Council secures access to free and impartial affordable warmth energy advice
services for residents, and inward investment, through established organisations. DCC
Healthy Homes team provide services for High Peak. This project (working with GPs,
social services, hospital discharge teams, care coordinators), provides targeted assistance
to High Peak residents in fuel poverty living with long term health conditions
(cardiovascular disease; respiratory failure; mobility issues; mental health problems and
people with suppressed immune systems) made worse by living in a cold home. These
residents are at a significantly higher risk of illness and death as a result of cold weather
than the rest of the population and place a significant burden on the NHS and Adult Care.
The Green Homes Grant (GHG) voucher scheme which launched on 31st Sept 2020,
offered homeowners and landlords vouchers to fund at least two thirds of the cost of hiring
tradespeople to upgrade the energy performance of their homes up to a contribution of
£5,000, was recently scrapped amid administrative problems. However the government is
instead allocating funding to local authorities with continuation of the Green Homes Grant
(GHG) Local Authority Delivery (LAD) scheme. In GHG LAD Phase 2, funding has been
ring fenced for each authority to retrofit domestic properties at scale and speed.

Page 26
168

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

8.0

ENFORCEMENT

The Housing Act 2004 introduced the new statutory system for the assessment of housing
conditions called the Housing Health and Safety Rating System. This system works by
assigning housing defects to one or more of 29 separate hazards and by then assigning
scores to the hazards based on the risks they present to the potential occupants of the
house. These scores are then divided them into categories 1 and 2.
Where a hazard falls into category 1 the Council has a duty to take some form of
enforcement action and where it falls into category 2 the Council may take enforcement
action at its discretion. In circumstances where the property presents Category 2 hazards
alone, emergency measures cannot be used and authorities cannot make demolition
orders or declare clearance areas.
The actions available to the Council are:








Improvement Notice;
Prohibition Order;
Hazard Awareness Notice;
Emergency Remedial Action*;
Emergency Prohibition Order*;
Demolition Order*;
Clearance Area*.

(* not available where a property contains category 2 hazards only).
High Peak Borough Council is committed to dealing with housing hazards within its area
and intends to use the whole range of enforcement options where appropriate. In the
main it is expected that enforcement action will be centred on the private rented sector. All
decisions on enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Private Sector
Housing Enforcement Policy shown in Appendix C.

Page
27 169

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

9.0

ADVICE

High Peak Borough Council offers a comprehensive range of advice through its
Environmental Health Service and other partners.
The Environmental Health Service offers advice on private sector renewal (that is: grants
and enforcement in the private sector).
The Housing Advice service offers housing and homelessness advice and assistance. The
authority is committed to homelessness prevention at the earliest opportunity.
In partnership with Derby City Council, a free of charge ‘Call B4 You Serve’ service has
been commissioned specifically to support landlords. The dedicated service is available to
help and assist landlords, and resolve difficulties they may experience with tenants so they
do not need to serve a notice.
Email: CB4YS@derby.gov.uk Tel: 01332 641408
For more information, visit
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/4400/Private -rented-homes

The Council is committed to working with landlords and tenants to maintain and improve
housing standards in the private rented sector, including houses in multiple occupation,
and will take reasonable steps to consult with landlords and tenants on housing initiatives
and policies.
The Environmental Health Service maintains a website section relating to all aspects of
the Private Sector Housing service. It is intended that all internet-capable residents and
landlords will be able to access all the information they need online, to enable quicker
access to services and a faster response to enquiries. The information can be accessed at
the Council’s website, www.highpeak.gov.uk The site also contains advice and web site
links on matters relating to energy efficiency and fuel poverty, trusted traders, care and
repair etc.

Page 28
170

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

10.0 COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS ABOUT THE POLICY


The Council welcomes any comments, complaints, queries or suggestions about this
Policy. Any such matters should be made in writing to the following address:

Head of Regulatory Services
Environmental Health Service
High Peak Borough Council
Market Place
Buxton
High Peak
SK17 6EL
You can also contact us via:
Telephone: 01298 28400 / 0345 129 7777
Or on-line at: https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/906/Feedback
The Council’s comments, compliments and complaints procedure can also be accessed
online, by selecting the following link:
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/907/Complaints-procedure

All comments will be carefully considered and will receive a reply. Where appropriate the
Council may contact the complainant to discuss the views expressed.

Page
29 171

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

11.0 APPEALS


Appeals about how the Policy is operated in individual cases will be considered initially
by a Review Panel consisting of three elected members. The purpose of the panel is
to ensure consistency of decisions and to provide a forum for the consideration of the
merits of each individual appeal.



Appeals must be set out in writing and must include the specific grounds on which the
appeal is based. Appeals will only be considered on the following grounds:



That the Policy has been incorrectly applied in the case in question; or
That the case in question is exceptional in some way that justifies an exception to
the general policy.



Appeals will not be considered on the grounds that the appellant disagrees with the
Policy. Any such comments should be dealt with in accordance with the Comments,
Complaints and Compliments Procedure.



A written response will be given in all cases where an appeal is heard. The reasons for
the decision reached by the Review panel will be fully explained in the written
response.



All appeals will be carefully reviewed to ensure that any lessons that are learned
are incorporated into this Policy.

Page 30
172

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

APPENDIX A : DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
MANDATORY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) are provided under the terms of the Housing
Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, to adapt the homes of eligible disabled
people to meet their needs. The need for the adaptation is determined by an occupational
therapist (OT). Applications for grant will only be considered following a recommendation
from an OT. All such applications will be assessed by the Council’s service provider, to
ensure that the work is necessary and appropriate.
Purpose of Disabled Facilities Grants
The main purpose of disabled facilities grants is to adapt the dwellings of disabled people
so that it is possible for them to continue to live safely and independently in their homes.
This may mean enabling disabled people to be more able to care for themselves or
making it easier for carers to look after disabled people.
The Good Practice Guide (‘Home Adaptations for Disabled People – A Detailed Guide to
related Legislation, Guidance and Good Practice’ Home Adaptations Consortium/Care
and Repair England 2015’) specifies the types of works that fall into the scheme as
follows:


Facilitating access and provision – these include works to remove or overcome any
obstacles that prevent a disabled person moving freely into and around the dwelling
and enjoying its use. The presumption is that a disabled person should have
reasonable access into and out of their home, to its main habitable rooms including the
principal family room, and to the bathroom or shower room. Grants for stair lifts are
given under this section;



Making a dwelling or building safe – It is considered inappropriate to be prescriptive
on the particular works that might be carried out under this section, as the specification
will depend on circumstances. However, they may include improving a lighting system,
providing an enhanced alarm system or adapting the dwelling to minimise the risk of
danger where a disabled person has behavioural problems which occasionally cause
the person to act in a boisterous or violent manner damaging the dwelling, resulting in
self harm or harm to other people;



Room usable for sleeping – the provision of a room usable for sleeping may be
considered if the adaptation of an existing room or the access to that room is
unsuitable;



Bathroom – a disabled person should have access to a wash-hand basin, a WC and a
shower or a bath (or if appropriate, a shower and a bath). This section may be used to
provide these facilities and/or to facilitate their use;



Preparation and cooking of food – this section allows the Council to offer disabled
facilities grant to adapt kitchens to enable a disabled person to cater independently. It
should be noted that where most of the cooking and preparation is done by another
family member it will not normally be appropriate to carry out full adaptation of the
kitchen;

Page
31 173

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


Heating, lighting and power – this section provides for the provision or improvement
of a heating system to meet a disabled person’s needs. Heating will not normally be
provided in rooms that the disabled person does not use and the installation of a full
central heating system should only be considered where the well-being and mobility of
the disabled person would otherwise be affected. In addition this section allows for the
adaptation of heating, lighting and power controls to make them suitable for use by a
disabled person;



Dependent residents – disabled facilities grant may be given for works to enable a
disabled occupant better access and movement around the dwelling in order to care for
another person who normally resides there;



Common parts – disabled facilities grant may be given for works to facilitate access to
a dwelling through the common parts of a building.



Access to gardens and outside areas –disabled facilities grant may be given to
provide for access to a garden or outside area (adjacent to the persons main living
accommodation).

Eligibility


In all cases DFG’s are available subject to Capital resource allocations. Whilst an
eligible client cannot be refused mandatory grant assistance on the grounds of a lack
of funding, the Council may defer an approval for up to 6 months following the receipt
of a completed application, or may defer payment of grant funding for a period of up to
12 months.



In all cases it is necessary that the works specified in a disabled facilities grant scheme
will meet the needs of the disabled person. For this reason it is essential that close
liaison is maintained with the social services authority. The Good Practice Guide sets
out the exact roles that both Social Services, Environmental Health or agencies acting
on their behalf should take, but in general terms Social Services will determine the
needs of a disabled person and environmental health and it’s service provider will
determine whether it is reasonable and practicable to carry out the proposed works.



In practice this means that grant applications will normally be accompanied by an
Occupational Therapist Assessment Report provided by the County Council or by
another agency or a private OT, and in these latter cases it is expected that the
Council’s service provider will also liaise with Social Services.



Disabled facilities grants under the government funded mandatory scheme are
available for owner-occupiers, and for private sector and social housing. Adaptations
for tenants of council-owned properties are funded from a different local authority
capital programme. The circumstances in which applicants may be eligible for a
mandatory grant are set out in the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act
1996 and supporting Government guidance. This section summarises these rules but
in any situation where there is doubt as to eligibility reference must be made to the two
main documents.


Owner-occupiers – may apply for disabled facilities grants subject to a test of
financial resources. There is no prior qualification period and the property does not
have to have been a dwelling for 10 years, as is the case with discretionary grants.

Page 32
174

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
An ‘owner’s certificate’ must be provided. DFG’s are available to the owners of
dwelling houses and also residential caravans on approved sites.


Tenants – may also apply for disabled facilities grants subject to the conditions
above and the provision of a ‘tenant’s certificate’. In addition the landlord of the
dwelling should provide an ‘owner’s certificate’ unless it is considered to be
unreasonable to require him to do so. As a general rule, the grant is awarded to the
disabled applicant, and in the case of tenants it is the tenant who is awarded the
grant, not the landlord. As the tenant does not have control over the sale of the
property and has no legal interest in it, then the grant is not registerable as a charge
unless the landlord/owner has completed an Owners Certificate which commits
him/her to the grant conditions. This would also stand for parents occupying a
property owned by their children, where the children don't live with them and there
is a form of tenancy agreement in place. In cases where the landlord refuses to sign
the Certificate on the basis that he/she was not prepared to accept the charge on
the property, then provided the landlord is prepared to give permission for the works
to be carried out, the Council will not deny any eligible tenant their right to a grant.
In cases where the footprint of the premises is extended, the owner/landlord must
sign an Owners Certificate so that the charge can be registered, as this potentially
adds value to the property. In the case of parents living with their adult children in
their children’s home, the situation is less clear - they are not necessarily 'tenants'
and in these cases the owners should sign an Owners Certificate to ensure that
any charge is registerable.

Amount of Grant


The amount of grant offered to applicants, with the exception of people under the age
of 18 years, will depend on the result of their test of financial resources calculation but
is subject to a maximum of £45,000 per application. Persons of under the age of 18
years are not means tested and are eligible to receive full funding up to a maximum of
£45,000.



Occasionally applications are received from disabled persons whose conditions are
degenerative and in these cases it may be anticipated that further adaptations may be
required in the future. The 1996 Act provides for this situation by allowing Councils to
reduce the amount of applicants’ contributions by the amount that was contributed to a
previous adaptation. This means that if the second application is made during the
period of the notional loan assumed for the first application (10 years for owners and 5
years for tenants), then the amount of the second contribution should be reduced by
the amount that the applicant contributed to the first adaptation. Thus if an applicant
contributed £8,000 towards an adaptation and then made an application for further
works towards which his contribution was £10,000 the second contribution would be
reduced by the amount of the first, leaving a contribution of £2,000.

Test of Resources
All DFG applications for persons of 18 years of age have traditionally been subject to a
test of the financial resources of the grant applicant. The form of this test is prescribed in
legislation and is not under the control of the Council, but the local authority may make
provision in their Private Sector Housing Policy to waive the means test in certain
Page
33 175

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
circumstances. the discretionary Adapted Home Grant has therefore been introduced to
waive the means test for certain adaptations and for simple adaptations under £5,000. For
applications. For other, more complex adaptations the means test will still be applicable,
but for eligible applicants other forms of discretionary assistance may be available.
Applicants subject to means testing will be screened using a ‘cut-down’ preliminary test of
financial resources where appropriate, before progressing to a full test at the time of formal
application, in order to simplify the process for applicants.
Applicants for disabled facilities grants are tested in a different manner to applicants for
renovation grants. The full details are given in the Government Guidance but can be
summarised as follows:


The relevant person for the purposes of a disabled facilities grant is:




the disabled occupant for whom the works are to be undertaken; and
his/her spouse or partner; or
the parent(s) of the disabled occupant who is less than 18 years of age.



This definition of a relevant person recognises that other members of the household do
not benefit from the provision of adaptations for a disabled occupant.



Persons of under 18 years who are eligible for a disabled facilities grant are not means
tested and are eligible to receive up to a maximum of £45,000.

Grant Conditions and Repayment
 DFG will be provided for the only or main residence of an applicant.
 Where —
(a) the Council approves an application for a grant under Part 1 of the Act,
(b) the grant is for a sum exceeding £1,000; and
(c) the applicant (“the recipient”) has a qualifying owner’s interest in the premises on which
the relevant works are to be carried out,
the Council may impose the conditions (or conditions to like effect) contained in paragraph
(2) below.
(2) The Council may demand the repayment by the recipient of such part of the
grant that exceeds £5000 (but may not demand an amount in excess of £10,000) if—
(a) the recipient disposes (whether by sale, assignment, transfer or otherwise) of the
premises in respect of which the grant was given within 10 years of the certified date; and
(b) the Council, having considered—
(i) the extent to which the recipient of the grant would suffer financial hardship were
he to be required to repay all or any of the grant;
(ii) whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the recipient of the grant to
take up employment, or to change the location of his employment;
(iii) whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or mental
health or well being of the recipient of the grant or of a disabled occupant of the
premises; and
(iv) whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient of the grant to live with, or
near,any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the recipient of
the grant is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care of which the
recipient of the grant is in need by reason of disability or infirmity,
is satisfied that it is reasonable in all the circumstances to require the repayment.
Page 34
176

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
Mechanism for Council to Review Applications for Discretionary Powers to be
waivered


Applications for the Council to waiver its discretionary powers in individual cases will be
considered initially by a Review Panel consisting of three Elected Members. The
purpose of the panel is to ensure consistency of decisions and to provide a forum for
the consideration of the merits of each individual application.



Applications must be set out in writing and must include the specific grounds on which
the application is based. Applications will only be considered on the following grounds:



That the Policy has been incorrectly applied in the case in question; or
That the case in question is exceptional in some way that justifies an exception to
the general policy.



Applications for a review will not be considered on the grounds that the appellant
disagrees with the general policy of the Council to use its discretionary powers and
place a charge on relevant properties. Any such comments should be dealt with in
accordance with the Comments, Complaints and Compliments Procedure.



A written response will be given in all cases where an application review is carried out.
The reasons for the decision reached by the Review panel will be fully explained in the
written response.



All applications will be carefully reviewed to ensure that any lessons that are
learned are incorporated into this Policy.

Page
35 177

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE FOR DISABLED FACILITIES AND ADAPTATIONS
Article 3 of the Regulatory Reform Order enables local authorities to give discretionary
assistance in any form for adaptations or to help the occupant to move to alternative living
accommodation.
Discretionary DFGs may be provided, to assist disabled people to move to a more suitable
property where this is more cost effective than adapting their current properties.
Discretionary funding may also be used in cases where the statutory means test is waived
for certain types of adaptation, and in exceptional cases where works are essenti al for the
need of the client but currently fall outside the remit of the mandatory scheme.
Discretionary funding may also be applied to community-based adaptation schemes,
where the adaptation is for the benefit of the wider community of people living with
disability.
All discretionary grants are subject to the availability of sufficient capital resources over
and above that required to meet and deliver the mandatory grant programme. The Council
will limit discretionary funding on this basis and may withdraw some or all of it’s
discretionary funding assistance at any time should resources dictate.
The following sections provide details of the discretionary adaptation funding that is
available, subject to the limitations described in the preceding paragraph.
1. THE ADAPTED HOME GRANT
CONSIDERATION OF CASES TO BE EXCLUDED FROM THE STATUTORY TEST OF
RESOURCES – THE ‘MEANS TEST’
The provisions governing mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) are principally laid
out in the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (“the 1996 Act”), as
amended by the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order
2002 (“the RRO”).
The 1996 Regulations set out the basis for the DFG test of resources but the details of
allowances, premiums and other factors are updated periodically by Statutory Instrument.
The test parameters are set by central government and are essentially applied to the
disabled occupant, their spouse or partner. Where the disabled occupant is a child or
qualifying young person there is no means test.
The flexibility of the powers of the RRO has allowed the creation of adaptations policies
that best meet local needs and priorities and to be more responsive to the needs of
individuals. These have included funding arrangements in excess of the mandatory grant
limit, and funding adaptations outside of the DFG system.
One of the ways to consider adaptation funding outside the traditional mandatory grant is
to offer a separate grant to those persons who meet the eligibility criteria for a mandatory
grant but who have been assessed as having a contribution to make to the cost of the
adaptation under the mandatory scheme test of resources. In many cases, the
assessment of resources is arbitrary and often identifies a contribution significantly at odds
with the client’s ability to pay simply by virtue of the assets that are taken into account
during the assessment process. The vast majority of cases that do not proceed to
approval are those where the client has an assessed contribution but cannot practically
pay it. Similarly, a number of drop-outs occur when clients faced with a contribution decide
Page 36
178

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
that they would rather use the money they do have to pay for essential care or services
now rather than invest in an adaptation for their future needs.
By introducing an Adapted Homes Grant, the Council could effectively offer to pay for
adaptations up to a defined level without a means test so that the adaptation could go
ahead where it might otherwise fail.
There are two distinct types of Adapted Homes Grant:
1.

The Council will pay for the installation of a Stairlift or a Level Access Shower
without the need for a client contribution. This does not set a financial level on the
cost of the adaptation, but is instead restricted to type. Stairlifts and level access
showers account for over 80% of adaptations in any one year, so this offers a good
opportunity to fast-track these applications and satisfy demand. Typically, Stairlifts
cost around £3-5k depending on the level of customisation required and the
stairway layout; level access showers can cost between £5-6k on average but costs
can vary outside of this range for specific property layouts.

2.

The Council has determined that for other non-complex adaptation cases - for
example ramps, or hoists - the level of non-means tested funding offered will be a
maximum of £5,000. This fits in with the Council’s ability to recover the costs of
adaptations if the property is subsequently sold – currently, the Council can only
register a local land charge on DFGs of over £5k, so there are no recovery
implications for grants up to this value.

In both these scenarios, there is the issue of agency fees and VAT to consider. Most
adaptation work is VAT exempt, but not all. In providing the adaptation, our service
provider will charge a fee for managing the project on the part of the client from application
to conclusion, and this could take the total cost of the grant above £5k even though the
work itself is less than £5k. to clarify, the level of funding is set at a maximum of £5k for
the works themselves, exclusive of fees. In cases where the grant is paid by type of
adaptation rather than a monetary ceiling, then the eligible works are defined as a stairlift
or level access shower. In cases where the funding is for other non-complex adaptations ,
then the client’s entitlement will be to receive a full grant to cover the costs of the eligible
works up to £5,000.
Any person over the age of 18 who is registered or registerable as disabled (i.e. the
person is eligible under the definition of disabled as defined in section 6(1) of the Equality
Act) would be eligible for the Adapted Homes Grant in the same way as they would have
an entitlement to the mandatory DFG. The grant will not be restricted by tenure.
Only 1 application per year per person can be made for the Adapted Homes Grant.
Owner applicants will need to complete a certificate stating that they intend to occupy the
premises as their main residence for at least the next 5 years. Joint owners will need to
obtain the written consent of the other owners for the adaptation work to be carried out.
Tenant applicants will need the written consent of their landlord for the adaptation work to
be carried out.
Any grant eligible works (within the meaning of the Housing Grants, Construction and
Regeneration Act 1996) paid for under this grant will not be subject to a ‘means test’ of the
financial resources of the disabled client. The disabled client will be entitled to receive a
full Adapted Homes Grant to cover the costs of the eligible works up to either the cost of
Page
37 179

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
the specified adaptation or a maximum of £5,000 for other non-complex cases. Combined
adaptations will not qualify for this discretionary grant.
When considering the eligible works, the Council will seek the advice of a suitably qualified
professional. The works must be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the
client and it must be reasonable and practicable to carry out the eligible works having
regard to the age and condition of the dwelling.
This Grant will be re-payable in full in the event that the property is sold on the open
market within 10 years of the grant completion date.

2. THE RELOCATION GRANT
ASSISTANCE FOR ELIGBLE APPLICANTS TO MOVE HOME
There are numerous cases where on assessment, the applicant’s existing premises
cannot be adequately adapted to meet their needs, or where the level of cost of carrying
out the necessary adaptations at their current premises is unreasonable and/or
impractical. In these circumstances, the Local Authority can offer a discretionary grant to
help eligible applicants move to a more suitable home that is already adapted or which can
be more easily adapted to meet their needs at a much more reasonable cost.
In the event that the applicant identified a suitable property outside the area in which they
currently live, the discretionary assistance would still be of benefit to them and should still
be available in these cases.
To qualify for relocation assistance, a person must be:
•
•

Someone who would otherwise qualify for a mandatory DFG were it possible
to carry out the works, and whose contribution towards the cost of the works
would, using the standard test of resources, be less than £5,000.00.
An owner/occupier whose main or only residence is within the High Peak
area.

The Council must be satisfied that:
•
•

It is not practicable to carry out necessary, appropriate or reasonable works at the
client’s current property; or
The new property shall provide a long term sustainable home for the eligible person
in that either further adaptation is not necessary or any new adaptation is
significantly smaller than the original DFG assessment. The total cost incurred in
the eligible relocation expenses at the ‘new’ property should not be greater than the
estimated cost of adapting the applicant’s current property.

•

The Council will pay any reasonable costs, subject to satisfactory evidence that the
expenditure has been incurred including:

o
o
o

Stamp Duty;
Mortgage arrangement fees;
Estate Agents fees;

Page 38
180

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
o
o
o
o

Furniture removal costs;
Utility connection costs;
Conveyancing costs; and
Any other costs deemed by the Council to be essential to effect the move.

•

Subject to a maximum total level of assistance of £15,000 per applicant, made as a
single payment upon completion of the move and upon receipt of suitable evidence
of expenditure.

.
3. THE ADAPTATION GRANT
DISCRETIONARY FUNDING FOR EXCEPTIONAL CASES
High Peak Borough Council will give such discretionary assistance in the form of grants
according to the financial resources available to the Council at the time of the application.
Works that may qualify for discretionary Adaptation Grants include:
(1)

Adaptation Grant:

•

Particularly expensive works costing above the normal maximum of £45,000, where
the applicant cannot fund the additional costs by any other reasonable means. The
Council will consider additional funding to top-up the mandatory grant in order to
facilitate the works.
Providing a safe play area for a disabled child.
Adapting or providing a room or space to allow disabled occupants to receive
specialised care or medical treatment in their own homes.
Adapting or providing a room to be used by a disabled person who is housebound
but is able to work from home.
Providing more satisfactory internal living arrangements for a disabled occupant
where the works are of direct benefit to the disabled occupant but also will be of
benefit to other members of the household who provide care for the occupant.
Such works might include extending or enlarging a dwelling that is already suitable
for the disabled person in all other respects. It could include cases where the care
of the disabled applicant is provided across more than one property – current
mandatory assistance will only allow the main residence to be adapted.
Other exceptional or unique works to provide a solution for vulnerable and disabled
applicant’s needs that are not currently covered in the statutory criteria for eligible
DFG works. This would include, for example, work to assist dementia clients to
remain active in their own homes.

•
•
•
•

•

This grant will be subject to the client having a ‘nil contribution’ from the mandatory DFG
Test of Resources and will be subject to a maximum of £20,000 per application. In cases
of significant hardship, the Head of Environmental Health may consider an application for
a greater sum based on the individual circumstances of the client.
Owner applicants will need to complete a certificate stating that they intend to occupy the
premises as their main residence for at least the next 5 years. Joint owners will need to
obtain the written consent of the other owners for the adaptation work to be carried out.
Tenant applicants will need the written consent of their landlord for the adaptation work to
be carried out.
This grant is available as a stand-alone grant or as a supplement to a Mandatory DFG.
Page
39 181

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

(2)

Safe and Secure Grant:

Where additional work is necessary that is not currently grant eligible but would provide a
safe and secure home. This might include re-wiring of the property, replacement of an
unsafe appliance, replacing lead water pipes or works to eliminate dampness and excess
cold, or any other minor adaptations or small repairs to;
•
Reduce trips, slips, falls and accidents around the home;
•
Promote independent living;
•
Assist with hospital discharge or prevent hospital admission;
•
Improve security (e.g. replacement of insecure windows and doors);
•
Breakdown of primary sources of heating or hot water;
•
Protect public safety (e.g. an unsafe chimney or roof slates);
•
Reduce internal risks to health and safety (e.g. rotten flooring or dangerous
staircase);
•
Remedy a structural element that is so defective that further significant damage
may be caused to the property or a neighbouring property if not dealt with (e.g. a
leaking roof or defective guttering or downspout);
•
Improve the thermal and energy efficiency of properties with a low Standard
Assessment Procedure (SAP) Rating.
This grant will be subject to the client having a ‘nil contribution’ from the mandatory DFG
Test of Resources and will be subject to a maximum of £10,000 per application. Any
number of applications per client to a cumulative value of £10,000 in any three year period
may be made. This grant is available as a stand-alone grant or as a supplement to a
Mandatory DFG.
This Grant will be re-payable in full in the event that the property is sold on the open
market within 10 years of the grant completion date.

4. COMMUNITY ADAPTATION GRANT
DISCRETIONARY FUNDING FOR COMMUNITY-BASED ADAPTATION PROJECTS
The Better Care Fund guidance specifically encourages projects which address the Social
Model of Disability, and the terms of the DFG Determination each year state that any
money paid under the grant determination must only be used for the specific purpose of
providing adaptations for disabled people who qualify under the scheme or any other
social care capital projects in accordance with a Better Care Fund (BCF) joint spending
plan agreed between the grant authority and the fund holder.
In High Peak, the level of the DFG settlement in recent years provides an excellent
opportunity to consider options for the wider use of the DFG funding beyond the
mandatory regime, with a particular focus on supporting community projects, community
groups and other facilities or providers who are able to demonstrate that investment of
discretionary funding will have a positive impact on improving access and facilities for the
disabled community residing in or visiting their area.
There are a number of avenues that High Peak Borough Council would like to explore in
identifying and developing creative and innovative use of the DFG Allocation, and we
would want to work in partnership with our service provider in promoting access to
Page 40
182

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
discretionary funding and assessing the value to the local community of any proposals that
come forward, whether that be along traditional lines that deal with physical disability or
more innovative, unique projects around mental health, with a particular focus on dementia
and autism.
Some basic considerations for the funding include:
1.

2.
3.

Provide funding for existing or new projects to include disabled facilities that would
otherwise not progress or would fall short of meeting a disability standard or
assessed need.
Benefit as wide an area of the disabled community as possible, and as many
people as possible.
Afford access to facilities, or encourage use of facilities or services that disabled
people might not otherwise consider using.

This is based on the premise that whilst providing assistance to disabled residents to
enable them to remain living independently in their own homes is essential, it is equally
important to enable people with physical or mental disabilities to access community
facilities and services.
Potential opportunities might include:
-

-

-

The provision of ‘Changing Places’ facility within the district that are accessible to
residents and visitors to the area.
Upgrading of facilities at local leisure centres, swimming pools and other leisure
facilities to include adapted toilet, bathing, washing and changing facilities.
Working with property developers to look at building in adapted facilities at the start
of housing projects so that properties that are provided for affordable rent as part of
development schemes are prepared for disabled access during the build.
Discussions with local schools with disabled students about ensuring that the
facilities are suitable for their needs.
Support for local community groups and partnerships who are striving to provide
equality of access to services and the premises that they are provided in for the
benefit of the wider community. Many community groups do excellent work in fund
raising and seeking funds from other sources like the National Lottery, but often
there is a shortfall between the funds raised and the delivery of the project and it is
this gap that better use of the DFG funding can bridge in order to make the
proposal a reality.
Exploring the opportunity for funding dementia-friendly schemes for community
buildings or care homes that will help residents to recognise their surroundings and
engage with local services.

This is not an exhaustive list by any means, but it is indicative of how we might engage
more widely with the local community in providing better access to facilities and services in
their local area. The funding would not be available for commercial or retail outlets, or for
public buildings where the authority have their own obligations under equalities legislation.
It may be available, however, for public buildings where the management and
maintenance of the building is contracted out to a third party provider or is provided by a
community or voluntary group.
In principle the proposals must:
-

Relate to a capital project that adapts, upgrades or improves access to
Page
41 183

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
-

a premises that serves the local community;
Be made by a community or voluntary group, a community facility service provider,
a care provider, or a charitable, philanthropical or not-for-profit organisation;
Address either a physical disability or a defined mental health disability;
Be built on a sound business case;
Ideally complement existing fund-raising, grant applications or capital investment by
the applicant;
Be limited to a level of contribution commensurate with the expected local impact –
a ‘value for money’ assessment, in other words.

In looking at offering wider funding opportunities, the Council will of course ensure that
there is always sufficient funding to meet its statutory obligations to mandatory applicants.
Discretionary funding will only be available as and when the Better Care Fund allocation
for the District affords it, and no commitment to provide ongoing funding year on year can
be provided.

Page 42
184

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

APPENDIX B : HOME REPAIRS ASSISTANCE GRANT
Purpose of Home Repair Assistance
The aim of this type of assistance is to ensure that the most vulnerable householders living
in the worst conditions receive help to ensure that their homes are safe to live in. It is also
designed to help people bring an empty property back into use.
Examples of qualifying works are as follows:






General items of essential repair;
Replacement of lead water pipes;
Radon remedial works;
Energy efficiency works.
Top-up of funding where the costs associated with adaptation work exceeds the
DFG Maximum limit.

Eligibility


This is a discretionary grant and is only available subject to Capital resource
allocations in each financial year.



These grants are targeted at vulnerable people, i.e. those who are elderly, low-income
households or disabled persons. The grant can also be claimed by persons who are in
need assistance to bring an empty property back into long-term use for owneroccupation or rental.

Amount of Funding


The maximum funding that can be offered is £2,000.00 per property over a 2 year
period. Where the works are substantial in nature or will otherwise require a greater
level of funding, a determination will be made by the Head of Service as to whether
there is sufficient justification to approve a grant in excess of this amount on a case by
case basis.

Grant Conditions and Repayment


The property should be a minimum of 10 years old.



The applicant must be ‘vulnerable’ or ‘in need’ according to the definition above



The applicant must be living in the property at the time of application, or must intend
to occupy or rent out the property on completion of the funded works.



The applicant must undertake to complete the specified works (see definitions)
within 6 months of grant approval.

Page
43 185

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25


If the total value of assistance is less than £2,000, subsequent applications for
assistance for different specified works may be approved, providing the total
assistance within a 2-year period does not exceed £2,000.



In any case where the applicant, without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with a
condition requiring the completion of the specified works within a stated time, the
council will have the right to withhold payment of the assistance until the works are
completed. In such cases the Council will not be liable for the payment of any works
instigated by the applicant as a result of the grant of assistance.



Once this type of assistance has been paid there will be a requirement for the
applicant or a member of his family (see definitions) to live in the property or rent
the property out for a period of 5 years following the certified completion of the
works (the Grant Repayment Period)

Failure to comply with any of these conditions will render the grant repayable in full plus
compound interest to the date that the breach of conditions occurred.
This grant is registered as a local land charge and the conditions are binding on any
person who is for the time being an owner of the dwelling. If the property is sold on the
open market or otherwise disposed of within the grant repayment period then the full value
of the grant will be recovered from the vendor on completion of sale of the property.
However in any case where consideration is being given to any repayment the Council will
have regard to the applicant’s ability to make repayments. Any determination on
repayment will be subject to a right of appeal by the applicant against that determination.
Examples of exceptional circumstances where repayment of the grant may be waived
within the 5 year period are:
 when the person who has received the grant has to move for reasons connected
with his/her physical or mental health.
 when the person who received the grant has died, unless the property is
subsequently offered for sale on the open market.
 when the person who has received the grant has to move for employment reasons.
 when the person who has received the grant would suffer extreme financial
hardship because of repayment.

Page 44
186

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25

APPENDIX C : PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY
PART 1: HOUSING ACT 2004 – HOUSING CONDITIONS
Enforcement Guidance is given to local housing authorities in England by the Secretary of
State under section 9 of the Housing Act 2004. Councils are required to have regard to it
in exercising their duties and powers under Part 1 of the Act.
The guidance should be read in conjunction with the Housing Health and Safety Rating
System (England) Regulations 2005 (SI 2005 No. 3208) (“the Regulations”), and the
Housing Health and Safety Rating System Operating Guidance, made under section
9(1)(a) of the Act.
The housing fitness enforcement powers set out in the Housing Act 1985 (referred to
in this guidance as “the 1985 Act”), including the separate provisions for Houses in
Multiple Occupation (HMOs), have been replaced or (in the case of demolition and
clearance) modified by the system set out in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004. The system
is structured around an evidence based risk assessment procedure, the Housing Health
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS), on which local authorities must base their decisions
on the action to take to deal with poor housing conditions.
The HHSRS, and the enforcement powers available to local authorities, applies to all types
of residential premises, including HMOs, purpose built blocks of flats and buildings
comprising converted flats. Although local authorities cannot take statutory enforcement
action against themselves in respect of their own stock they will be expected to use
HHSRS to assess the condition of their stock and to ensure their housing meets the
Decent Home Standard.
Local authority duties and powers
The2004 Act gives local authorities powers to intervene where they consider housing
conditions to be unacceptable, on the basis of the impact of hazards on the health or
safety of the most vulnerable potential occupant. Before taking formal enforcement
action High Peak Borough Council will follow the principles of the Environmental Health
Service general enforcement policy.
The Act puts the Council under a general duty to take appropriate action in relation to
a category 1 hazard. Where they have a general duty to act, they must take the most
appropriate of the following courses of action:
• serve an improvement notice in accordance with section 11;
• make a prohibition order in accordance with section 20;
• serve a hazard awareness notice in accordance with section 28;
• take emergency remedial action under section 40 or make an emergency prohibition
order under section 43;
• make a demolition order under section 265 of the Housing Act 1985 as amended;
• declare a clearance area by virtue of section 289 of the 1985 Act as amended.
Authorities cannot simultaneously take more than one of these actions – for example
make a prohibition order and serve an improvement notice dealing with the same
hazard in the same premises. The authority must therefore ensure they have thoroughly
considered the most appropriate action. However, the authority can take a different
course of action, or the same course again, if the action already taken has not proved
satisfactory. Emergency measures are the exception. Emergency remedial action
followed by an improvement notice or a prohibition order is a single course of action.
Page
45 187

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
Authorities have similar powers to deal with category 2 hazards (see section 7 of the
Act). However, emergency measures cannot be used in respect of category 2 hazards,
and authorities cannot make a demolition order, or declare a clearance area in response
to a category 2 hazard unless the circumstances are such as have been prescribed in
regulations. No such Regulations have been made in England at this time.
It is for the Council to decide which course of action is the best in all the circumstances –
the ‘most satisfactory course of action’. The Council will also consider whether it would be
appropriate for them or other enforcement agencies to act under other legislation.
Reasons for decision
Section 8 of the Act places a duty on local authorities to give a statement of reasons
for their decision to take a particular course of enforcement action. This provision is
designed to meet concerns that the absence of a duty on local authorities to give
reasons might fail to comply with Article 6 of the European Convention on Human
Rights – the right to a fair hearing.
Authorities must prepare a statement of their reasons for their decision and provide
a copy of that statement to accompany the notices, copies of notices, and copies of
orders which they are required to serve under Part 1 and relevant provisions of the
1985 Act. There is no requirement for authorities to provide a copy of their inspection
report with the statement but there is nothing to prevent them from doing so if they
consider that it would be helpful.
The requirement to give a statement extends to the declaration of a clearance area.
In these cases the statement of reasons must be published as soon as possible after the
passing of the resolution declaring that the area be defined as a clearance area under
section 289 of the 1985 Act, and in such manner as the authority consider appropriate.
Enforcement Options
The Act provides authorities with a range of enforcement options to address hazards:
• improvement notices;
• prohibition orders;
• hazard awareness notices;
• emergency remedial action or emergency prohibition orders (not available for
category 2 hazards);
• demolition orders (not available for category 2 hazards);
• clearance areas (not available for category 2 hazards).
The first three enforcement options are available for both category 1 and category 2
hazards. There may be circumstances when, given similar conditions in different
dwellings, the authority might decide to respond differently to similar hazards or in
a similar way towards different types of hazard. An authority might respond to a
category 1 hazard in some dwellings by requiring works of improvement while in
another by prohibiting occupation (or by suspending action). The action authorities
choose to take must be the most appropriate course of action in relation to the hazard
in all the circumstances.

Page 46
188

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
The Council will consider the enforcement options available, and will take into account the
circumstances as described in the following table. These circumstances are for guidance
only, and the final decision will rest with the enforcement Officer.

Housing Act 2004

Circumstances whereby this Notice can
be served by the Council

Improvement Notices relating to Category 1
hazards
Section 11
Improvement Notices relating to Category 2
hazards
Section 12

Prohibition Orders relating to Category 1
hazards
Section 20
Prohibition Orders relating to Category 2
hazards
Section 21
Hazard Awareness Notice relating to
Category 1 Hazards
Section 28

Hazard Awareness Notice relating to
Category 2 hazards
Section29

When a Category 1 hazard exists on any
residential premises. The Notice may relate
to more than one Category 1 hazard.
When a category 2 hazard or hazards exists
on any residential premises, and where the
investigating officer considers that it is
severe enough to warrant the service of an
enforcement notice OR where there has
been no improvement in the condition of the
premises following service of a Hazard
Awareness Notice.
When a Category 1 or 2 hazard exists on
any residential premises, and the Officer is
satisfied that the deficiency is so serious as
to require the closure of part or all of the
premises, or to prohibit the occupation of
the property by a particular number or
description of persons.
The Council is unlikely to serve a HAN for a
Category 1 hazard. The Council will
normally serve an Improvement Notice as a
minimum in response to Category 1
hazards, unless
a. the Officer is satisfied that an
assurance has been given by the
responsible person to carry out the
specified works to remove the
Category 1 hazard and prevent a
recurrence, OR
b. Improvement or prohibition is not
practicable or reasonable.
The Council will normally serve a HAN for
Category 2 hazards where the specified
hazards are of a less serious nature, and/or
to give the person responsible for the
premises the opportunity to make
representations regarding the nature of the
deficiency or the remedial action identified.
Where the investigating officer considers
that the category 2 hazard is severe enough
to warrant the service of an enforcement
notice, and Improvement Notice under
section 12 will be served.

Page
47 189

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
Emergency Measures
Housing Act 2004
Emergency Remedial Action
Section 40

Emergency Prohibition Orders
Section 43

Circumstances whereby this action can
be taken by the Council
Where a Category 1 hazard exists on any
residential premises,
AND
The Officer is satisfied that the hazard
involves an imminent risk of serious harm to
the health or safety of the occupiers of
those or any other residential premises,
AND
No management order is in force under
Chapter 1 or 2 of Part 4 of the Act.
Action may be taken in respect of more than
one category 1 hazard on the same
premises, or in the same building containing
one or more flats.

Where a Category 1 hazard exists on any
residential premises,
AND
The Officer is satisfied that the hazard
involves an imminent risk of serious harm to
the health or safety of the occupiers of
those or any other residential premises,
AND
The Officer is of the opinion that the
premises or part(s) thereof are not suitable
for the continued occupation by those
occupiers whilst the hazard exists,
AND
No management order is in force under
Chapter 1 or 2 of Part 4 of the Act.
Action may be taken in respect of more than
one category 1 hazard on the same
premises, or in the same building containing
one or more flats.
Demolition Orders
1. When a Category 1 hazard exists in a
Section 265 Housing Act 1985 as amended dwelling house or HMO which is not a flat,
by Section 46 Housing Act 2004
AND
A management order is not in force;
OR
When a Category 1 hazard exists in one or
more of the flats in a building, or in the
common parts of a building containing one
or more flats.
2. When a Category 2 hazard exists in a
property as described above,
AND
The circumstances of the case are
circumstances specified or described in an
Order made by the Secretary of State.
Page 48
190

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
Clearance Areas
Section 289 Housing Act 1985 as amended
by Section 47 Housing Act 2004

1. When the Environmental Health Service
is satisfied that each of the residential
buildings in the proposed clearance area
contains a Category 1 hazard,
AND
That the other buildings (if any) in the area
are dangerous or harmful to the health or
safety of the inhabitants of the area;
OR
2. When the Environmental Health Service
is satisfied that the residential buildings in
the proposed area are dangerous or
harmful to the health or safety of the
inhabitants of the area as a result of their
a. bad arrangement, or
b. the narrowness or bad arrangement
of the street,
AND
That the other buildings (if any) in the area
are dangerous or harmful to the health or
safety of the inhabitants of the area,
OR
3. When the Environmental Health Service
is satisfied that each of the residential
buildings in the proposed area contains a
Category 2 hazard,
AND
That the other buildings (if any) in the area
are dangerous or harmful to the health or
safety of the inhabitants of the area,
AND
The circumstances of the case are
circumstances specified or described in an
Order made by the Secretary of State.

Full details of the Enforcement Options, and the manner in which decisions are made in
determining the most appropriate course of action in respect of the particular hazards, can
be found in the publication
‘HOUSING HEALTH AND SAFETY RATING SYSTEM – ENFORCEMENT GUIDANCE
HOUSING ACT 2004 PART 1: HOUSING CONDITIONS’
Feb 2006: Department for Communities and Local Government
ISBN 13: 978 185112 847 1
ISBN 10: 1 85112 847 6
Housing Health and Safety Rating System: Enforcement Guidance: Housing Act 2004 Part
1: Housing Conditions - Housing - Communities and Local Government
Information on the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, including the 29 Hazards
and actions in relation to Category 1 and Category 2 hazards, can be found in the
publication

Page
49 191

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
‘HOUSING HEALTH AND SAFETY RATING SYSTEM (HHSRS): GUIDANCE FOR
LANDLORDS AND PROPERTY-RELATED PROFESSIONALS’
Guidance for non-specialists, particularly private landlords, about the requirements under
the Housing Act 2004 in relation to the HHSRS.
May 2006: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and Ministry of
Housing, Communities & Local Government
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-systemguidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals

Page 50
192

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
PARTS 2 - 4 HOUSING ACT 2004
– LICENSING OF HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION
– SELECTIVE LICENSING OF RESIDENTIAL ACCOMODATION
– MANAGEMENT ORDERS
– EMPTY DWELLING MANAGEMENT ORDERS
– OVERCROWDING
Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 contains the provisions for the mandatory licensing of
certain types of houses in multiple occupation, and the discretionary licensing of other,
‘lower risk’ HMO’s. Part 3 allows for the introduction of a scheme of selective licensing for
rented accommodation in areas of low housing demand or persistent anti-social behaviour.
Part 4 includes control provisions in relation to residential accommodation, comprising
Interim and Final Management Orders for HMO’s where the local authority replace the
landlord or manager of rented accommodation, Interim and Final Empty Dwelling
Management Orders as a tool for bringing empty properties back into use as rental
accommodation, and paves the way for changes to the enforcement of overcrowding in
residential properties.
There are a number of interventions that the Council can make in the enforcement of
compliance with the above provisions, as set out in the table below;
Interventions under the Housing Act
2004 Parts 2-4
Offences in relation to the Mandatory
Licensing of HMO’s
Section 72

Circumstances whereby this intervention
can be made by the Council

Operation of an HMO without a mandatory
licence when one is required is an offence that
attracts a fine of up to £20,000. In such
circumstances the Council may;
a. Prosecute the landlord or manager
b. Serve an Interim Management Order
(see below)
Action may also be taken where a landlord or
manager of a licensed HMO fails to satisfy the
conditions of the licence without reasonable
excuse. In such circumstances the Council
may;
a. Revoke the Licence and make an
Interim Management Order
b. Prosecute the landlord or manager.
Offences in relation to the Discretionary
Operation of an HMO without a discretionary
Licensing of HMO’s
licence when one is required is an offence that
Section 95
attracts a fine of up to £20,000. In such
circumstances the Council may;
a. Prosecute the landlord or manager
b. Serve an Interim Management Order
(see below)
Action may also be taken where a landlord or
manager of a licensed HMO fails to satisfy the
conditions of the licence without reasonable
excuse. In such circumstances the Council
may;
a. Revoke the Licence and make an
Interim Management Order
Page
51 193

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
b. Prosecute the landlord or manager.
Rent Repayment Order
Section 96

Interim Management Order
Section 102

Special Interim Management Order
Section 103

Where a HMO is operating without a
mandatory or selective licence,
AND
The Council have not received notification that
steps are being taken whereby the HMO no
longer requires a licence, The Council may
make an application to the Residential
Property Tribunal (RPT) for a Rent Repayment
Order, which requires the person in receipt of
the rent for the property to repay any housing
benefit received during the period of operation
without a licence.
The Council must make an Interim
Management Order where
a. the property is a HMO or dwelling house
which is required to be licensed under
Part 2 or 3 but is not so licensed AND
they consider that EITHER there is no
reasonable prospect of it being licensed
in the near future OR the Health and
Safety Condition under section 104 is
satisfied;
b. The Property is an HMO or dwelling
house which is licensed under Part 2 or
3 AND the licence has been revoked but
the revocation has not yet come into
force AND they consider that EITHER
once the revocation is in force there is
no reasonable prospect of the house
becoming licensed in the near future OR
that once the revocation is in force the
Health and Safety Condition under
section 104 is satisfied.
The Council may make an Interim
Management Order where the property is a
HMO that is not required to be licensed under
Part 2 AND the Health and Safety Condition
under section 104 is satisfied, AND the Council
are required by the RPT to make such an
Order following an application by the Council.
Where a house, occupied under a single
tenancy or a licence, is in an area experiencing
significant and persistent anti-social behaviour
AND the landlords are failing to take action to
remedy the problem AND the health, safety or
welfare of persons occupying, visiting or in the
vicinity of the house is at risk, the Council may
apply to a RPT for a Special Interim
Management Order.

Page 52
194

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25
Final Management Order
Section 113

Interim Empty Dwelling Management
Order
Section 133

Final Empty Dwelling Management
Order
Section 136

Overcrowding Order
Section 139

The Council must make a Final Management
Order to replace an Interim Management Order
EITHER
a. on the date the house would be required
to be licensed, OR
b. if not required to be licensed, on the
date the Interim Management Order
expired,
for the purpose of protecting the health, safety
or welfare of the occupying persons.
The Council may apply to the RPT for an
Interim EDMO where it is satisfied that
a. the dwelling has been wholly
unoccupied for a period of at least 6
months, AND
b. There is no reasonable prospect that
the property will become occupied, AND
c. All reasonable efforts have been made
to contact the owner of the property,
and EITHER the owner cannot be found
or discussions on alternative means of
bringing the property back into use have
failed.
The Council may make a Final EDMO to
replace an Interim EDMO or an existing Final
EDMO where it is satisfied that;
a. the dwelling is likely to become or
remain unoccupied, AND
b. All such steps as it was appropriate to
take under the Interim or existing Final
EDMO have been taken to secure the
occupation of the dwelling, AND
c. The interests of the community and the
effects of the Order on the rights of the
proprietor and any third parties have
been taken into account.
The Council may serve an overcrowding notice
on the landlord of a HMO where it is satisfied
that an excessive number of persons is being
or is likely to be accommodated at the
premises, having regard to the number of
rooms available.

FORMAL NOTICES
All Notices served by the Council will specify




What is wrong
What is required to put it right
Why the notice has been served

Page
53 195

HPBC Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2021-25



The timescale in which to put things right (except in the case of Hazard Awareness
Notice, which does not require works to be carried out), and
What will happen if the notice is not complied with.

Where a formal notice has been served there is a right of appeal against the Council’s
decision. Notices will include an explanation of the relevant methods of appeal.
In general, were there is a failure to comply with a properly written and served statutory
notice, it is the policy of the Environmental Health Service to either;
a. issue a formal caution or
b. prosecute the individual, organisation or business served with the notice, or
c. in certain circumstances, carry out works in default of the notice to put things right
and recover it’s costs and expenses in doing so.
The decision will be made in accordance with the principles outlined in the Environmental
Health Service General Enforcement Policy. As a general rule, a formal caution will usually
be considered before making a decision to prosecute. The circumstances under which the
Council will consider default work will depend on the nature of the hazard for which the
notice is served, and the degree of risk presented by the hazard to the occupants of the
property.
FEES AND CHARGES
High Peak Borough Council may make such reasonable charges as they consider
appropriate as a means of recovering certain administrative and other reasonable
expenses incurred by them in carrying out any of the following statutory actions under the
Housing Act 2004;
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.
k.
l.
m.
n.
o.

serving an Improvement Notice under section 11 or 12
making a prohibition order under section 20 or 21
taking emergency remedial action under section 40
making an emergency prohibition order under section 43
declaring a slum clearance area under section 47
taking enforcement action for offences in relation to the licensing of HMO’s under
section 72
taking enforcement action for offences in relation to the selective licensing of
HMO’s under section 95
applying for a rent repayment order under section 96
making an interim management order under section 102
making a special interim management order under section 103
making a final management order under section 113
making an interim empty dwelling management order under section 133
making a final empty dwelling management order under section 136
serving an overcrowding order under section 139, or
processing a HMO Licence Application.

The decision to make a charge for enforcement action is at the discretion of the Council,
and the Council may waive the enforcement charges (with the exception of the HMO
Licence Fee) in an individual case after taking into account the personal circumstances of
the person served with the notice or order.

Page 54
196

Agenda Item 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 197

This page is intentionally left blank

